
 
 
 

Planning Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date: Wednesday, 10th February, 2021 
Time: 11.00 am 
Venue: Virtual Meeting – Public Access via YouTube 

https://youtube.com/bathnescouncil 
 

Agenda 
 
 

To: All Members of the Planning Committee 
 

Councillors:- Matt McCabe (Chair), Sally Davis (Vice Chair), Vic Clarke, Sue Craig, 
Lucy Hodge, Duncan Hounsell, Shaun Hughes, Eleanor Jackson, Hal MacFie and 
Manda Rigby 
Permanent Substitutes:- Councillors: Rob Appleyard, Alison Born, Gerry Curran, 
Michael Evans, Andrew Furse, Liz Hardman, Ruth Malloy, Vic Pritchard, Brian Simmons 
and Ryan Wills 
 
Chief Executive and other appropriate officers  
Press and Public  

 
 
The agenda is set out overleaf. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Marie Todd 
Democratic Services 
Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 1JG  
Telephone: 01225 394414 
Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk  
E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk 

https://youtube.com/bathnescouncil


 

 

NOTES: 
 
1. Inspection of Papers: Papers are available for inspection as follows: 
 

Council’s website: https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1 
 

2. Details of decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be 
circulated with the agenda for the next meeting. In the meantime, details can be obtained by 
contacting as above.  
 

3. Recording at Meetings 
 
The Council will broadcast the images and sounds live via YouTube 
https://youtube.com/bathnescouncil 
 
The Council may also use the images/sound recordings on its social media site or share with 
other organisations, such as broadcasters. 
 

4. Public Speaking at Meetings 
 

The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to make their views known at meetings. 
They may make a statement relevant to what the meeting has power to do. They may also 
present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a group.  
 
Advance notice is required not less than two working days before the meeting. This 
means that for Planning Committee meetings held on Wednesdays, notice must be 
received in Democratic Services by 5.00pm the previous Monday.  
 
Further details of the scheme can be found at: 
 

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12942 
 
5. Supplementary Information for Meetings 

 
Additional information and Protocols and procedures relating to meetings 
 

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13505 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://youtube.com/bathnescouncil
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12942
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13505


Planning Committee- Wednesday, 10th February, 2021 
 

at 11.00 am in the Virtual Meeting - Zoom - Public Access via YouTube 
https://www.youtube.com/bathnescouncil 

 
A G E N D A 

 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 At this point in the meeting declarations of interest are received from Members in any 
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting. Members are asked to 
indicate: 

(a) The agenda item number and site in which they have an interest to declare. 

(b) The nature of their interest. 

(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or an other interest,   
(as defined in Part 2, A and B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for Registration of 
Interests) 

Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is 
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer before the meeting 
to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting. 

3.   TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN  

4.   ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, STATEMENTS, 
PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS  

 (1) At the time of publication, no items had been submitted. 
 
(2) To note that, regarding planning applications to be considered, members of the 
public who have given the requisite notice to the Democratic Services Officer will be 
able to make a statement to the Committee immediately before their respective 
applications are considered. There will be a time limit of 3 minutes for each proposal, 
i.e. 3 minutes for the Parish and Town Councils, 3 minutes for the objectors to the 
proposal and 3 minutes for the applicant, agent and supporters. This allows a 
maximum of 9 minutes per proposal. 

5.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 5 - 54) 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 16 December 2020. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



6.   MAIN PLANS LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 
DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE (Pages 55 - 144) 

 The following applications will be considered in the morning session (from 11am): 
 

• 20/04296/VAR – Paglinch Farm, Shoscombe 

• 20/03162/FUL – Camerton and Peasedown Croquet Club, Whitebrook Lane, 
Peasedown St John 

• 20/03391/FUL – Little Pear Tree Cottage, Tadwick Lane, Tadwick, Bath 
 

The following applications will be considered in the afternoon session (from 2pm): 
 

• 20/04365/PIP – 113 Wellsway, Keynsham 

• 20/03714/LBA – 1 Cambridge Place, Widcombe Hill, Bath 

• 20/03255/FUL – Larkhall Sports Club, Charlcombe Lane, Bath 

• 20/00023/FUL – Plumb Centre, Locksbrook Road, Bath 

7.   POLICY DEVELOPMENT  

 To consider any policy development matters. 

8.   QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE REPORT - OCTOBER TO DECEMBER 2020 (Pages 
145 - 156) 

 The Committee is asked to note the quarterly performance report. 

9.   NEW PLANNING APPEALS LODGED, DECISIONS RECEIVED AND DATES OF 
FORTHCOMING HEARINGS/INQUIRIES (Pages 157 - 162) 

 The Committee is asked to note the appeals report. 

 
 

  

  

  

  

 

   

 
 
The Democratic Services Officer for this meeting is Marie Todd who can be contacted on  
01225 394414. 
 
Delegated List Web Link: http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-
control/view-and-comment-planning-applications/delegated-report 
 

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/view-and-comment-planning-applications/delegated-report
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/view-and-comment-planning-applications/delegated-report


Bath and North East 
Somerset Council 

 

 

 
1 

 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Minutes of the Meeting held 
Wednesday, 16th December, 2020, 11.00 am 

 
Councillors: Matt McCabe (Chair), Sally Davis (Vice-Chair), Vic Clarke, Sue Craig, 
Lucy Hodge, Duncan Hounsell, Shaun Hughes, Eleanor Jackson, Hal MacFie and 
Manda Rigby 

 
  
67   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS 
  
 There were no apologies for absence. 
  
68   STATEMENT BY THE CHAIR 
  
 In the interests of transparency, the Chair explained that members occasionally 

attend technical briefings from developers. These briefings are for complex 
applications, where additional factual information may be helpful. In order to protect 
members from pre-determining themselves in advance of a committee meeting, a 
number of important measures are taken: 
 

(i) A senior officer must be present at these meetings. This is to ensure that 
members have clear guidance on what is relevant to their considerations, 
and what might be described as (for want of a better expression) a sales 
pitch. The senior officer can also ensure that information that may be 
considered is also in the public domain.  

(ii) Members are required to only ask questions and not express opinions. 
(iii) Some members choose not to attend or cannot attend. 
(iv) These briefings should take place either during the public consultation period 

or before 
 
Political group spokespersons receive a briefing from officers the day before 
committee. Amongst other things, this allows officers to respond to late issues raised 
by both developers and members of the public. 
 
All members of the committee arrive at the meeting with an open mind, having 
familiarised themselves with each application. The decisions are taken in full view of 
the public and based on information that is in the public domain. The public have an 
opportunity to put their views to the committee members before a decision is made.  
 
In terms of today’s agenda, a technical briefing was held for the Homebase 
application. 

  
69   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
  
 The following members made declarations: 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



 

 
2 

 

• Cllr Matt McCabe declared an interest in planning application no. 
19/05534/FUL – Telecommunications Mast 54146, Woolley Lane, 
Charlcombe, Bath.  Cllr McCabe was co-founder of a company which was a 
potential competitor to the applicant and also held shares in that company.  
Cllr McCabe stated that he would not speak or vote on this application and 
that Cllr Sally Davis, Vice-Chair, would take the chair for this item. 
 

• Cllr Manda Rigby stated that she had been unable to attend the briefing 
regarding the Homebase item.  She was subsequently contacted by the 
developer but confirmed that she had not communicated with the developer 
regarding this application. 

  
70   TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN 
  
 There was no urgent business. 
  
71   ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, STATEMENTS, 

PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS 
  
 The Democratic Services Officer informed the meeting that there were a number of 

people wishing to make statements on planning applications and that they would be 
able to do so when these items were discussed. 

  
72   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
  
 The minutes of the meeting held on 18 November 2020 were confirmed and signed 

as a correct record. 
 
Members requested an update report regarding the enforcement matters relating to 
the site at Old Station Yard, Avon Mill Lane, Keynsham. 

  
73   SITE VISIT LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 

DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE 
  
 The Committee considered: 

 

• A report by the Head of Planning on various planning applications. 
 

• Update reports by the Head of Planning attached as Appendices 1 and 2 to 
these minutes. 
 

• Oral statements by members of the public and representatives.  A copy of the 
speakers’ list is attached as Appendix 3 to these minutes. 
 

RESOLVED that in accordance with the Committee’s delegated powers, the 
applications be determined as set out in the decisions list attached as Appendix 4 to 
these minutes. 
 
(Note: At this point Cllr Sally Davis, Vice-Chair, took the chair as Cllr Matt McCabe 
had declared an interest in the following application). 
 

Page 6



 

 
3 

 

Item No. 1 
Application No. 19/05534/FUL 
Site Location: Telecommunication Mast 54146, Woolley Lane, Charlcombe, 
Bath – Erection of 20-metre-high telecommunications monopole 
accommodating 6 antenna apertures, 4 transmission dishes and 8 ground-
based equipment cabinets. 
 
The Case Officer reported on the application and his recommendation to permit.  He 
informed the Committee that additional representations had been received regarding 
health and safety concerns but that no new issues had been raised. 
 
Two local residents and a representative from the Bath Preservation Trust spoke 
against the application. 
 
The agent spoke in favour of the application. 
 
Cllr Sarah Warren, local ward member, spoke against the application.  She 
highlighted the duty of the Committee to prevent harm.  She stated that some 
research showed that 5G can have an adverse effect on health.  Electromagnetic 
pollution could also cause environmental harm.  There was real concern from local 
residents regarding the effect of the 5G mast and she felt that the Committee should 
be cautious about approving the application. 
 
Cllr Kevin Guy, local ward member, spoke against the application.   He noted that an 
exclusion zone was required for areas with high levels of radiation.  He pointed out 
that the mast would be close to a nursery school and community hall and that it 
would be irresponsible to approve the application. 
 
The Case Officer then responded to questions as follows: 
 

• Health concerns are a material consideration, however, the NPPF guidance is 
clear on this issue.  To go against these guidelines would be going against 
national planning policy.  The applicant has submitted a certificate of 
compliance with the ICNIRP public exposure guidelines.  The key issues for 
the Committee to consider are visual impact, greenbelt policies, trees and 
ecology issues.  Any refusal on health grounds would be in clear 
contravention of planning policy. 

• The Legal Advisor explained that the NPPF is a material consideration for the 
Committee, but the weight given to material considerations is a matter for the 
Committee, as decision maker, to determine. 

• The ecologist has not objected to the application and there is no consensus 
about the effect of 5G on bat populations.  The site is currently in use for 4G 
with no evidence of any adverse effects. 

• There is no requirement for an exclusion zone to form part of the application.  
This is covered by different legislation and is not a planning consideration. 

• Alternatives have not been considered at this stage because the site is 
already in use and meets coverage requirements.  The mast would be less 
intrusive than a completely new mast in the greenbelt and so no other sites 
have been identified.  If the mast were to be used by a combination of 
operators, then it would have to be larger which would result in a bigger 
impact.  It is considered that there are very special circumstances to permit 

Page 7



 

 
4 

 

this development in the greenbelt. 

• Councillors should consider the proposal in front of them as predictions 
regarding future applications cannot be made. 

• The trees on the site are not protected, however, a condition could be 
included to retain them for a period of time if the Committee felt this was 
necessary. 

• The proposed mast would be taller than the existing mast and would be 6.5m 
high and 3.5m wide.   The additional height is in the mast head. 

 
Cllr Jackson moved the officer recommendation to permit the application.  She felt 
that the NPPF was very clear and that, despite some harm to the natural landscape, 
the public benefits of 5G are obvious. 
 
Cllr Hounsell seconded the motion stating that he was satisfied regarding the safety 
of 5G from a health perspective.  The mast would provide benefits to the rural 
business sector.  It was also sensible to use the existing site instead of identifying a 
new one. 
 
Cllr Hodge stated that local people also objected on the grounds of visual impact and 
inappropriate development in the greenbelt.  She felt that the benefits of the proposal 
did not outweigh the negative aspects. 
 
Cllr MacFie stated that he would like to see more evidence regarding precautionary 
work and would prefer the mast to be located further away from populated areas. 
 
The Deputy Head of Planning advised that, although the Committee could give 
weight to the health aspects of the application, given that the applicant has supplied 
the required certification, if it were refused on health grounds, at appeal the applicant 
would be able to demonstrate compliance with guidelines and the Council would 
need its own evidence to weigh against that, and there is none that it could provide. 
 
The motion was then put to the vote and there were 3 votes in favour and 6 votes 
against.  The motion was therefore lost. 
 
Cllr Craig then moved that the application be refused as it represented inappropriate 
development in the greenbelt as it was too large.  It also had an adverse visual 
impact on the AONB and landscape.  This was seconded by Cllr Rigby. 
 
The motion was put to the vote and it was RESOLVED by 6 votes in favour and 3 
votes against to REFUSE the application for the following reasons: 
 

• Inappropriate development in the greenbelt. 

• Visual impact on the AONB and landscape. 
 
(Note: Having declared an interest in the above application Cllr Matt McCabe did not 
speak or vote on this item). 
 
(Note: At this point Cllr Matt McCabe resumed the Chair). 
 
 
 

Page 8



 

 
5 

 

Item No. 2 
Application No. 20/00259/FUL 
Site Location: Homebase Ltd, Pines Way, Westmoreland, Bath – 
Redevelopment of the site to provide a new care community (Use Class C2) 
comprising care residences and care suites and ancillary communal, care and 
well-being facilities, offices in Use Class E(g)(i) together with associated back 
of house and service areas, pedestrian and vehicular access, car and cycle 
parking, landscaping, private amenity space and public open space. 
 
The Case Officer reported on the application and his recommendation to delegate to 
permit.  He informed the Committee that Sainsbury’s had now withdrawn their 
objections.  He also explained that a noise limit condition was now recommended 
and that any references in the report to Albert “Terrace” should read Albert 
“Crescent”. 
 
Two local residents and a representative from Bath Preservation Trust spoke against 
the application. 
 
The applicant’s representative spoke in favour of the application. 
 
Cllr Shaun Stevenson-McGall, local ward member, spoke in favour of the 
application.  He noted that the proposal was based on scientific research and aimed 
to address loneliness experienced by older people and to improve the quality of life 
for residents.  The developer has engaged with the local community and the 
proposal conforms to policy SP7.  There would be a net increase of trees on the site 
and enhancement to wildlife protection.  He felt that the development would bring 
wider public benefit along with social and economic benefits for the local area. 
 
Cllr June Player spoke against the application.  She pointed out the lack of 
affordable housing provision and the loss of 82 affordable homes on the site if the 
application were approved.  She felt that the design was too tall and too dense and 
that it would have a negative effect on residents in Albert Crescent and Norfolk 
Crescent.  She also drew attention to the comments from the statutory consultees, 
including the Conservation Officer, who had expressed concerns. 
 
Officers then responded to questions as follows: 
 

• The Bath Building Height Strategy allows for six-storey buildings on gateway 
sites and mixed-use sites subject to consideration of the impact.   

• If this were a C3 development, then 30% affordable housing would be 
required, subject to viability, but as this is a C2 development the requirement 
does not apply.  The site is allocated for certain uses and this application 
does not compromise other parts of the development. 

• The minimum age of residents would be 65 years (excluding spouses). 

• The site is an allocated site and there is an element of flood risk.  However, 
the proposed mitigation measures are considered to be acceptable. 

• It is acknowledged that there would be some impact on the residents of Albert 
Crescent. 

• There are no buildings close by that are built of brick. 

• The majority of plant would be moved to the basement to lower the height of 
the development.  Flood risk measures would be secured by condition. 

Page 9



 

 
6 

 

• The majority of plant in buildings A and B would be in the basement with 
some on the outside of the buildings.  An additional condition is 
recommended regarding noise limits.  There would be no control over when 
equipment can be used as this is a 24-hour facility. 

• There is no viability aspect that is material to this application. 

• There would be 136 parking spaces in the car park with 16 at street level.  
This would represent 0.47 spaces per dwelling and evidence shows that for 
this type of resident, car ownership tends to be lower than average.  Visitor 
parking would be available and is controlled within time limits.  An impact 
study has found this to be acceptable. 

• It was acknowledged that there will be an adverse impact on the 
southernmost dwelling in Albert Crescent.  

• Whilst it is recognised that there will be some harm to residential amenity this 
has to be balanced against the public benefit of the development. 

• Whether there is a market for this type of development is not a planning 
consideration. 

• Most of the trees on the site would be felled but these were mainly low-quality 
trees.  Quite significant replacement planting would then take place to 
compensate for this loss.  This would not constitute a reason for refusal. 

• A qualifying care assessment would be required as part of the s106 
agreement along with the necessary age requirement to become a resident.  
A minimum level of 2.5 hours of care would be provided. 

 
Cllr Jackson moved that the application be refused for the following reasons: 
 

• Unacceptable design in this location. 

• Impact on the World Heritage Site and Conservation Area. 

• Inappropriate materials. 

• Inadequate parking arrangements. 
 
She felt that the quality of design was not acceptable in this location and also had 
concerns relating to the landscaping and tree planting. 
 
Cllr Rigby seconded the motion.  Whilst she supported the idea of a guild she had 
concerns regarding the scale, size and massing of this development.  She also felt 
that the car parking provision was insufficient.  She stressed the need for affordable 
housing and had concerns that this could be lost for this part of the site. 
 
Cllr Davis stated that the application had been through a long negotiation process 
and that she supported the views of the case officer and local ward member.  The 
application was in line with planning policies. 
 
Cllr Hounsell was concerned regarding the six-storey element of the proposal and 
also felt that the application was contrary to Policy D6 relating to loss of amenity to 
residents in Albert Crescent. 
 
Cllr Hodge felt that the main issues related to the scale, height and mass of the 
proposal.  She also felt that more green space should be provided. 
 
Cllr Craig supported the principle of C2 development but had concerns regarding the 
loss of affordable housing on this site.  She felt that the design for this part of Bath 

Page 10



 

 
7 

 

should be considered in a more holistic manner.  She also expressed concerns 
regarding residential amenity relating to height, privacy and shade. 
 
Cllr MacFie drew attention to the comments from a number of the consultees and felt 
that the application was along the right lines but not acceptable in its current form.  
Height was an issue. 
 
Cllr Rigby requested that an additional reason for refusal should be added relating to 
lack of affordable housing, as the overall allocation would be lost.  This proposal was 
not accepted and therefore Cllr Rigby withdrew her seconding of the motion. 
 
Cllr Hounsell then seconded the motion to refuse as proposed by Cllr Jackson. 
 
The Deputy Head of Planning explained that the role of consultees is to give advice.  
There was nothing in the policies to prevent C2 use from coming forward for 
consideration.  There was no policy which could be used to refuse the application on 
the grounds of lack of affordable housing. 
 
The case officer agreed to provide a further explanation to the Committee regarding 
Policy SP7 and the issues raised as a general matter in the future. 
 
The motion was then put to the vote and it was RESOLVED, by 6 votes in favour, 3 
votes against and one abstention to REFUSE the application for the following 
reasons: 
 

• Inappropriate design due to scale, height, bulk and massing. 

• Inappropriate materials in this location. 

• Inadequate parking. 

• Lack of green infrastructure, loss of trees and lack of landscaping leading to 
loss of ecology. 

• Adverse effect on the amenity of local residents including overlooking and 
loss of privacy. 

• Adverse impact on the World Heritage Site. 
  
74   MAIN PLANS LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 

DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE 
  
 The Committee considered: 

 

• A report by the Head of Planning on various planning applications. 
 

• An update report by the Head of Planning on items 4 and 6 attached as 
Appendix 1 to these minutes. 
 

• Oral statements by members of the public and representatives.  A copy of the 
speakers’ list is attached as Appendix 3 to these minutes. 
 

RESOLVED that in accordance with the delegated powers, the applications be 
determined as set out in the decisions list attached as Appendix 4 to these minutes. 
 
 

Page 11



 

 
8 

 

Item Nos. 1 and 2 
Application Nos. 20/01474/FUL and 20/01475/LBA 
Site Location: 20 Avon Road, Keynsham, BS31 1LJ – Erection of 2 storey side 
extension, removal of existing door and replacement and enlargement of 
existing dormer window and new conservation roof light to rear roof slope. 
 
The Case Officer reported on the applications and her recommendation to refuse. 
 
The applicant spoke in favour of the applications. 
 
The Case Officer then responded to questions as follows: 
 

• The dwelling has a conservation roof light which is flush with the building. 

• The planning permission granted in 2005 has now expired and the NPPF 
changed in 2012.  The application must be considered under current policies. 

• There will be a new opening to create access and changes will only be made 
to external walls. 

• The applicant was aiming to create as much internal space as possible and 
this is why the window rim is so large. 

• The submitted design means that the dormer window is wider than the 
windows directly below.  The view of the Case Officer is that the dormer 
should not exceed the width of the window below and should represent the 
hierarchy of the building. 

• The modest enhancement to the building is not considered to outweigh the 
harm caused by the dormer window. 

• There would be no changes to the internal stairs. 
 
Cllr MacFie felt that the proposal would improve the property and moved that the 
Committee delegate to permit the application.  This was seconded by Cllr Rigby. 
 
Cllr Hounsell noted that personal circumstances have no bearing on the application.  
He felt that, although the proposal would improve the property overall, the size of the 
dormer window which would cause harm to the listed building. 
 
Cllr Hodge felt that the officer recommendation should be supported as the property 
is a listed building. 
 
After hearing the debate, Cllr MacFie changed his motion, with the agreement of the 
seconder, to delegate to permit the application subject to the Case Officer securing 
the required width of the dormer window and surround as set out in the report. 
 
If it was not possible to resolve the issue to the satisfaction of the Case Officer, then 
the application should be brought back to the Committee. 
 
The motion was put to the vote and it was RESOLVED unanimously to DELEGATE 
TO PERMIT the application subject to the size and design of the dormer window 
being resolved to the satisfaction of the Case Officer. 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



 

 
9 

 

Item No. 3 
Application No. 20/03006/FUL 
Site Location: 81 Hillcrest Drive, Southdown, Bath, BA2 1HE – Creation of loft 
conversion and installation of rear dormer. 
 
The Case Officer reported on the application and her recommendation to refuse. 
 
The applicant spoke in favour of the application. 
 
Cllr Paul Crossley, local ward member, spoke in favour of the application.  He stated 
that the occupants need more space and that the proposal does not constitute a loss 
of local amenity.  There is already a diversity of roofscape in this area.  The proposal 
would improve and enhance the property.  The applicant has adjusted the design 
following discussions with planning officers and he felt that this was a good design. 
 
The Case Officer then responded to questions as follows: 
 

• The proportions of the dormer window have been reduced by 1m but are still 
considered to be overly dominant. 

• The Deputy Head of Planning stated that the acceptable dimensions of the 
dormer window was a matter of planning judgement.  Considerations would 
be whether it is subservient, set into the roof, set down from the ridge line, not 
top heavy and relatively proportionate. 

• In this application the dormer window would be at the ridge line. 
 
Cllr Jackson pointed out that the size of the dormer window was larger than the other 
windows in the house.  She also noted that personal circumstances cannot be taken 
into account when considering planning applications. 
 
Cllr Craig felt that the dormer window was too large, and she moved that the 
Committee delegate to permit the application subject to finding an acceptable 
solution in line with policy.  This was seconded by Cllr MacFie. 
 
Cllr Hounsell felt that the proposal was unacceptable due to its location on the ridge 
line, lack of subservience and incongruous appearance. 
 
The Deputy Head of Planning advised the Committee that they should consider that 
application for determination as submitted rather than delegating to permit. 
 
Cllr Craig then withdrew her motion with the agreement of the seconder. 
 
Cllr Hounsell then moved the officer recommendation to refuse.   This was seconded 
by Cllr Rigby. 
 
The motion was put to the vote and it was RESOLVED by 7 votes in favour and 3 
abstentions to REFUSE the application for the reasons set out in the report. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



 

 
10 

 

Item No. 4 
Application No. 20/01794/FUL 
Site Location: Jubilee Centre, Lower Bristol Road, Twerton, Bath – Mixed-use 
redevelopment of site for storage and distribution (Class B8) and erection of 
121 units of purpose-built student accommodation (sui generis) following 
demolition of existing building and associated access and landscaping works. 
 
The Case Officer reported on the application and her recommendation to refuse. 
 
A local resident spoke against the application. 
 
The agent and prospective tenant spoke in favour of the application. 
 
Cllr Sarah Moore, local ward member, spoke against the application.   She stated 
that there was too much student accommodation in this area.  She also expressed 
concern about parking in the locality which was already difficult.  The building was 
too high, and this would represent overdevelopment of the site.  Good quality homes 
for local residents were required. 
 
The Case Officer then responded to questions as follows: 
 

• If the development were for C3 use, then this would require parking spaces.   

• There would be a 1m balustrade along the boundary with the river and this 
had been designed with safety in mind.  It would be for the landowner to 
ensure that the site was safe for tenants and residents. 

• No viability assessment has been submitted regarding the demand for student 
accommodation.  There is demand for student accommodation in Bath, 
however, this location in a flood zone is considered to be unsuitable. 

• The drainage and flooding team are asked to comment on the infrastructure 
relating to the proposed development.  However, they do not comment on 
planning policy and the sequential tests which are required.  The application 
had failed these tests. 

• The key concern relating to this proposal is the student accommodation which 
would be located within a flood zone.  The position of the most vulnerable 
users of the building is the over-riding consideration including the provision of 
safe egress. 

• The enterprise zone for the Twerton/Newbridge area allows for more flexibility 
of use. 

• A marketing report was submitted with the application and B8 use is highly 
marketable.  It was confirmed that all the required viability information has 
been received. 

• Policy B5 of the Placemaking Plan relates to the location of student 
accommodation in the city.  In this case it is considered that, on balance, the 
provision of student accommodation in this area would not harm the vision of 
the spatial strategy and so this has not been included as a reason for refusal. 

• The proposal has been reduced to 4 storeys on the advice of the 
Conservation Team and it was now considered that there would be less than 
substantial harm to the nearby listed buildings in Rackfield Place. 

 
Cllr Jackson stated that she felt there would be harm to the local character of the 
area, including listed buildings and that a tunnel effect would be created.  She 

Page 14



 

 
11 

 

moved the officer recommendation to refuse.   This was seconded by Cllr Clarke. 
 
Cllr Craig supported the work of Mercy in Action but felt that the officer 
recommendation was correct noting the risk of flooding within this building. 
 
The motion was put to the vote and it was RESOLVED unanimously to REFUSE the 
application for the reasons set out in the report. 
 
Item No. 5 
Application No. 19/05471/ERES 
Site Location: Western Riverside Development Area, Midland Road, 
Westmoreland, Bath – Approval of reserved matters pursuant to outline 
planning permission 06/01733/EOUT for the erection of 176 dwellings; 
retail/community space (Use Class A1/D1); access; parking; landscaping and 
associated infrastructure works following demolition of existing buildings and 
structures. 
 
The Case Officer reported on the application and his recommendation to permit.  He 
gave a verbal update on views which have been submitted by Historic England 
stating that they consider the revised scheme to be an improvement. 
 
The agent spoke in favour of the application. 
 
The Case Officer then responded to questions as follows: 
 

• The materials to be used are rubble stone with metal cladding.  The only 
wooden part of the structure is limited to the internal courtyard and this must 
meet the necessary safety requirements.  

• There is no particular character of buildings in this area and the industrial 
design is felt to be appropriate.  No objections have been received from local 
residents. 

• There would be no student accommodation in this part of the Western 
Riverside development.  The affordable housing aspect of the development 
was dealt with at the outline stage. 

• The schedule for building is not a planning consideration.  Work is likely to 
begin by 2024 but this is for the developer to determine. 

 
Cllr Craig stated that she liked the design but would prefer the red brick to be a 
lighter shade. 
 
Cllr Hodge stated that this development will obscure the views of open countryside 
from Victoria Park.  She then moved that consideration of the application be deferred 
pending a site visit to consider local distinctiveness and the impact of the 
development.  This was not seconded. 
 
Cllr Davis then moved the officer recommendation to permit.  She noted that there 
was still some work to be carried out regarding materials but felt that the 
development would improve the area and reflected the industrial history of the site.  
This was seconded by Cllr Jackson. 
 
Cllr Hughes did not support the use of metal cladding. 

Page 15



 

 
12 

 

 
The motion was put to the vote and it was RESOLVED by 8 votes in favour, 1 vote 
against and 1 abstention to PERMIT the application subject to the conditions set out 
in the report. 
 
Item No. 6 
Application No. 20/01765/FUL 
Site Location: Wansdyke Business Centre, Oldfield Lane, Oldfield Park, Bath – 
Erection of a 68-bed care home (Use Class C2) following demolition of the 
existing buildings and structures, with associated access, parking and 
landscaping. 
 
The Case Officer reported on the application and her recommendation to refuse. 
 
A local resident spoke against the application. 
 
The agent and a planning consultant spoke in favour of the application. 
 
Cllr Shaun Stevenson-McGall spoke in favour of the application.  He stated that the 
development would provide employment opportunities.  He noted that there had 
been no objections from the statutory consultees.  Whilst he understood concerns 
regarding loss of industrial space, he stressed the need to value the care sector and 
the jobs it would create.  He felt that the location was suitable for this type of 
development. 
 
The Case Officer then responded to questions as follows: 
 

• There are strong economic reasons for refusal.  Although the pandemic has 
changed the way people work there is still a need for this type of floor space.  
This was supported by comments from the Economic Development Team. 

• This particular use was accepted in this location.  As the units are compact 
only smaller delivery vehicles would be parking in the area. 

 
Cllr McCabe noted that the building had been run down for some time. 
 
Cllr Jackson moved the officer recommendation to refuse.  She stated that the 
industrial site should be protected, and these types of premises were needed.  A 
nursing home would create parking problems in the area.  Cllr Hughes seconded the 
motion and supported the protection of the light industrial use. 
 
Cllr Rigby stated that she was not aware of any pent-up demand for industrial use in 
this area.  She did not wish the building to remain in a run-down state. 
 
Cllr Craig noted that traffic and parking was an issue in this area. 
 
Cllr Davis highlighted the importance of providing jobs in this location and noted that 
there was not sufficient evidence to justify the loss of the current use. 
 
The motion was put to the vote and it was RESOLVED by 6 votes in favour, 2 votes 
against and 2 abstentions to REFUSE the application for the reasons set out in the 
report. 

 

Page 16



 

 
13 

 

  
75   POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
  
 There were no policy development matters. 
  
76   NEW PLANNING APPEALS LODGED, DECISIONS RECEIVED AND DATES OF 

FORTHCOMING HEARINGS/INQUIRIES 
  
 The Committee considered the appeals report.  Members requested further 

information regarding the recent successful appeal for Avon Farm, Avon Lane, 
Saltford and the reasons for the Inspector’s decision. 
 
RESOLVED to NOTE the report. 

 
 

The meeting ended at 6.56 pm  
 

Chair  

 
Date Confirmed and Signed  

 
Prepared by Democratic Services 

 
  
 

 
  

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL 
 

Planning Committee 
 

Date 16th December 2020 
 

OBSERVATIONS RECEIVED SINCE THE PREPARATION OF THE MAIN 
AGENDA 

 
ITEMS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION 
 
Item No.  Application No.  Address   
 
Site Visit 01 PM 19/05534/FUL  Telecommunication Mast,  
       Woolley Lane, Charlcombe  
 
Two additional representations have been received objecting to the proposals. 
The representations do not raise any significantly new issues that have not 
already been discussed in the committee report, but they focus on health 
concerns related to the use of 5G technology. 
 
As set out in the committee report, the position of national government as 
expressed through the NPPF on this matter is clear: 
 
116. Local planning authorities must determine applications on planning 

grounds only. They should not seek to prevent competition between 
different operators, question the need for an electronic communications 
system, or set health safeguards different from the International 
Commission guidelines for public exposure. 

 
The representations received include references to various studies which it is 
claimed provide evidence of harm arising from 5G technology. None of these 
provide evidence which is more compelling than that presented by the recent 
ICNIRP guidelines which set the health safeguards referred to in paragraph 
116 of the NPPF. 
 
The current application complies with the ICNIRP public exposure guidelines 
and is therefore not considered to pose a threat to health or safety. The 
recommendation is therefore unchanged. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



Item No.  Application No.  Address 
 
004 AM  20/01794/FUL  Jubilee Centre 

Lower Bristol Road 
Twerton 
Bath 
Bath And North East 
Somerset 
BA2 9ES 

 
 
The committee reports states on page 147 ‘This is a resubmission of a 
proposal to redevelop an industrial site on Lower Bristol Road in Bath 
currently occupied by a local charity Mercy in Action.’ This is an error; the 
proposal is not technically a resubmission. This application was formulated by 
the new site owner who instructed a completely new consultant team. Of 
course, the site history is a material planning consideration.  
 
The committee report refers to the site being in flood zone 2 and 3a. The 
agent considers the redline extent of the application site lies wholly within 
FZ2. 
 
The environment Agency stated in their comments; “Contrary to the statement 
in the FRA, while the majority of this site is in Flood Zone 2, there are parts of 
this site located in Flood Zone 3. Therefore, the site should be considered as 
a Flood Zone 3 site. This does not mean that the entire site is Flood Zone 3, 
as stated in the first sentence, we are in agreement that the majority of the 
site is in Flood Zone 2.” 
 
Then the following plan was provided with the revised flood risk assessment  
 
  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 20



The committee report correct states; The 2008 Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment (SFRA) shows the application site is entirely within Flood Zone 2 
with the edge to the riverside falling within Flood Zone 3a. 
 
However, in the following paragraphs it states; The Flood Risk Vulnerability 
and Flood Zone 'Compatibility' Table within the NPPG indicates that 'more 
vulnerable' development can be appropriate in Flood Zone 3a, provided that 
the Sequential Test and Exception Test are passed. 
 
This should be amended as follows; 
The Flood Risk Vulnerability and Flood Zone 'Compatibility' Table within the 
NPPG indicates that 'more vulnerable' development can be appropriate in 
Flood Zone 2, provided that the Sequential Test is passed.  
 
The report goes onto say; It is also considered that ruling out all sites which 
are within or partly within Flood Zone 2 fails to capture all sites which would 
be sequentially preferable to the application site. The application site is within 
Flood Zone 2 and 3a. Alternative sites which are only or partly within Flood 
Zone 2 should also be included within the area of search as these would 
represent sequentially preferable sites.  
 
This should be updated to; 
 
It is also considered that ruling out all sites which are within or partly within 
Flood Zone 2 fails to capture all sites which would be sequentially preferable 
to the application site. The application site is wholly within Flood Zone 2. 
Alternative sites which are only or partly within Flood Zone 2 should also be 
included within the area of search as these would represent sequentially 
preferable sites.  
 
A further paragraph states ‘There is no methodology included within the 
document, and it has not been made clear why many of the sites are 'not 
sequentially more suitable' when, for example, some of them sit solely within 
flood zone 2, rather than 2 and 3a like this site does.’ 
 
This should be updated to ‘There is no methodology included within the 
document, and it has not been made clear why many of the sites are 'not 
sequentially more suitable' when, for example, some of them sit partly within 
flood zone 2, rather than wholly within zone 2 like this site does.’ 
 
Additionally, mention of Flood Zone 3a has been removed from the reason for 
refusal.  
 
These alterations do not change the outcome of the recommendation.  
 
The agent has put forward a number of statements that comment on the 
procedure during the course of the application along with comments on the 
outcome of the sequential test. The officer does not consider that any of the 
statements would result in a different outcome to the sequential test, which is 
a matter of planning judgement.  

Page 21



 
Again, the agent has raised comments in respect to the contents of the 
officer’s report in regards to heritage, visual design impact, and, trees and 
green infrastructure, the s106 and the reasons for refusal. The officer has 
written a report that is propionate to the scheme and considers all material 
planning considerations have been appropriately covered. Again, this is a 
matter of planning judgement.   
 
 
 
Item No.  Application No.  Address    
 006 PM  20/01765/FUL  Wansdyke Business Centre 

Oldfield Lane 
Oldfield Park 
Bath 
Bath And North East 
Somerset 

 
 
On Friday 11 December additional information was received from the planning 
agent, including: 
 
Letter from Colston and Colston  
Letter from Knight Frank  
Copy of Adult Social Cares consultation comments  
 
The above has been added to the application file and is available for reading 
in full via the council’s website.  
 
The letter from Colston and Colston comments on the committee report, in 
particular the marketing and economic elements of the scheme, the letter 
provides arguments on these points, however no additional factual evidence 
is within the contents of the letter which would alter the officer decision to 
recommend refusal. I will not rebuke in detail but for example Colston and 
Colston state that there was demonstrably a period of marketing at the site 
between 2014-2018 and that tenants secured were poor quality. No evidence 
of marketing has been submitted with this letter, this is purely anecdotal, 
nevertheless clearly any be marketing worked and tenants were secured.  To 
reiterate, the policy requires that 12 months marketing was undertaken prior 
to the application. any marketing that did happen in 2018 was still 2, nearly 3 
years ago now.  
 
The Knight Frank report further highlights the future demand for care bed 
spaces in Bath and provides context to the methodology and position. The 
future need is not disputed, however, as the report already covers, the 
benefits of providing care bed spaces does not outweigh the harm resulting in 
the loss of vital commercial industrial space of which there is a (growing) 
shortage in the city.  
 

Page 22



Additionally, a revised roof plan, along with revised elevations AA and BB 
have been received. This is to reflect the changes to the roof form of the 
retained engineering machine room and new element replacing the drawing 
room, previously agreed and shown on elevations GG and HH.  
 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL 
 

Planning Committee 
 

16 December 2020 
 

OBSERVATIONS RECEIVED SINCE THE PREPARATION OF THE MAIN AGENDA 
  
 
ITEMS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION 
 
Item No.  Application No.  Address 
          
Site Visit 002           20/00259/FUL Former Homebase store, Pines Way, 

Bath  
 
 
Revisions are recommended to Conditions 26-28 in order to resolve issues relating to the 
phasing of construction and subsequent occupation. The recommended revised wording 
of those conditions is set out below (the reasons are unchanged):  
 
Condition 26: Electric Vehicle Charging Points  
 
No building or use hereby permitted shall be commenced until details of the total number 
of car parking spaces, the number/type/location/means of operation and a programme for 
the installation and maintenance of Electric Vehicle Charging Points and points of 
passive provision for the integration of future charging points has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Electric Vehicle Charging Points 
as approved shall be installed prior to occupation of that part of the scheme and retained 
in that form thereafter for the lifetime of the development. 
 
Condition 27: Bicycle Storage 
 
No occupation of the relevant part of the development shall commence until bicycle 
storage for at least 86 bicycles (43 stands) has been provided in accordance with details 
which have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The bicycle storage shall be retained permanently thereafter. 
 
Condition 28: Residents Welcome Pack 
 
A new resident's welcome pack shall be issued to the first occupier/purchaser of each 
residential unit of accommodation prior to first occupation of that unit. The new resident's 
welcome pack shall have previously been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority and shall include information of bus and train timetable 
information, information giving examples of fares/ticket options, information on cycle 
routes, car share, car club information etc., to encourage residents to try public transport. 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



Additional Conditions  
 
The following additional conditions are recommended alongside those set out in the main 
report (as amended above): 
 
35. Water Efficiency 
The approved dwellings shall be constructed to meet the national optional Building 
Regulations requirement for water efficiency of 110 litres per person per day.  
 
Reason:  In the interests of water efficiency in accordance with Policy SCR5 of the 
Placemaking Plan. 
 
36. Sustainable Construction 
Prior to first occupation of any part of the development hereby approved the following 
tables (as set out in the Council's Sustainable Construction Supplementary Planning 
Document, Adopted November 2018) shall be completed in respect of the completed 
development, submitted and approved in writing by to the Local Planning Authority 
together with the further documentation listed below: 
 

• Table 2.1 Energy Strategy (including detail of renewables); 

• Table 2.2 Proposals with more than one building type (if relevant); 

• Table 2.3 (Calculations); 

• Building Regulations Part L post-completion documents for renewables; 

• Building Regulations Part L post-completion documents for energy efficiency; 

• Microgeneration Certification Scheme (MCS) Certificate/s (if renewables have 
been used) 

 
Reason: To ensure that the approved development complies with Policy SCR1of the 
Placemaking Plan (renewable energy) and Policy CP2 of the Core Strategy (sustainable 
construction). 
 
 
The following late responses have been received since the publication of the main report; 
they are summarised as follows: 
 
B&NES Parks & Open Spaces: No objection (subject to the below) 
 
There will be an increase in population of 288 persons; the total demand for greenspace 
generated by this development equates to 8352m2.  The council’s Green Space Strategy 
(2015) identifies a shortfall of 3.18ha in parks & green space and a shortfall of 0.68ha in 
amenity green space in Widcombe Ward.  Elizabeth Park (on the nearby BWR 
development) which measures 0.9ha does not remove the shortfall.  
 
No publicly accessible Green Space is to be provided on site and so a financial 
contribution is required as follows: 
 

• Parks & Recreation £936 per person 
288 residents x £936 = £269,568 

 

• Natural/Amenity Greenspace £195 per person 

Page 26



288 residents x £195 = £56,160 
 
Total: £325,728 
 
These funds will be allocated to the nearby Waterspace River Park / River Line project 
 
Federation of Bath Residents’ Association: Recommend Refusal 
 
The principle of providing some care community homes here is supported. There is 
concern however regarding the heights, density and mass of the buildings as well as 
harm to the World Heritage Site. There are also concerns regarding the lack of a more 
mixed type of residential dwellings and lack of affordable homes.  
 
There is surprise that despite objections from Cllr June Player, Planning Policy, Urban 
Design, Housing and local residents’ associations there is still no provision or recognition 
of the need for affordable housing. 
 
The development does not address Policy C9 and SB7 and limits the  
development to Use Class C2 care community homes to avoid the CIL contribution? It is 
agreed that there is a need to develop this site but not at any cost and certainly not if this 
development contravenes the local authority’s ability to meet its objectively assessed 
need for affordable housing. 
 
Historic England: Concerns 
 
The changes to the height of buildings A/B are significant and other alterations attempt to 
limit the visual impact of the proposed density; these provide minor enhancements but do 
not fundamentally change the impact that the scheme will have on the surrounding 
heritage assets.  The overall height and scale of Buildings C and D and the visual density 
of the scheme as a whole will have a detrimental impact on the setting of the Grade II* 
listed buildings at Norfolk Crescent, the conservation area and the World Heritage Site. 
 
The development continues to create a visual block or ‘wall’ that limits views towards the 
green bowl surrounding Bath, part of the WHS OUV. This creates a barrier of building 
form that will impose itself upon the edge of the conservation area and within the World 
Heritage site in a negative way. 
 
Bath Preservation Trust: Objection 
 
The reduction of the development’s height by approximately 2.3-2.8m by the introduction 
of a much shallower roof pitch is an improvement however it will continue to be visually 
detrimental to its townscape setting and views into/across the WHS; this is due to its 
continued lack of contextually driven design and material texture. 
 
Scale, massing and density when viewed from Stothert Avenue and Pines Way has not 
be adequately addressed.  The development should be limited to four storeys plus a 
mansard as per the Bath Building Heights Strategy. 
 
The proposed visual improvement created by the reduced massing of Building A in order 
to “create a second viewing corridor to open up views from Bath Western 

Page 27



Riverside/Stothert Avenue to the green hillsides beyond” is not clearly shown; instead it 
appears to retain a bulky, monolithic presence. 
 
The two-storey aspect of Building A/B is an inappropriate addition which results in a 
sharp variation in height; this is without precedent. This is a lost opportunity for a more 
interesting design.  There is continued resistance 
to the incongruous use of brick and industrial-inspired design on this site with its lack of 
contextual referencing. 
 
There are an increasing number of developments coming forward in Bath with an 
excessive use of brick; particularly on schemes along Lower Bristol Road; brick is 
unsuitable in this volume in Bath and is in sharp contrast to Bath stone which is a 
fundamental aspect of the materials, substance, Georgian architecture OUV of the WHS. 
The use of brick in this scheme will contribute cumulatively to the harm to the integrity 
and harmonious appearance of the WHS.  Brick can be justified on some sites, such as 
those facing the river, but its widespread use is not justified independent of townscape 
context. 
 
There appears to be discrepancies between the proposed and superseded visual 
montages with regards to colour, particularly the western 
view of the proposed avenue between Blocks C & D in which the proposed cladding is of 
a more bronze tone than previously proposed. Colour sections should be provided and 
revisions clarified.  
 
Hillside views from Norfolk Crescent Green remain severely restricted by Buildings A and 
B.  Part of Norfolk Crescent’s (Grade II*) special architectural and historic interest is 
derived from its rural landscape views and the blending of town and countryside. The 
overall scale and density of the development will continue to result in the ‘closing in’ of 
Norfolk Crescent’s immediate setting. 
 
There is an absence of detailed VVMs taken from the Norfolk Green 
area which are required due to the high concentration of Grade II and Grade II* buildings 
here. Viewpoint 5 is from Grade II Nelson Place West rather than Norfolk Crescent, 
therefore conclusions regarding Norfolk Crescent and how it better connects with the 
hillside (as a result of the revisions) have not been evidenced.  Additional VVMs should 
be submitted. 
 
BPT is pleased to see that the revised scheme includes 253 mixed-type residential units 
alongside 35 care suites. The site however will retain a single C2 (Residential 
Institutions) residential usage which would limit the social and age range of potential 
residents (contrary to policy). 
 
It is queried why a C3 use for the proposed residential units does not 
appear to have been considered. The lack of affordable or key worker 
housing provisions is unacceptable given the scale of the development and wider need 
for affordable housing in Bath. 
 
This application is contrary to the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990, Section 8, 12, and 16 of the NPPF, and Policies B1, B4, BD1, CP6, D1, D2, D3, 

Page 28



D4, HE1, NE2, CP7, and CP10 of the Core Strategy and Placemaking Plan, and should 
be refused or withdrawn. 
 
Public Representations 
 
One additional letter of objection has been received from a resident of Albert Crescent. 
Additional concerns have been raised in respect of the impact of the development on 
Albert Crescent.  Block A is considered too big and obtrusive; it will be like facing the 
back of a fortress. The density is far greater than the adjacent Riverside development. 
Six storeys seems excessive for care facilities and there will be insufficient green space.  
Commercial requirements have been pushed beyond anything appropriate to the 
surroundings to the detriment of neighbouring residents. The impact on the Mews houses 
and the properties at the end of Albert Crescent will be wholly unreasonable. The 
development should be amended or residents compensated due to negative impact on 
property value as well as loss of light and view. 
 
Clarification Regarding Harm v Benefit Balance 
 
The main report makes reference to the ‘less than substantial’ harm caused by the 
development (to heritage assets) and the requirement for this to be weighed against any 
public benefit(s).  
 
To be clear, NPPF paragraph 193 states that, “when considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 
should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the 
greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts 
to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance”.  
 
Furthermore, as stated in the main report, “any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 
designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within 
its setting), should require clear and convincing justification” (NPPF Para 194). 
 
The NPPF goes on to state (at Para.196) that, “where a development proposal will lead 
to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where 
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use”. 
 
The proposed development will cause a degree of ‘less than substantial’ harm (as set out 
in the main report) and alongside that, will generate a number of public benefits; 
therefore, the aforementioned balancing exercise set out in NPPF Para 196 is necessary.  
It is important to note however that this not a simple balancing exercise, it must be 
approached in a manner which is consistent with the statutory obligations in Section 66 
and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  In 
undertaking the balancing exercise, the decision-maker must be mindful (and apply) the 
need to have “special regard” or “special attention” to the heritage assets as required by 
the Act.  In effect, the question to be addressed is whether there is justification for 
overring the statutory presumption in favour of preservation [of the conservation area and 
setting of the referenced listed buildings].   
 

Page 29



This approach has been followed by the case officer (indeed the statutory nature of the 
weight is referred to in the main report conclusion) but committee are reminded that this 
is correct approach and that, as with all material considerations, they must reach their 
own conclusions.  
 
Case Officer Further Clarification and Discussion 
 
The further comments received from Historic England, Bath Preservation Trust and 
FoBRA (since the publication of the main agenda) et al are noted but do not alter the 
conclusion or recommendation to permit. The comments reiterate previous concerns 
and/or are explored in the main report.  
 
The new comments received from the council’s Parks & Open Spaces Team (that a 
substantial financial contribution is required towards off-site enhancement of sports and 
recreation facilities etc) are noted. This issue, in particular the level of contribution 
requested, requires further investigation to establish whether the necessary tests for 
planning obligations have been met.  Due to the late request it has not been possible to 
do so in advance of the meeting.  
 
Accordingly, it is recommended that this matter be delegated to officers to resolve post 
committee in the event that it is resolved to grant permission.  The recommended S.106 
Agreement heads of terms are therefore amended to include a financial contribution 
towards sport/recreation/greenspace if deemed necessary, and if so at a level deemed 
necessary. 
 
Revised Recommendation 
 
DELEGATE TO PERMIT subject to the conditions set out in the main report, as 
amended and supplemented above, and subject to the prior completion of a S.106 
Agreement as set out in the main report with the addition of a financial 
contribution towards green infrastructure if deemed necessary by officers.  

Page 30



 
BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL 
 
MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND REPRESENTATIVES SPEAKING AT THE 
VIRTUAL MEETING OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE ON WEDNESDAY 16 
DECEMBER 2020 
 
 

Morning Session 
 

MAIN PLANS LIST 

ITEM 
NO. 

SITE NAME NAME FOR/AGAINST 

    

1 & 2 20 Avon Road, 
Keynsham 

Simon Perkins (Applicant) For (6 minutes) 

    

3 81 Hillcrest Drive, 
Southdown, Bath 

John Shackleton (Applicant) For 

Cllr Paul Crossley (Local Ward 
Member) 

For 

    

4 Jubilee Centre, Lower 
Bristol Road, Bath 

John Branston Against 

Chris Beaver (Agent) 
 
John Todd (Mercy in Action) 
 

For (To share 3 
minutes) 

Cllr Sarah Moore (Local Ward 
Member) 

Against 

 
  

Page 31



Afternoon Session 
 

SITE VISIT LIST 

ITEM 
NO. 

SITE NAME NAME FOR/AGAINST 

    

1 Telecommunication 
Mast 54146, Woolley 
Lane, Charlcombe, 
Bath 

Paul McLachlan 
 
David Robinson 
 
Joanna Robinson (Bath 
Preservation Trust) 
 

Against (To share 5 
minutes) 

Nick Allen (Agent) For (5 minutes) 

Cllr Sarah Warren (Local 
Ward Member) 
 
 

Against 

Cllr Kevin Guy (Local Ward 
Member) 

Against 

    

2 Homebase Ltd, Pines 
Way, Westmoreland, 
Bath 

Keith Russell 
 
Lesley Payne 
 
Caroline Kay (Bath 
Preservation Trust) 
 

Against (To share 5 
minutes) 

Andrew Maltby (on behalf of 
applicant) 

For (5 minutes) 

Cllr Shaun Stevenson-McGall 
(Local Ward Member) 

For 

Cllr June Player (Local Ward 
Member) 

Against 

    

 
  

Page 32



 
 

MAIN PLANS LIST 

ITEM 
NO. 

SITE NAME NAME FOR/AGAINST 

    

5 Western Riverside 
Development Area, 
Midland Road, Bath 

Chris Beaver (Agent) For 

    

6 Wansdyke Business 
Centre, Oldfield Lane, 
Oldfield Park, Bath 

John Branston  Against 

Patrick Marks (Agent) 
 
Colin Scragg (Planning 
Consultant) 
 

For (To share 3 
minutes) 

Cllr Shaun Stevenson-McGall 
(Local Ward Member) 

For 

    

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 34



 

BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

16th December 2020 

DECISIONS 

 

Item No:   001 

Application No: 19/05534/FUL 

Site Location: Telecommunication Mast 54146, Woolley Lane, Charlcombe, Bath 

Ward: Bathavon North  Parish: Charlcombe  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of 20 metre-high telecommunications monopole 
accommodating 6no antenna apertures, 4no transmission dishes and 
8no ground-based equipment cabinets 

Constraints: Article 4 HMO, Agricultural Land Classification, Policy B4 WHS - 
Indicative Extent, Policy CP8 Green Belt, Policy CP9 Affordable 
Housing Zones, Policy LCR5 Safeguarded existg sport & R, MOD 
Safeguarded Areas, Policy NE2 AONB, Policy NE2A Landscapes and 
the green set, Policy NE5 Ecological Networks, SSSI - Impact Risk 
Zones,  

Applicant:  Mobile Broadband Network Limited 

Expiry Date:  22nd October 2020 

Case Officer: Chris Griggs-Trevarthen 

 

DECISION  REFUSE 
 
 
 1 Green Belt 
The proposed mast has a greater impact upon openness than the existing development 
and is therefore inappropriate development in the Green Belt. Very special circumstances 
do not exist to justify the development. The proposals are therefore contrary to the 
development plan, in particular policy CP8 of the Core Strategy, and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 
 2 AONB and Landscape 
The proposed mast, due to its height, bulk, scale and appearance, would adversely impact 
upon the natural beauty of the Cotswolds AONB, local landscape character and local 
distinctiveness. The trees along the boundaries of the site are not protected and cannot be 
relied upon to adequately mitigate any adverse impact upon the landscape. The proposals 
are therefore contrary to the development plan, in particular policies CP6 of the Core 
Strategy and NE2 of the Placemaking Plan, and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
002  Site Location Plan 
215 Max Configuration Site Plan 
265 Max Configuration Elevation 

Page 35



 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework. The Local Planning 
Authority worked positively and proactively with the applicant and was able to recommend 
the application for permission. Notwithstanding this, the application was refused by the 
Planning Committee for the reasons stated on matters of planning judgement. 
 
 
 
 

Item No:   002 

Application No: 20/00259/FUL 

Site Location: Homebase Ltd, Pines Way, Westmoreland, Bath 

Ward: Oldfield Park  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Redevelopment of the site to provide a new care community (Use 
Class C2) comprising care residences and care suites and ancillary 
communal, care and well-being facilities, offices in Use Class E(g)(i) 
together with associated back of house and service areas, pedestrian 
and vehicular access, car and cycle parking, landscaping, private 
amenity space and public open space. 

Constraints: Article 4 HMO, Agricultural Land Classification, Policy B1 Bath 
Enterprise Zone, Policy B2 Central Area Strategic Policy, Policy B4 
WHS - Indicative Extent, Policy B4 WHS - Boundary, British 
Waterways Major and EIA, Contaminated Land, Policy CP9 
Affordable Housing Zones, District Heating Priority Area, HMO Stage 
1 Test Area (Stage 2 Test Req), MOD Safeguarded Areas, Policy 
NE1 Green Infrastructure Network, Placemaking Plan Allocated Sites, 
River Avon and Kennet & Avon Canal, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Senior Living Urban (Bath) Limited 

Expiry Date:  24th September 2020 

Case Officer: Chris Gomm 

 

DECISION  REFUSE 
 
 
 1 Scale Height Massing Bulk and impact of these on WHS * NEED TO CHECK - did 
committee also say impact on listed buildings and conservation area 
 
 2 Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
 3 Materials - possibly incorperate with scale and massing reason 
 
 4 Inadequate Parking in particular for staff 
 
 5 Loss of Trees and lack of Green Infrastructure 

Page 36



 
PLANS LIST: 
 
PLANS LIST 
 
The following plans/drawings are hereby approved: 
 
o A-01_001 Rev P01: EXISTING SITE LOCATION PLAN 
o A-01_100 Rev P01: EXISTING NORTH ELEVATION 
o A-01_101 Rev P01: EXISTING SOUTH ELEVATION 
o A-01_102 Rev P01: EXISTING EAST ELEVATION 
o A-01_103 Rev P01: EXISTING WEST ELEVATION 
o A-10_001 Rev P01: DEMOLITION PLAN 
o A-10_300 Rev P01: DEMOLITION - ELEVATION - NORTH AND SOUTH 
o A-10_301 Rev P01: DEMOLITION - ELEVATION - EAST 
o A-10_302 Rev P01: DEMOLITION - ELEVATION - WEST 
o A-01_002 Rev P03: PROPOSED SITE LOCATION PLAN 
o A-20_001 Rev P03: ROOF LEVEL MASTERPLAN / SITE PLAN 
o A-20_002 Rev P03: LEVEL 00 MASTERPLAN 
o A-20_003 Rev P03: LEVEL 01 MASTERPLAN 
o A-20_004 Rev P03: LEVEL 02 MASTERPLAN 
o A-20_005 Rev P03: LEVEL 03 MASTERPLAN 
o A-20_006 Rev P03: LEVEL 04 MASTERPLAN 
o A-20_007 Rev P03: LEVEL 05 MASTERPLAN 
o A-20_100 Rev P03: BUILDING A & B - LEVEL 00 
o A-20_101 Rev P03: BUILDING A & B - LEVEL 01 
o A-20_102 Rev P03: BUILDING A & B - LEVEL 02 
o A-20_103 Rev P03: BUILDING A & B - LEVEL 03 
o A-20_104 Rev P03: BUILDING A & B - LEVEL ROOF 
o A-20_107 Rev P03: BUILDING C & D - LEVEL 00 
o A-20_108 Rev P03: BUILDING C & D - LEVEL 01 
o A-20_109 Rev P03: BUILDING C & D - LEVEL 02 
o A-20_110 Rev P03: BUILDING C & D - LEVEL 03 
o A-20_111 Rev P03: BUILDING C & D - LEVEL 04 
o A-20_112 Rev P03: BUILDING C & D - LEVEL 05 
o A-20_113 Rev P03: BUILDING C & D - LEVEL ROOF 
o A-20_300 Rev P03: BUILDINGS A-B - NORTH ELEVATION & COURTYARD 
SECTION 
o A-20_301 Rev P03: BUILDINGS A-B - SOUTH ELEVATION & COURTYARD 
SECTION 
o A-20_302 Rev P03: BUILDING C - NORTH & SOUTH ELEVATIONS 
o A-20_303 Rev P03: BUILDING D - NORTH & SOUTH ELEVATIONS 
o A-20_304 Rev P03: SITE - EAST ELEVATIONS 
o A-20_305 Rev P03: SITE - WEST ELEVATIONS 
o A-20_306 Rev P03: SITE SECTIONAL ELEVATION E-E 
o A-20_307 Rev P03: SITE SECTIONAL ELEVATION F-F 
o A-20_308 Rev P03: SITE SECTIONAL ELEVATION H-H & I-I 
o A-20_310 Rev P03: CONTEXTUAL ELEVATIONS 
o A-21_300 Rev P03: TYPICAL BAY STUDY - SHEET 01 
o A-21_301 Rev P03: TYPICAL BAY STUDY - SHEET 02 

Page 37



o A-21_302 Rev P03: TYPICAL BAY STUDY - SHEET 03 
o A-21_303 Rev P03: TYPICAL BAY STUDY - SHEET 04 
o A-21_304 Rev P03: TYPICAL BAY STUDY - SHEET 05 
o A-30_100 Rev P02: TYPICAL UNIT LAYOUTS - 1 BED M4(2) & M4(3) 
o A-30_101 Rev P02: TYPICAL UNIT LAYOUTS - 2 BED M4(2) & M4(3) 
o A-30_102 Rev P02: TYPICAL UNIT LAYOUTS - 3 BED M4(2) & M4(3) 
o A-30_103 Rev P02: TYPICAL UNIT LAYOUTS - AGED CARE SUITES 
o LTS 101(08) 101 Rev C: LANDSCAPE GENERAL ARRANGEMENT PLAN 
o A-20_115 Rev P01: BUILDING A & B - BASEMENT LEVEL 
o A-20_008 Rev P01: LEVEL B1 MASTERPLAN 
 
Environmental Permitting 
 
This development may require a permit under the Environmental Permitting (England and 
Wales) Regulations 2010 from the Environment Agency for any proposed works or 
structures, in, under, over or within eight metres of the top of the bank of the River Avon, 
designated a 'main river'. This was formerly called a Flood Defence Consent. Some 
activities are also now excluded or exempt. A permit is separate to and in addition to any 
planning permission granted. Further details and guidance are available on the GOV.UK 
website: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-environmental-permits. 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. Before commencing any 
development on site you should ensure you are familiar with the CIL process. If the 
development approved by this permission is CIL liable there are requirements to assume 
liability and notify the Council before development commences, failure to comply with the 
regulations can result in surcharges and additional payments. Full details about the CIL 
Charge including, amount and process for payment will be sent out in a CIL Liability 
Notice which you will receive shortly. Further details are available here: 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 
Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 

Page 38



Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit an application to 
Discharge Conditions and pay the relevant fee via the Planning Portal at 
www.planningportal.co.uk or post to Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, 
Bath, BA1 1JG. 
 
Permit/Consent Decision Making Statement 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Submission of Samples 
 
Any samples required by condition should not be delivered to the Council's offices.  
Please can you ensure that samples are instead available for inspection on site - as soon 
as the discharge of condition application has been submitted.  If you wish to make 
alternative arrangements please contact the case officer direct and also please make this 
clear in your discharge of condition application. 
 
 
 

Item No:   01 

Application No: 20/01474/FUL 

Site Location: 20 Avon Road, Keynsham, Bristol, Bath And North East Somerset 

Ward: Keynsham East  Parish: Keynsham Town Council  LB Grade: II 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of 2 storey side extension, removal of existing door and 
replacement and enlargement of existing dormer window and new 
conservation roof light to rear roof slope. 

Constraints: Saltford Airfield 3km buffer, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Conservation 
Area, Policy CP9 Affordable Housing Zones, Housing Development 
Boundary, Listed Building, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones, Policy ST8 
Safeguarded Airport & Aerodro, Tree Preservation Order,  

Applicant:  Mr S Perkins 

Expiry Date:  11th September 2020 

Case Officer: Emily Smithers 

 

DECISION  PERMIT subject to revisions 
 
 
 
PLANS LIST: 

Page 39



 
This decision relates to the following drawings: 
 
Drawing 29/10/2020 (3)021 REV D PROPOSED DORMER SASH WINDOW
  
Revised Drawing 29/10/2020 (3)012 REV D PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN
  
Revised Drawing 29/10/2020 (3)013 REV D PROPOSED SECOND FLOOR 
PLAN  
Revised Drawing 29/10/2020 (3)015 REV D PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION  
Revised Drawing 29/10/2020 (3)016 REV D PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION 
Revised Drawing 26/08/2020 (3) 014 A PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION 
Revised Drawing 26/08/2020 (3) 011 A PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN  
Revised Drawing 26/08/2020 (3) 020 PROPOSED RAILINGS 
Drawing 18/05/2020 (3)017 PROPOSED FRONT DOOR 
Drawing 24/04/2020 (3)001 LOCATION PLAN 
Drawing 24/04/2020 (3)010 PROPOSED BASEMENT PLAN 
Drawing 24/04/2020 (3)002 SITE PLAN 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. Whilst the above application 
has been refused by the Local Planning Authority please note that CIL applies to all 
relevant planning permissions granted on or after this date. Thus any successful appeal 
against this decision may become subject to CIL. Full details are available on the 
Council's website www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework. Notwithstanding 
informal advice offered by the Local Planning Authority the submitted application was 
unacceptable for the stated reasons and the applicant was advised that the application 
was to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the applicant chose not to withdraw the 
application and having regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay the Local Planning 
Authority moved forward and issued its decision. In considering whether to prepare a 
further application the applicant's attention is drawn to the original discussion/negotiation. 
 
 
 

Item No:   02 

Application No: 20/01475/LBA 

Site Location: 20 Avon Road, Keynsham, Bristol, Bath And North East Somerset 

Ward: Keynsham East  Parish: Keynsham Town Council  LB Grade: II 

Application Type: Listed Building Consent (Alts/exts) 

Proposal: Internal and external alterations to include two storey side extension, 
removal of existing door and replacement and enlargement of existing 
dormer window and new conservation roof light to rear roof slope. 

Page 40



Constraints: Saltford Airfield 3km buffer, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Conservation 
Area, Policy CP9 Affordable Housing Zones, Housing Development 
Boundary, Listed Building, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones, Policy ST8 
Safeguarded Airport & Aerodro, Tree Preservation Order,  

Applicant:  Mr S Perkins 

Expiry Date:  11th September 2020 

Case Officer: Emily Smithers 

 

DECISION  PERMIT subject to revisions 
 
 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
This decision relates to the following drawings: 
 
Drawing 29/10/2020 (3)021 REV D PROPOSED DORMER SASH WINDOW
  
Revised Drawing 29/10/2020 (3)012 REV D PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN
  
Revised Drawing 29/10/2020 (3)013 REV D PROPOSED SECOND FLOOR 
PLAN  
Revised Drawing 29/10/2020 (3)015 REV D PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION  
Revised Drawing 29/10/2020 (3)016 REV D PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION 
Revised Drawing 26/08/2020 (3) 014 A PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION 
Revised Drawing 26/08/2020 (3) 011 A PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN  
Revised Drawing 26/08/2020 (3) 020 PROPOSED RAILINGS 
Drawing 18/05/2020 (3)017 PROPOSED FRONT DOOR 
Drawing 24/04/2020 (3)001 LOCATION PLAN 
Drawing 24/04/2020 (3)010 PROPOSED BASEMENT PLAN 
Drawing 24/04/2020 (3)002 SITE PLAN 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. Whilst the above application 
has been refused by the Local Planning Authority please note that CIL applies to all 
relevant planning permissions granted on or after this date. Thus any successful appeal 
against this decision may become subject to CIL. Full details are available on the 
Council's website www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework. Notwithstanding 
informal advice offered by the Local Planning Authority the submitted application was 
unacceptable for the stated reasons and the applicant was advised that the application 
was to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the applicant chose not to withdraw the 
application and having regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay the Local Planning 
Authority moved forward and issued its decision. In considering whether to prepare a 
further application the applicant's attention is drawn to the original discussion/negotiation. 

Page 41



 
 
 

Item No:   03 

Application No: 20/03006/FUL 

Site Location: 81 Hillcrest Drive, Southdown, Bath, Bath And North East Somerset 

Ward: Southdown  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Creation of Loft conversion and installation of rear dormer 

Constraints: Article 4 HMO, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Policy B4 WHS - Indicative 
Extent, Policy B4 WHS - Boundary, Policy CP9 Affordable Housing 
Zones, HMO Stage 1 Test Area (Stage 2 Test Req), MOD 
Safeguarded Areas, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr John Shackleton 

Expiry Date:  6th November 2020 

Case Officer: Samantha Mason 

 

DECISION  REFUSE 
 
 
 1 The proposal by reason of its design, siting, scale, and massing, is unacceptable and 
fails to respond to the local context and maintain the character and appearance of the 
surrounding area. The proposal fails to accord with policy CP6 of the adopted Core 
Strategy (2014) and policies D2 and D5 of the Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East 
Somerset (2017) and parts of the NPPF. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
This decision relates to the following plans:  
 
01 Nov 2020 0154/1-C1 D Proposed Floor And Roof Plans  
01 Nov 2020 0154/1-C2 D Construction Elevations & Section  
20 Aug 2020 0154-0100 Location Plan  
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework. Notwithstanding 
informal advice offered by the Local Planning Authority the submitted application was 
unacceptable for the stated reasons and the applicant was advised that the application 
was to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the applicant chose not to withdraw the 
application and having regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay the Local Planning 
Authority moved forward and issued its decision. In considering whether to prepare a 
further application the applicant's attention is drawn to the original discussion/negotiation. 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. Whilst the above application 

Page 42



has been refused by the Local Planning Authority please note that CIL applies to all 
relevant planning permissions granted on or after this date. Thus any successful appeal 
against this decision may become subject to CIL. Full details are available on the 
Council's website www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 
 
 

Item No:   04 

Application No: 20/01794/FUL 

Site Location: Jubilee Centre, Lower Bristol Road, Twerton, Bath 

Ward: Twerton  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Mixed-use redevelopment of site for storage and distribution (Class 
B8) and erection of 121 units of purpose-built student accommodation 
(sui generis) following demolition of existing building and associated 
access and landscaping works. 

Constraints: Article 4 Bath Demolition Wall, Article 4 Reg 7: Estate Agent, Article 4 
HMO, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Policy B1 Bath Enterprise Zone, 
Policy B3 Twerton and Newbridge Riversid, Policy B4 WHS - 
Indicative Extent, Policy B4 WHS - Boundary, British Waterways 
Major and EIA, Conservation Area, Policy CP9 Affordable Housing 
Zones, Flood Zone 2, Flood Zone 3, Policy LCR5 Safeguarded existg 
sport & R, LLFA - Flood Risk Management, MOD Safeguarded Areas, 
Policy NE1 Green Infrastructure Network, Policy NE2A Landscapes 
and the green set, Policy NE3 SNCI, Policy NE5 Ecological Networks, 
River Avon and Kennet & Avon Canal, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Toplocation 4 Ltd & Longacre 

Expiry Date:  16th December 2020 

Case Officer: Samantha Mason 

 

DECISION  REFUSE 
 
 
 1 The proposed development includes 'more vulnerable' use, which would be located 
within Flood Risk Zone 2. The area of search criteria has not been agreed, and it has not 
been satisfactorily demonstrated that there are no sequentially preferable sites which are 
reasonably available for the proposed development in areas with a lower probability of 
flooding. The proposed development therefore fails the Sequential Test and is contrary to 
policy CP5 of Bath and North East Somerset Council Core Strategy and Placemaking 
Plan (July 2017) and Paragraph 158 of the NPPF (2019) 
 
 2 The proposed scheme by reason of its bulk, height and design would lead to harm 
being caused to local character, the setting of the listed building and the wider character of 
the conservation area, and World Heritage Site. This would materially conflict with the 
Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan policies D6, HE1 and H3 and the NPPF 
(2019) 
 

Page 43



 3 The proposed scheme fails to demonstrate that opportunities have been maximised to 
design Green Infrastructure (GI) into the proposed development, or that the scheme 
makes a positive contribution to the GI network through the creation, enhancement and 
management of new, and existing GI assets. The proposal also fails to provide space 
available for planting or practical tree retention. As such, the application is in conflict with 
Policies NE1 and NE6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan (July 
2017). 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 
 
 

Item No:   05 

Application No: 19/05471/ERES 

Site Location: Western Riverside Development Area, Midland Road, Westmoreland, 
Bath 

Ward: Kingsmead  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Reserved Matters App with an EIA 

Proposal: Approval of reserved matters pursuant to outline planning permission 
06/01733/EOUT for the erection of 176 dwellings; retail / community 
space (Use Class A1/D1); access; parking; landscaping and 
associated infrastructure works following demolition of existing 
buildings and structures. 

Constraints: Article 4 Bath Demolition Wall, Article 4 Reg 7: Estate Agent, Article 4 
HMO, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Air Quality Management Area, Policy 
B1 Bath Enterprise Zone, Policy B4 WHS - Indicative Extent, Policy 
B4 WHS - Indicative Extent, Policy B4 WHS - Boundary, Policy B4 
WHS - Boundary, Conservation Area, Contaminated Land, Policy 
CP9 Affordable Housing Zones, District Heating Priority Area, Flood 
Zone 2, Flood Zone 3, HMO Stage 1 Test Area (Stage 2 Test Req), 
Policy LCR5 Safeguarded existg sport & R, LLFA - Flood Risk 
Management, MOD Safeguarded Areas, Policy NE1 Green 
Infrastructure Network, Policy NE2A Landscapes and the green set, 
Policy NE3 SNCI, Policy NE5 Ecological Networks, Placemaking Plan 
Allocated Sites, River Avon and Kennet & Avon Canal, SSSI - Impact 
Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Aequus Construction Ltd. 

Expiry Date:  18th December 2020 

Case Officer: Chris Griggs-Trevarthen 

 

DECISION  PERMIT 
 
 
 1 Stage 2 Road Safety Audit (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until a brief for an independent Stage 2 Road Safety 
Audit (in accordance with GG119) of the detailed design has been submitted to and 

Page 44



approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The brief shall include the CV of the 
Audit Team Leader and Audit Team Member.  
 
No development shall commence until the independent Stage 2 Road Safety Audit has 
been undertaken in accordance with the approved brief and the results submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. A representative of the Local 
Highways Authority shall be present at the Stage 2 Road Safety Audit site visit as an 
observer. 
 
Reason: In the interest of highways safety in accordance with policy ST7 of the 
Placemaking Plan. This is a pre-commencement condition because the stage 2 road 
safety audit must be undertaken at the detailed design stage. If development were to 
commence prior to the audit being undertaken it may prejudice its outcomes. 
 
 2 Wildlife Protection and Enhancement Scheme (Pre-Commencement) 
No development shall take place until full details of a Wildlife Protection and Enhancement 
Scheme, consistent with the recommendations in Section 4.19-4.40 of the approved 
Ecological Assessment report (Tyler Grange, December 2019), have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. These details shall include:  
  
 (a) A Construction Ecological Management Plan including a location plan and 
specification for fencing of exclusion zones to protect habitats including the adjacent 
SNCI, method statements for all necessary measures to avoid or reduce ecological 
impacts during site clearance and construction, findings of update surveys or pre-
commencement checks of the site and details of involvement by an ecological clerk of 
works;  
 
(b) Full and final details of proposed bat mitigation and enhancement measures (which 
may if desired take the form of a European protected species license application method 
statement), or, a copy of a European Protected Species licence showing that a licence 
has already been granted, together with details of any additions or minor revisions to the 
Bat Mitigation and compensation measures described in the approved report;  
  
 (c) Detailed specification and location plan detailing ecological compensation and 
enhancement measures including native and wildlife-friendly planting, provision of bat 
roosting features and/or bird boxes and provision of gaps in boundary features to allow 
continued movement of wildlife.  
 
All such measures and features shall be retained and maintained thereafter for the 
purposes of providing wildlife habitat. All works within the scheme shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of the development.  
 
 Reason: To prevent ecological harm and to provide biodiversity gain in accordance 
with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), National Planning Policy Framework 
and policy NE3 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan. The above 
condition is required to be pre-commencement as it involves approval of measures to 
ensure protection of wildlife that would be otherwise harmed during site preparation and 
construction phases. Integrated enhancement measures also need to be specified before 
construction. 

Page 45



 
 3 Arboricultural Method Statement (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall take place until an arboricultural method statement with tree 
protection plan following the recommendations contained within BS 5837:2012 identifying 
measures to protect the trees to be retained, has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The statement shall include proposed tree 
protection measures during site preparation (including demolition, clearance and level 
changes), during construction and landscaping operations. The statement should also 
include the control of potentially harmful operations such as the position of service runs 
and soakaways, storage, handling and mixing of materials on site, burning, location of site 
office and movement of people and machinery. 
 
Reason: To ensure that no excavation, tipping, burning, storing of materials or any other 
activity takes place which would adversely affect the trees to be retained in accordance 
with policy NE.6 of the Placemaking Plan. This is a condition precedent because the 
works comprising the development have the potential to harm retained trees. Therefore 
these details need to be agreed before work commences. 
 
 4 Materials - Submission of Materials Schedule (Bespoke Trigger) 
No construction of the external walls of the development shall commence until a schedule 
of materials and finishes to be used in the construction of the external surfaces, including 
roofs, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
schedule shall include: 
 
1. Detailed specification of the proposed materials (Type, size, colour, brand, quarry 
location, etc.); 
2. Photographs of all of the proposed materials; 
3. An annotated drawing showing the parts of the development using each material.  
 
Samples or a sample panel of any of the materials in the submitted schedule shall be 
made available at the request of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with policies D1, D2, D3 and D5 of the Bath and North East Somerset 
Placemaking Plan and policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
 5 Stage 3 Road Safety Audit (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of any part of the approved development shall commence until a brief for 
an independent Stage 3 Road Safety Audit (in accordance with GG119) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The brief shall 
include the CV of the Audit Team Leader and Audit Team Member.  
 
No occupation of any part of the approved development shall commence until the 
independent Stage 3 Road Safety Audit has been undertaken in accordance with the 
approved brief and the results submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. A representative of the Local Highways Authority and Avon and Somerset police 
shall be invited to attend the daytime and night-time Stage 3 Road Safety Audit site visits. 
 

Page 46



Reason: In the interest of highways safety in accordance with policy ST7 of the 
Placemaking Plan. 
 
 6 Indoor acoustic insulation (Pre-occupation) 
On completion of the works, but prior to any occupation of the approved development, the 
applicant shall submit to and have approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, an 
assessment from a competent person to demonstrate that the development has been 
constructed to provide sound attenuation against external noise in accordance with 
BS8233:2014. The following levels shall be achieved:  
 
1. Maximum internal noise levels of 35dBLAeq, 16hr and 30dBLAeq, 8hr for living 
rooms and bedrooms during the daytime and night time respectively.  
2. For bedrooms at night individual noise events (measured with F time weighting) 
shall not (normally) exceed 45dBLAmax. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the occupiers of the proposed development are protected from 
excessive external noise and disturbance in accordance with policy PCS2 of the 
Placemaking Plan. 
 
 7 Arboricultural Compliance (Pre-occupation) 
No development or other operations shall take place except in complete accordance with 
the approved Arboricultural Method Statement. A signed certificate of compliance with the 
statement for the duration of the development shall be provided by the appointed 
arboriculturalist to the local planning authority within 28 days of completion and prior to the 
first occupation. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the approved method statement is complied with for the duration 
of the development to protect the trees to be retained in accordance with policy NE.6 of 
the 
Placemaking Plan. 
 
 8 Ecological Compliance Report (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the development hereby approved shall commence until a report 
produced by a suitably experienced ecologist confirming and demonstrating, using 
photographs, completion and implementation of the Wildlife Protection and Enhancement 
Scheme in accordance with approved details, has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall include:  
 
 (a) Confirmation that ecological avoidance and mitigation measures including 
measures to protect the adjacent River Avon Site of Nature Conservation Interest, bats 
and nesting birds have been followed;  
  
 (b) Evidence that a Natural England bat mitigation licence was in place before 
works proceeded, including details of the agreed method statement;  
 
 (c) Confirmation that proposed measures to enhance the value of the site for 
wildlife and provide biodiversity gain have been implemented including native and wildlife-
friendly planting, hedgehog connectivity measures and provision of bat and bird boxes, 
with specifications, numbers and positions to be shown on plans and photographic 
evidence to be provided; and  

Page 47



 
 (d) A specification for ongoing management, monitoring and maintenance of 
retained and created habitats.  
 
All measures within the scheme shall be retained, monitored and maintained in 
accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To demonstrate the completed implementation of ecological mitigation and 
enhancement measures, to prevent ecological harm and to provide biodiversity gain in 
accordance with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended), the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) the NPPF and policies 
NE3, NE5 and D5e of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan.  
 
 9 Residents Welcome Pack (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the approved development shall commence until a new resident's 
welcome pack has been issued to the first occupier/purchaser of each residential unit of 
accommodation.  The new resident's welcome pack shall have previously been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall include information of 
bus and train timetable information, information giving examples of fares/ticket options, 
information on cycle routes, a copy of the Travel Smarter publication, car share, car club 
information etc., to encourage residents to try public transport. Please follow this link 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/smarter-choices-main-report-about-changing-
the-way-we-travel 
 
Reason: To encourage the use of public transport in the interests of sustainable 
development in accordance with Policy ST1 of the Bath and North East Somerset 
Placemaking Plan. 
 
10 Sustainable Construction (Pre-occupation) 
Prior to first occupation of any part of the development hereby approved the following 
tables (as set out in the Council's Sustainable Construction Supplementary Planning 
Document, Adopted November 2018) shall be completed in respect of the completed 
development, submitted and approved in writing by to the Local Planning Authority 
together with the further documentation listed below: 
 
o Table 2.1 Energy Strategy (including detail of renewables); 
o Table 2.2 Proposals with more than one building type (if relevant); 
o Table 2.3 (Calculations); 
o Building Regulations Part L post-completion documents for renewables; 
o Building Regulations Part L post-completion documents for energy efficiency; 
o Microgeneration Certification Scheme (MCS) Certificate/s (if renewables have been 
used) 
 
 
Reason: To ensure that the approved development complies with Policy SCR1of the 
Placemaking Plan (renewable energy) and Policy CP2 of the Core Strategy (sustainable 
construction). 
 
11 Internal and External Lighting (Bespoke Trigger) 

Page 48



Light proposals shall be implemented in accordance with the approved Lighting Scheme 
and Assessment (e3 Consulting Engineers, January 2020). If any revisions to internal or 
external lighting schemes are required, full details of the proposed lighting design shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before installation. 
These details shall include:  
 
1. Lamp models and manufacturer's specifications, positions, numbers and heights;  
2. Predicted lux levels and light spill; and  
3. Measures to limit use of lights when not required, to prevent upward light spill and to 
prevent light spill onto nearby vegetation and adjacent land.  
 
The lighting shall be installed and operated thereafter in accordance with the approved 
details.  
 
Reason: To avoid harm to bats and wildlife in accordance with policy CP6 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Core Strategy and policies NE3 and D8 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Placemaking Plan.  
 
12 Dwelling Access (Compliance) 
Each dwelling shall not be occupied until it is served by a properly bound and compacted 
footpath and carriageway to at least base course level between the dwelling and the 
existing adopted highway.   
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is served by an adequate means of access in 
accordance with policy ST7 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan. 
 
13 Water Efficiency (Compliance) 
The approved dwellings shall be constructed to meet the national optional Building 
Regulations requirement for water efficiency of 110 litres per person per day.  
 
Reason:  In the interests of water efficiency in accordance with Policy SCR5 of the 
Placemaking Plan. 
 
14 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
153199-STL-XX-XX-DR-L-09146 PL10  REVISED PLANTING SCHEDULE 
153199-STL-AA-ZZ-DR-A-01101 PL02  BLOCK A GA PLANS & ELEVATIONS 
153199-STL-BB-ZZ-DR-A-01102 PL02  BLOCK B GA PLANS & ELEVATIONS  
153199-STL-CC-ZZ-DR-A-01103 PL02  BLOCK C GA PLANS & ELEVATIONS 
153199-STL-DD-ZZ-DR-A-01104 PL02  BLOCK D GA PLANS & ELEVATIONS 
153199-STL-EE-ZZ-DR-A-01105 PL02  BLOCK E GA PLANS & ELEVATIONS 
153199-STL-FF-ZZ-DR-A-01106 PL02  BLOCK F GA PLANS & ELEVATIONS 
153199-STL-GG-ZZ-DR-A-01107 PL02  BLOCK G GA PLANS & ELEVATIONS 
153199-STL-HH-ZZ-DR-A-01108 PL02  BLOCK H GA PLANS & ELEVATIONS 

Page 49



153199-STL-XX-00_DR-A-09200 PL02  UPPER SITE PLAN - LEVEL 00  
153199-STL-XX-01-DR-A-09101 PL02  LOWER SITE PLAN - LEVEL 01 
153199-STL-XX-02-DR-A-09102 PL02  LOWER SITE PLAN - LEVEL 02  
153199-STL-XX-02-DR-A-09202 PL02  UPPER SITE PLAN - LEVEL 02  
153199-STL-XX-03-DR-A-09103 PL02  LOWER SITE PLAN - LEVEL 03 
153199-STL-XX-04-DR-A-09104 PL02  LOWER SITE PLAN - LEVEL 04  
153199-STL-XX-B1-DR-A-01B01 PL02  BASEMENT CAR PARK PLAN  
153199-STL-XX-OO-DR-A-09001 PL02  COMBINED GROUND LEVEL SITE PLAN  
153199-STL-XX-OO-DR-A-09100 PL02  LOWER SITE PLAN - LEVEL 00  
153199-STL-XX-XX-DR-L-09000 PL08  LANDSCAPE GENERAL ARRANGEMENT  
153199-STL-XX-XX-DR-L-09100 PL06  LANDSCAPE MASTERPLAN  
153199-STL-XX-XX-DR-L-09141 PL08  SOFT LANDSCAPE WORKS PLAN 1 OF 5  
153199-STL-XX-XX-DR-L-09142 PL08  SOFT LANDSCAPE WORKS PLAN 2 OF 5  
153199-STL-XX-ZZ-DR-A-00003 PL02  PROPOSED BLOCK PLAN IN CONTEXT  
153199-STL-XX-ZZ-DR-A-02101 PL02  CONTEXT ELEVATIONS 01  
153199-STL-XX-ZZ-DR-A-02102 PL02  CONTEXT ELEVATIONS 02  
153199-STL-XX-ZZ-DR-A-02103 PL02  CONTEXT ELEVATIONS 03  
153199-STL-XX-ZZ-DR-A-02104 PL02  CONTEXT ELEVATIONS 04  
153199-STL-XX-ZZ-DR-A-02105 PL02  CONTEXT ELEVATIONS 05  
153199-STL-XX-ZZ-DR-A-02106 PL02  CONTEXT ELEVATIONS 06  
153199-STL-XX-ZZ-DR-A-05001 PL02  UNIT TYPE AREA PLANS  
153199-STL-XX-ZZ-DR-A-09000 PL02  SITE PLAN - ROOF PLAN  
153199-STL-XX-ZZ-DR-A-ZZZZ-04001 PL02  DETAILED ELEVATIONS 01  
153199-STL-XX-ZZ-DR-A-ZZZZ-04002 PL02  DETAILED ELEVATIONS 02  
153199-STL-XX-ZZ-DR-L-09180 PL08  BOUNDARY TREATMENT PLAN  
153199-STL-XX-ZZ-DR-A-00001 PL02  PLANNING RED LINE PLAN  
153199-STL-XX-XX-DR-L-09143 PL_P01  SOFT LANDSCAPE WORKS PLAN 3 OF 
5  
153199-STL-XX-XX-DR-L-09144 PL_PL01  SOFT LANDSCAPE WORKS PLAN 4 OF 
5  
153199-STL-XX-XX-DR-L-09145   SOFT LANDSCAPE WORKS PLAN 5 OF 5  
153199-STL-XX-XX-DR-L-09300 PL01  SITE SECTIONS 1 OF 2 
153199-STL-XX-XX-DR-L-09301 PL01  SITE SECTIONS 2 OF 2  
153199-STL-XX-XX-DR-L-09410   SMALL TREE PIT IN SOFT  
153199-STL-XX-XX-DR-L-09411 PL01  TREE PIT IN SOFT 
153199-STL-XX-XX-DR-L-09420 PL01  TREE PIT IN HARD 
153199-STL-XX-XX-DR-L-09430 PL01  TREE PIT IN HARD SURFACE ON PODIUM 
DETAIL 
153199-STL-XX-XX-DR-L-09460 PL01  RECYCLING ENCLOSURE DETAIL 
153199-STL-XX-ZZ-DR-A-ZZ-D1001 PL01  DEMOLITION PLAN  
153199-STL-XX-XX-DR-L-SP901 PL01  LANDSCAPE MATERIAL SHEET FOR SOFT 
LANDSCAPE TREES 
153199-STL-XX-XX-DR-L-SP902   LANDSCAPE MATERIAL SHEET FOR 
HARD LANDSCAPE AND FURNITURE 
153199-STL-XX-ZZ-DR-A-0002 PL01    BLOCK PLAN COMPARISON   
 
Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 

Page 50



Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit an application to 
Discharge Conditions and pay the relevant fee via the Planning Portal at 
www.planningportal.co.uk or post to Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, 
Bath, BA1 1JG. 
 
Permit/Consent Decision Making Statement 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Outline Planning Permission 
 
The applicant is reminded that the development hereby approved is subject to all relevant 
conditions attached to the outline planning permission (ref: 06/01733/EOUT) including 
several pre-commencement conditions and an arsenal condition requiring the land to be 
bound by a s106 agreement. 
 
Public Rights of Way 
There must be no effect to the surface, line or width of public footpath BCRIV/1 during or 
after construction works. 
 
If the proposed works require a temporary closure of the footpath to facilitate 
development, please find full details of the process involved on the Council's website at: 
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/streets-and-highway-maintenance/public-
rightsway/public-path-orders/temporary-path 
 
Please contact Cheryl Hannan of the Public Rights of Way Team on 01225 477623 prior 
to any works commencing on or near the footpath. 
 
Canal and River Trust 

Page 51



Any new access points to the towpath will require an agreement from the Canal and River 
Trust. The applicant is advised to contact David Faull, Principal Estates Surveyor on 
07824 561677 or by email to David.faull@canalrivertrust.org.uk 
 
Any alterations to the existing drainage outfall, whether it is to be removed or replaced 
should be discussed further with the Canal and River Trust. The applicant is advised to 
contact Jacquie Watt, Utilities Surveyor on 07584335885 or 01926 626158 or by email to 
Jacquie.Watt@canalrivertrust.org.uk. 
 
Due to the proximity of the development to the Canal towpath the applicant should comply 
with the Trust's Code of Practice for works affecting the Canal and River Trust to ensure 
that the works do not adversely affect the canal towpath. The applicant is advised to 
contact Phil J White, Works Engineer on 07710 175496 or by email at 
PhilJ.white@canalrivertrust.org.uk. 
 
Environmental Permitting Regulations 
This development may require an Environmental Permit from the Environment Agency 
under the terms of the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) (Amendment) (No. 
2) Regulations 2016 for any proposed works or structures, in, under, over or within 8 
metres of the top of the bank of designated 'main rivers'. This was formerly called a Flood 
Defence Consent. Some activities are also now excluded or exempt. An environmental 
permit is in addition to and a separate process from obtaining planning permission. 
Further details and guidance are available on the GOV.UK website: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-environmental-permits 
 
BATH & NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL 
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 
THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT) 
REGULATIONS 2017 
REGULATION 30 STATEMENT 
APPLICATION REF: 19/05471/ERES 
DEVELOPMENT PERMITTED: Approval of reserved matters pursuant to outline planning 
permission 06/01733/EOUT for the erection of 176 dwellings; retail / community space 
(Use Class A1/D1); access; parking; landscaping and associated infrastructure works 
following demolition of existing buildings and structures. 
RESERVED MATTERS APPROVAL DECISION ISSUED ON: 17th December 2020 
 
This statement is made pursuant to Regulation 30(1)(c) of The Town and County Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 and contains- 
(i) details of the matters referred to in regulation 29(2); 
(ii) the main reasons and considerations on which the decision is based including, if 
relevant, information about the participation of the public; and 
(iii) a summary of the results of the consultations undertaken, and information gathered, in 
respect of the application and how those results (in particular, in circumstances where 
regulation 58 applies, the comments received from an EEA State pursuant to consultation 
under that regulation) have been incorporated or otherwise addressed 
 
(i) This decision can be challenged by way of bringing a claim in judicial review. Any 
person wishing to do so must bring a claim within six weeks of the date of the decision 
notice. 

Page 52



This statement is made available for public inspection at the place where the planning 
register is kept. 
The proposals have been the subject of an Environmental Impact Assessment at Outline 
application stage (ref. 06/01733/EOUT) and reconsidered as part of the current 
application. The following subject areas were assessed: Townscape and Visual Amenity; 
Cultural Heritage, Transportation, Ecology and Noise and Vibration. Subject to the 
mitigation measures secured, it was considered that the proposals will not have any 
greater impact than the when considered at outline planning permission stage. 
 
The application was considered under by the Planning Committee on 16th December 
2020 where it was resolved to approve the Reserved Matters in respect of Layout, Scale, 
Appearance and Landscaping with conditions. A copy of the decision notice (ref. 
19/05471/ERES) is attached to this statement. 
 
(ii) Following consideration of the submitted environmental information the application for 
approval of Reserved Matters was permitted. The full extent of the considerations, 
including representations from members of the public and external organisations are set 
out in the Officer report dated 9th December 2020 which is available to view on the 
Council's website: www.bathnes.gov.uk. 
 
(iii) A summary of the consultation responses received and considered and the information 
gathered is provided with the Officer report referred to above. The Officer report sets out 
how these comments have been incorporated into the proposal or otherwise addressed. 
 
 
 

Item No:   06 

Application No: 20/01765/FUL 

Site Location: Wansdyke Business Centre, Oldfield Lane, Oldfield Park, Bath 

Ward: Oldfield Park  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of a 68-bed care home (Use Class C2) following demolition 
of the existing buildings and structures, with associated access, 
parking and landscaping. 

Constraints: Article 4 HMO, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Policy B4 WHS - Indicative 
Extent, Policy B4 WHS - Boundary, Policy CP9 Affordable Housing 
Zones, HMO Stage 1 Test Area (Stage 2 Test Req), Policy LCR5 
Safeguarded existg sport & R, LLFA - Flood Risk Management, MOD 
Safeguarded Areas, Policy NE1 Green Infrastructure Network, Policy 
NE3 SAC and SPA, Policy NE3 SNCI, Policy NE5 Ecological 
Networks, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Barchester Health Care Ltd 

Expiry Date:  17th December 2020 

Case Officer: Samantha Mason 

 

DECISION  REFUSE 
 

Page 53



 
 1 The proposal results in the loss of industrial floor space. There are strong economic 
reasons demonstrating the loss of this site would be inappropriate, furthermore, no 
evidence/ report of a 12-month marketing period has been undertaken to evidence a lack 
of demand for the premises as required by policy. Therefore, this proposal for the loss of 
this industrial site that would further restrict the supply of B1c, B2 or B8 accommodation in 
Bath is not supported in principle and is considered contrary to Policies B1 and ED2B of 
the Core Strategy and Placemaking Plan. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
This decision relates to the following plans:  
 
22 May 2020 Drainage Strategy Plan  
22 May 2020 Tree Protection Plan  
22 May 2020 01001 A Site Plan  
22 May 02001 Proposed Ground Floor Plan  
22 May 2020 02003 Proposed Second Floor Plan 
08 Oct 2020 Site Plan with Blue Line  
08 Oct 2020 02002 P3 Proposed First Floor Plan  
08 Oct 2020 03003 P3 Proposed Section EE And Elevation FF  
21 Jul 2020 001 D Proposed Landscape Strategy Plan  
05 Nov 2020 03004 P4 Proposed Section GG and Elevation HH  
14 Dec 2020 02004-P5 Roof Plan  
14 Dec 2020 03001-P4 Proposed Section AA and Elevation BB 
14 Dec 2020 03002-P3 Proposed Section DD And Elevation CC 
22 May 2020 01002 Location Plan  
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework. Notwithstanding 
informal advice offered by the Local Planning Authority the submitted application was 
unacceptable for the stated reasons and the applicant was advised that the application 
was to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the applicant chose not to withdraw the 
application and having regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay the Local Planning 
Authority moved forward and issued its decision. In considering whether to prepare a 
further application the applicant's attention is drawn to the original discussion/negotiation. 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. Whilst the above application 
has been refused by the Local Planning Authority please note that CIL applies to all 
relevant planning permissions granted on or after this date. Thus any successful appeal 
against this decision may become subject to CIL. Full details are available on the 
Council's website www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 
 
 

Page 54



Bath & North East Somerset Council 

MEETING: Planning Committee   

AGENDA 
ITEM 
NUMBER 

MEETING 
DATE: 

10th February 2021 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

Simon de Beer – Head of Planning  

TITLE: APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION  

WARDS: ALL 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

List of background papers relating to this report of the Head of Planning about applications/proposals for Planning Permission etc.  The 
papers are available for inspection online at http://planning.bathnes.gov.uk/PublicAccess/. 

[1] Application forms, letters or other consultation documents, certificates, notices, correspondence and all drawings submitted by 
and/or on behalf of applicants, Government Departments, agencies or Bath and North East Somerset Council in connection 
with each application/proposal referred to in this Report. 

[2] Department work sheets relating to each application/proposal as above. 

[3] Responses on the application/proposals as above and any subsequent relevant correspondence from: 

(i) Sections and officers of the Council, including: 

Building Control 
Environmental Services 
Transport Development 
Planning Policy, Environment and Projects, Urban Design (Sustainability) 
 

(ii) The Environment Agency 
(iii) Wessex Water 
(iv) Bristol Water 
(v) Health and Safety Executive 
(vi) British Gas 
(vii) Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England (English Heritage) 
(viii) The Garden History Society 
(ix) Royal Fine Arts Commission 
(x) Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
(xi) Nature Conservancy Council 
(xii) Natural England 
(xiii) National and local amenity societies 
(xiv) Other interested organisations 
(xv) Neighbours, residents and other interested persons 
(xvi) Any other document or correspondence specifically identified with an application/proposal 
 

[4] The relevant provisions of Acts of Parliament, Statutory Instruments or Government Circulars, or documents produced by the 
Council or another statutory body such as the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (including waste and minerals policies) 
adopted October 2007  

The following notes are for information only:- 

[1] “Background Papers” are defined in the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 do not include those disclosing 
“Exempt” or “Confidential Information” within the meaning of that Act.  There may be, therefore, other papers relevant to an 
application which will be relied on in preparing the report to the Committee or a related report, but which legally are not required 
to be open to public inspection. 

 

Page 55

Agenda Item 6

http://planning.bathnes.gov.uk/PublicAccess/


[2] The papers identified or referred to in this List of Background Papers will only include letters, plans and other documents 
relating to applications/proposals referred to in the report if they have been relied on to a material extent in producing the 
report. 

[3] Although not necessary for meeting the requirements of the above Act, other letters and documents of the above kinds 
received after the preparation of this report and reported to and taken into account by the Committee will also be available for 
inspection. 

[4] Copies of documents/plans etc. can be supplied for a reasonable fee if the copyright on the particular item is not thereby 
infringed or if the copyright is owned by Bath and North East Somerset Council or any other local authority. 

 

INDEX 

 
 

ITEM 
NO. 

APPLICATION NO. 
& TARGET DATE: 

APPLICANTS NAME/SITE ADDRESS 
and PROPOSAL 

WARD: OFFICER: REC: 
 

 
 

01 20/04296/VAR 
10 January 2021 

Mr John Davey 
Paglinch Farm, Access Road To 
Paglinch Farm, Shoscombe, Bath, Bath 
And North East Somerset 
Variation of condition 2 of application 
06/03707/FUL (Alterations to garage to 
form 1 no garage and self-contained 
holiday let unit)  
 
Condition Number(s): 2 
 
Conditions(s) Removal: 
 
To enable lawful use of the building as 
a self-contained residential unit of 
accommodation.  
Application is made to have the 
condition removed. 

Bathavon 
South 

Hayden 
Foster 

PERMIT 

 
02 20/03162/FUL 

26 February 2021 
Mr Craig Shaw 
Camerton And Peasedown Croquet 
Club, Whitebrook Lane, Peasedown St. 
John, Bath, Bath And North East 
Somerset 
To relocate the old buildings and install 
a new prefabricated building.  Install a 
bio-digester waste water treatment 
system and a rain collection system and 
secure permissions for low level 
advertising board on small sections of 
the perimeter fencing. 

Peasedown Hayden 
Foster 

REFUSE 

 
03 20/03391/FUL 

16 February 2021 
Mr and Mrs Kho 
Little Pear Tree Cottage, Tadwick Lane, 
Tadwick, Bath, Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Redevelopment of previously developed 
garage site for an office, gym and 
annexe to be used in connection with 
Pear Tree Cottage. 

Bathavon 
North 

Isabel 
Daone 

REFUSE 

 

Page 56



04 20/04365/PIP 
16 February 2021 

Mr John Tavener 
113 Wellsway, Keynsham, Bristol, Bath 
And North East Somerset, BS31 1HZ 
Permission in Principle Planning 
Application for the erection of one 
dwelling. 

Keynsham 
East 

Isabel 
Daone 

PERMIT 

 
05 20/03714/LBA 

12 January 2021 
Chris Born 
1 Cambridge Place, Widcombe Hill, 
Widcombe, Bath, Bath And North East 
Somerset 
External alterations to install secondary 
glazing to existing windows, 2no. on 
front elevation, 2no. to side elevation, 
and 2no. to rear elevation. 

Widcombe 
And 
Lyncombe 

Laura 
Batham 

CONSENT 

 
06 20/03255/FUL 

11 February 2021 
Vodafone Ltd 
Larkhall Sports Club, Charlcombe Lane, 
Charlcombe, Bath, Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Erection of a 20m high monopole 
supporting 3no. antennas and 2no. 
0.3mm dishes above the top of the pole, 
the installation of 1no. equipment 
cabinet on new base and the installation 
of ancillary equipment. 

Bathavon 
North 

Chris 
Griggs-
Trevarthen 

PERMIT 

 
07 20/00023/FUL 

26 February 2021 
S Black 
Plumb Center, Locksbrook Road, 
Newbridge, Bath, Bath And North East 
Somerset 
The demolition of the former Plumb 
Centre and Genesis Lifestyle Centre 
and the erection of a 3 storey (plus 
mezzanine) mixed use building for 
1180m2 of B1c Light Industrial, 290m2 
of D2 Assembly and Leisure, and 72 
student ensuite rooms in cluster flat. 
(Resubmission) 

Newbridge Chris 
Griggs-
Trevarthen 

Delegate to 
PERMIT 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING ON APPLICATIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT 

 

Item No:   01 

Application No: 20/04296/VAR 

Site Location: Paglinch Farm Access Road To Paglinch Farm Shoscombe Bath 
Bath And North East Somerset 

 

 

Ward: Bathavon South  Parish: Shoscombe  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Neil Butters Councillor Matt McCabe  

Application Type: Application for Variation of Condition 

Proposal: Variation of condition 2 of application 06/03707/FUL (Alterations to 
garage to form 1 no garage and self-contained holiday let unit)  

 

Condition Number(s): 2 

 

Conditions(s) Removal: 

 

To enable lawful use of the building as a self-contained residential unit of accommodation.  

Application is made to have the condition removed. 

Constraints: White Ox Mead Air Strip 3km buffer, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Coal - 
Standing Advice Area, Policy CP9 Affordable Housing Zones, Policy 
HE2 Somersetshire Coal Canal & Wa, Policy NE1 Green 
Infrastructure Network, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr John Davey 

Expiry Date:  10th January 2021 

Case Officer: Hayden Foster 

To view the case click on the link here. 

 
REPORT 

Page 58

http://webadmin/planning/details.html?refval=20/04296/VAR#details_Section


Reasons for referral:   
 
The applicant has direct links with the Planning Service. According to the scheme of 
delegation the application should therefore be referred to the Development Management 
Committee. 
 
Site Description and Proposal:  
 
The application relates to an existing holiday let associated with Sunday Cottage which is 
situated within Paglinch Farm. The application property and Paglinch Farm form part of a 
group of farm buildings within the original farmstead of Paglinch Farmhouse to the south, 
a Grade II listed building. The application property has its own designated private garden 
and parking space and has one bedroom.  
 
The application seeks consent for the variation of Condition 2 of the approved application 
06/03707/FUL (Alterations to garage to form 1 no garage and self-contained holiday let 
unit). The application is made to have the condition removed. This is to enable the lawful 
use of the building as a self-contained residential unit of accommodation.  
 
Relevant Planning History: 
 
06/03707/FUL - PERMIT - Alterations to garage to form 1 no garage and self-contained 
holiday let unit. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Consultation Responses:  
 
Shoscombe Parish Council 
 
'Shoscombe Parish Council supports this application.' 
 
Highways 
 
No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Representations Received: 
 
No comments received. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
On 13th July the Council adopted the B&NES Placemaking Plan. It now becomes part of 
the statutory Development Plan for the district, against which planning applications are 
determined. The statutory Development Plan for B&NES now comprises: 
 
o Core Strategy (July 2014) 
o Placemaking Plan (July 2017) 
o B&NES Local Plan (2007) - only saved Policy GDS.1 relating to 4 part implemented 
sites 
o Joint Waste Core Strategy 
o Made Neighbourhood Plans 

Page 59



 
Core Strategy: 
 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the 
determination of this application:  
 
CP2: Sustainable Construction 
CP5: Flood Risk Management 
CP6: Environmental Quality  
CP7: Green Infrastructure 
CP10: Housing Mix 
RA2: Development in villages outside the Green Belt not meeting Policy RA1 criteria 
 
Placemaking Plan: 
 
The Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the 
Council on 13th July 2017. The following policies of the Placemaking Plan are relevant to 
the determination of this application: 
 
D1: General urban design principles 
D2: Local character and distinctiveness 
D3: Urban Fabric 
D4: Streets and Spaces 
D5: Building design 
D6: Amenity 
D8: Lighting  
HE1: Historic Environment 
H3: Residential uses in existing buildings 
H7: Housing Accessibility 
NE1: Development and Green Infrastructure 
NE3: Sites, Species and Habitats  
NE5: Ecological Networks  
NE6: Trees and Woodland Conservation 
LCR9: Local Food Growing 
RE6: Re-use of rural buildings 
RE7: Visitor accommodation 
SCR1: On-site Renewable Energy Requirement 
SCR5: Water Efficiency 
SD1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
ST1: Promoting Sustainable Travel  
ST7: Transport access and development management 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in February 2019 and is a 
material consideration. Due consideration has been given to the provisions of the National 
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG). 
 
There is a duty placed on the Council under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 'In considering whether to grant planning permission for 

Page 60



development which affects a listed building or its setting' to 'have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving 
the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 
possesses.' 
 
LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
The property known as Sunday Cottage comprises two of the converted historic farm 
buildings which are heritage assets: 
 
o Sunday Cottage - a single storey rubble stone residence, formerly a milking parlour. 
o The Studio - the nearby two storey rubble stone residence, formerly a small barn. 
 
The private access drive to Sunday Cottage and The Studio leads from the cycleway and 
serves Paglinch House, the former farmhouse. 
 
The use of the application property as a holiday let was accepted in 2006 with the grant of 
planning permission Reference: 06/03707/FUL. The only matter for consideration is the 
acceptability of the use of the premises as a permanent residential occupation rather than 
a short-term holiday let. The reason given for Condition two relates solely to residential 
amenity. The full wording of the condition is as follows:  
 
Condition 2: The development hereby approved shall not be occupied at any time other 
than for purposes of holiday accommodation ancillary to the residential use of the dwelling 
known as Barn (now Sunday Cottage), Paglinch Farm and shall not be occupied as a 
separate dwelling unit. 
 
Reason: the accommodation hereby approved is not capable of independent occupation 
without adverse impact on the amenities of existing or future occupiers. 
 
For completeness the issues relevant to the current proposal are: the principle of the 
permanent occupation of the property as an independent dwellinghouse; the residential 
amenities of future occupiers and neighbouring residents; car parking provision; and any 
heritage impacts.   
 
Principle of Development  
 
The site is located beyond the housing development boundary of Shoscombe but is not 
located within the Bath/Bristol Green Belt. Given the location of the application site, 
Placemaking Plan Policy RA2 is not applicable.  
 

Page 61



Placemaking Plan Policy RE6 relates to the re-use of a building or buildings to a new use 
in the countryside outside the scope of Policies RA1, RA2 and GB2. Holiday lets fall within 
Use Class C3, as does independent permanent residential accommodation. However, 
Placemaking Plan Policy RE7 notes the use of a dwellinghouse for visitor accommodation 
is deemed to be a material change of use and it follows that the reverse should be treated 
the same.  
 
The proposal should therefore be assessed against Placemaking Plan Policy RE6. The 
original character of the two barns which originally formed Paglinch Farm and part of the 
subject property was largely lost through conversion in the 1990s. However, the 
application property is constructed of rubble stone to match the main building (Paglinch 
Farm) and the appearance of the building is in keeping with its setting. The building is of 
permanent construction and no physical works to alter or extend the building are 
proposed. The use of the property as an independent dwelling rather than a holiday let 
would not result in the dispersal of activities which might prejudice village vitality or 
viability, nor would it result in replacement agricultural buildings or the outside storage of 
plant or machinery. The building forms part of an established group of buildings and is 
neither redundant nor disused. The proposed removal of the holiday let restriction would 
safeguard the integrity and significance of the historic farmstead. The proposal is therefore 
considered to comply with Policy RE6. In addition, the proposal would not result in the 
creation of an isolated home in the countryside given its siting within an established group 
of buildings and accords with Paragraph 79 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF). 
 
Placemaking Plan Policy RE7 relates to the provision of new purpose-built visitor 
accommodation and the change of use from a dwelling to visitor accommodation. This 
policy is silent on the loss of visitor accommodation through change of use to dwellings; 
however, the preamble does state that "applications for visitor accommodation should not 
be seen as a mechanism to gaining permanent residential use of the accommodation." 
The acceptability of the proposal will therefore come down to the final planning balance. 
 
Heritage Impact  
 
The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Regulations 1990 requires that 
the local planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving a 
listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which 
it possesses.  
 
No physical works to alter or extend the building are proposed. It is not considered that the 
use of the property for permanent residential occupation would have a significant impact 
on the setting of the Grade II listed Paglinch Farmhouse when compared to the short-term 
holiday occupation originally permitted. Overall, it is considered that the proposal would 
preserve the setting of the neighbouring listed building and accords with Placemaking 
Plan Policy HE1. 
 
Residential Amenity  
 
The reason for imposing Condition two was that the accommodation is not capable of 
independent occupation without adverse impact on the amenities of existing or future 
residential occupiers. Policy D6 of the Placemaking Plan states that development must 

Page 62



provide for reasonable levels of amenity having regard to securing appropriate levels of 
privacy, outlook and natural light to existing properties and not cause significant harm to 
the amenities of existing or proposed occupiers of, or visitors to, residential premises by 
reason of loss of light, increased noise, smell, overlooking, traffic or other disturbance. 
New properties should provide adequate usable private or communal amenity space.  
 
The subject property benefits from its own private designated garden, separated from the 
garden of Sunday Cottage. The building is a two-storey property, with an internal floor 
area of (approximately) 84 sqm. The building contains two bedrooms, a kitchen, living 
room and bathroom/WC and has all the amenities required to operate as an independent 
dwelling from Sunday Cottage. The building has an area of garden located on the west 
side of the site, which is a private space, separated from the adjoining gardens of Sunday 
Cottage, Paglinch Farm and Paglinch House by long-established boundary fencing and 
planting. Overall, the garden area is about 265 sqm in size. The subject property benefits 
from its own independent access which leads to the east elevation (front) of the building.  
 
Given the relationship between The Barn and Sunday Cottage, permanent residential 
occupation of the application property would not have a harmful impact on the residential 
amenities of the occupiers of Sunday Cottage compared to the existing holiday let use. 
Likewise, there would not be a significant impact on the residential amenities of the other 
dwellings in the vicinity compared to the existing situation.  
 
In conclusion, it is considered that the removal of Condition two would provide an 
acceptable standard of amenity for future residential occupiers of the application property 
and the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings. 
 
Highways Safety  
 
Parking for the application property is available on a large area of hard standing to the 
front of the barn. A site plan has been submitted showing the parking layout for the subject 
property and allocated parking for Sunday Cottage. The parking provision for the 
application property meets the minimum parking standards and is therefore acceptable.  
 
The full-time occupation of the application property as a residential dwelling compared to 
its part-time occupation as a holiday let is likely to increase the number of vehicle trips at 
the site. However, the increase is negligible and would not have an adverse impact on the 
continued safe operation of the local highway network.  
 
The removal of Condition two is therefore considered acceptable with regards to car 
parking provision and highway impacts in accordance with Placemaking Plan Policy ST7. 
A condition has been requested to provide bicycle parking. The applicant has provided 
further information to indicate that bicycle storage/parking is already available within the 
site. It can also be seen that the site presents enough outside space to allow for bicycle 
storage.  
 
Conclusion  
 
The preamble to Placemaking Plan Policy RE7 discourages later applications to convert 
permitted visitor accommodation to permanent residential use. However, it is noted that 
the use of the application property as a permanent independent dwelling through the 

Page 63



removal of Condition two accords with Placemaking Plan Policy RE6 and Paragraph 79 of 
the NPPF. No significant adverse impacts have been identified that would result from the 
proposal. Taking all factors into account, it is considered that the removal of Condition two 
of planning permission 06/03707/FUL is acceptable when assessed against the 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Precedent can be seen for an application to remove the same holiday let condition at 
Paglinch Farm immediately adjoining this application site (Reference: 19/04009/REM), 
was approved a year ago. Condition 2 of 06/03707/FUL was imposed in the interests of 
protecting the amenity of existing and future occupiers. 
 
In removing Condition two, the Council is in effect issuing a new permission and so all 
previous conditions relating to this site still stand. It is noted that the approved 
development alterations have already commenced so Condition one attached to 
Reference: 06/03707/FUL is no longer relevant.   
 
In order to assess the acceptability of the proposal it has been necessary to obtain a site 
plan detailing the site layout in relation to car parking and garden allocation. This plan 
shall therefore be included in the approved plans list. It is considered reasonable and 
necessary to attach conditions requiring the development to be carried out in accordance 
with the approved plans and requiring the parking spaces to be kept free of obstruction 
and available for car parking. 
 
Given the assessment made above it is recommended that permission be granted subject 
to conditions. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
 2 Parking (Compliance) 
The areas allocated for parking and turning on the submitted plan shall be kept clear of 
obstruction and shall not be used other than for the parking of vehicles in connection with 
the development hereby permitted 
 
Reason: To ensure sufficient parking and turning areas are retained at all times in the 
interests of amenity and highways safety in accordance with Policy ST7 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Placemaking Plan. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 This decision relates to the site plan and block plan received 18th November 2020. 
 

Page 64



 2 Permit/Consent Decision Making Statement 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 3 Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit an application to 
Discharge Conditions and pay the relevant fee via the Planning Portal at 
www.planningportal.co.uk or post to Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, 
Bath, BA1 1JG. 
 
 4 Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. Before commencing any 
development on site you should ensure you are familiar with the CIL process. If the 
development approved by this permission is CIL liable there are requirements to assume 
liability and notify the Council before development commences, failure to comply with the 
regulations can result in surcharges and additional payments. Full details about the CIL 
Charge including, amount and process for payment will be sent out in a CIL Liability 
Notice which you will receive shortly. Further details are available here: 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 
 5 Responding to Climate Change (Informative): 
 
The council is committed to responding to climate change. You are advised to consider 
sustainable construction when undertaking the approved development and consider using 
measures aimed at minimising carbon emissions and impacts on climate change. 
 

Page 65



 6 Coal Mining - Low Risk Area (but within coalfield) 
 
The proposed development lies within a coal mining area which may contain unrecorded 
coal mining related hazards.  If any coal mining feature is encountered during 
development, this should be reported immediately to the Coal Authority on 0345 762 
6848. 
 
Further information is also available on the Coal Authority website at: 
www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



Item No:   02 

Application No: 20/03162/FUL 

Site Location: Camerton And Peasedown Croquet Club Whitebrook Lane 
Peasedown St. John Bath Bath And North East Somerset 

 

 

Ward: Peasedown  Parish: Peasedown St John  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Sarah Bevan Councillor Karen Walker  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: To relocate the old buildings and install a new prefabricated building.  
Install a bio-digester waste water treatment system and a rain 
collection system and secure permissions for low level advertising 
board on small sections of the perimeter fencing. 

Constraints: White Ox Mead Air Strip 3km buffer, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Coal - 
Standing Advice Area, Contaminated Land, Policy CP9 Affordable 
Housing Zones, Policy LCR5 Safeguarded existg sport & R, Policy 
NE2A Landscapes and the green set, Policy NE3 SNCI, Policy NE5 
Ecological Networks, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr Craig Shaw 

Expiry Date:  26th February 2021 

Case Officer: Hayden Foster 

To view the case click on the link here. 

 
REPORT 
Reasons for reporting application to committee  
 
The application is being referred to the committee as local councillors have written in 
support to the application contrary to the case officer recommendation to refuse. 
 
The application has been referred to the chair and vice chair of the development 
management planning committee in line with the planning scheme of delegation. The chair 
has determined that the application should be considered by the committee.  

Page 67

http://webadmin/planning/details.html?refval=20/03162/FUL#details_Section


 
Site Description and Proposal:  
 
The application relates to the Camerton And Peasedown Croquet Club which is situated 
off Whitebrook Lane. The site is located within the parish of Peasedown St. John, but 
situated outside of a defined housing development boundary.  
 
The application seeks consent to relocate old buildings and install a new prefabricated 
building. Install a bio-digester waste water treatment system and a rain collection system 
and secure permissions for low level advertising board on small sections of the perimeter 
fencing. 
 
Noted that an application Reference: 20/03163/AR which sought advertisement consent 
for the display of 31 120cm x 60cm metal clad advertising boards has been withdrawn. 
 
Relevant Planning History: 
 
o 20/03163/AR- WITHDRAWN- Display of 31 no. 120cm x 60cm metal clad 
advertising boards situated around the bottom perimeter of lawn 2 and lawn 3 and to the 
far side of Lawn 3 and Lawn 4. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Consultation Responses: 
 
Peasedown St. John Parish Council  
 
'No concerns or objections were raised and so it was resolved that this application be 
supported.' 
 
Contaminated Land  
 
No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Drainage and Flooding  
 
No objection. 
 
Highways  
 
No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Arboriculture  
 
No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Cllr Karen Walker  
 
'After carryout a site visit to the Camerton & Peasedown St John Croquet Club on 
Wednesday 14th October, to discuss the proposed planning application, to relocate the 
old buildings, and to install a bio-digester waste water treatment system, and low level 

Page 68



advertising boards. I have no objections, the proposed plan is sympathetic to the sounding 
area, there will be no loose of light, the new building is not out of keeping of the 
surrounding buildings. The display advertising boards will be located at a low level, so it 
will not obscure the views.' 
 
Cllr Sarah Bevan  
 
'I would like to support this application for the following reasons: 
 
The club actively promotes healthy living and tackles inactivity, so enhanced facilities will 
be of even greater value to the local community and the wider area. 
 
The club holds well attended events, so enhanced facilities are needed to accommodate 
visitors, participants and spectators. 
 
Enhanced facilities will create a community hub for taster sessions, designed to increase 
membership and well being for an even wider local population. 
 
The application will not cause any overdevelopment problems, such as overlooking, as it 
is below the level of neighbouring properties.' 
 
Representations Received: 
 
Eight supporting comments have been received. In summary the following comments 
have been made:  
 
o The proposal will provide updated facilities to enable wider participation for sporting 
events. 
o The proposal will increase sports and recreational facilities at a time when social 
distancing still allows people to participate in sport. 
o The club is outgrowing its facilities and must provide better WC facilities & meeting 
space for its members. 
o The proposals considerably improve the club house facilities which are currently 
very basic and the irrigation system to be constructed will ensure the quality of the lawns 
can be maintained. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
On 13th July the Council adopted the B&NES Placemaking Plan. It now becomes part of 
the statutory Development Plan for the district, against which planning applications are 
determined. The statutory Development Plan for B&NES now comprises: 
 
o Core Strategy (July 2014) 
o Placemaking Plan (July 2017) 
o B&NES Local Plan (2007) - only saved Policy GDS.1 relating to 4 part implemented 
sites 
o Joint Waste Core Strategy 
o Made Neighbourhood Plans 
 
Core Strategy: 
 

Page 69



The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the 
determination of this application:  
 
CP2: Sustainable Construction 
CP5: Flood Risk Management 
CP6: Environmental Quality  
CP7: Green Infrastructure 
DW1: District-wide Spatial Strategy 
 
Placemaking Plan: 
 
The Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the 
Council on 13th July 2017. The following policies of the Placemaking Plan are relevant to 
the determination of this application:  
 
D1: General Urban Design Principles 
D2: Local Character and Distinctiveness 
D3: Urban Fabric 
D5: Building Design  
D6: Amenity  
D8: Lighting 
LCR5: Safeguarding Existing Sport & Recreational Facilities  
LCR6: New and Replacement Sports and Recreational Facilities 
NE1: Development and Green Infrastructure 
NE2: Conserving and Enhancing the Landscape and Landscape Character 
NE2A: Landscape Setting of Settlements  
NE3: Sites, Species and Habitats 
NE5: Ecological Networks 
NE6: Trees and Woodland Conservation 
PCS5: Contamination   
ST1: Promoting Sustainable Travel  
ST7: Transport requirements for managing development 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in February 2019 and is a 
material consideration. Due consideration has been given to the provisions of the National 
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG). 
 
LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
The application relates to the Camerton & Peasedown Croquet Club which is situated off 
of Whitebrook Lane. The site is located within the parish of Peasedown St. John, outside 

Page 70



of a defined housing development boundary. The site is identified by Policy NE2A of the 
Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan as falling within the landscape/green 
setting of a settlement. 
 
The application seeks consent to relocate old buildings and install a new prefabricated 
building, install a bio-digester waste water treatment system and a rain collection system 
and secure permissions for low level advertising board on small sections of the perimeter 
fencing. 
 
Application reference: 20/03163/AR which sought advertisement consent for the display of 
31 120cm x 60cm metal clad advertising boards has been withdrawn.  
 
Principle of Development 
 
The proposal seeks the relocation of old buildings used by the croquet club and their 
replacement with a new prefabricated building. Given the nature of the proposal policy 
LCR5 and LCR6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan are of relevance.  
 
It is noted that the site is identified by Policy LCR5 for having land and buildings of value 
for sports and recreation.  The proposal seeks to keep the site within the same use which 
is for sports and recreation. 
 
With regards to Policy LCR6, the proposed development is for an outdoor sports facility 
with at least equal benefit to the development of sport and community access to sport to 
outweigh the loss of the existing or former recreational use. The vehicle access and 
proposed on-site vehicle 
parking is of an appropriate standard; B&NES Highways have no objection to the 
proposed works. Given the existing use of the site the proposal would not give rise to 
significant adverse environmental conditions including the impact of air, noise, water 
quality and light pollution and nor will it be detrimental to public safety or the amenities of 
nearby residents. 
 
Character and Appearance 
 
The proposal seeks to relocate old buildings and install a new prefabricated building.  
 
As noted above the proposal is identified by Policy NE2A of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Placemaking Plan as falling within a landscape and the green setting of a 
settlement. This policy sets out that any development should seek to conserve and 
enhance the landscape setting of settlements and their landscape character, views and 
features. Development that would result in adverse impact to the landscape setting of 
settlements that cannot be adequately mitigated will not be permitted.  
 
Policy D2 of the Placemaking Plan is of relevance. This policy sets out amongst other 
things that development should positively respond to the site context, in particular the local 
character, including uses, landmarks, layout, streets and spaces, siting, spacing, set-back, 
building lines, roofscapes, materials, building forms and features. This policy also notes 
that proposals should present a design which enhances and responds to natural features, 
including landscape, green infrastructure, skylines, topography, landform and views. 
 

Page 71



Policy D5 is also of relevance. This policy sets out amongst other things that building 
facades, reveals and entrances must be well designed, all elevations must be well 
articulated, and an appropriate building line and/or boundary treatment should be 
maintained.  
 
The existing buildings on site are limited in both size and scale and are clustered in the 
north-eastern end of the site near to the entrance. The existing buildings consist of a 
clubhouse, equipment store, compost toilet, timber shelter and garage store. Some of the 
buildings such as the clubhouse, compost toilet will be replaced by a new prefabricated 
building which has been donated as a new club house. Other buildings on site will be 
relocated or repurposed.  
 
With regards to the new prefabricated clubhouse this building is set to measure 7.965 
metres by 16.970 metres and (approximately) 3.2 metres in height from ground level. The 
building will also present timber decking with ramped access to the front elevation.  
Concerns have been raised regarding the character and appearance of the building set 
within this location. This is in addition to the temporary nature of the prefabricated building.  
Following conversations, revised elevations have been provided to present the building 
clad in timber to the front and rear elevations, and a false pitched roof presented to the 
front elevation.  
 
While the revisions are noted the concerns regarding the 'temporary' nature of the building 
and its appearance within the landscape setting are still present. The buildings as existing 
are limited in both size, scale and are discreetly located within the site. The proposed 
building will be a notable 'temporary' building within this rural location. The site sits on 
lower ground to the cricket club situated to the south but is on a higher ground level to 
dwelling situated off New Buildings and Whitebrook Lane situated to the north.  It is noted 
that the site is partly screen by natural vegetation consisting of trees and hedgerow but 
the site presents an opening in the natural vegetation with views of the side of the building 
possible. It is also noted that the site is bound by the Camerton Wood, an accessible 
natural green space. 
 
Given the nature of the site and building proposed it is considered that the proposal will 
not positively respond to the site context, the local character, building lines, roofscape, 
materials, building form and features. The proposal due to its design will not enhance or 
respond to natural features, including landscape. 
 
The proposal by reason of its design, massing, layout and materials is unacceptable and 
will not contribute or respond to the local context and will not maintain the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area. The proposal is contrary to Policy CP6 of the 
adopted Core Strategy (2014) and policies D2, D5 and NE2A of the Placemaking Plan for 
Bath and North East Somerset (2017) and part 12 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). 
 
Residential Amenity 
 
Given the existing nature of the site and the proposed use of the buildings the proposed 
development would not cause significant harm to the amenities of any occupiers or 
adjacent occupiers through loss of light, overshadowing, overbearing impact, loss of 

Page 72



privacy, noise, smell, traffic or other disturbance. The proposal accords with Policy D6 of 
the Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset (2017) and part 12 of the NPPF. 
 
Highways 
 
Given the nature of the proposal the Bath and North East Somerset Highways 
Development Control Team (HDC) have been consulted. Within the response received it 
is noted that the application does not involve any change to the access to the highway or 
changes to the number of existing car parking spaces. There are two disable parking bays 
proposed to be marked adjacent to the club house and this is welcomed. 
 
The new building will result in a modest increase in floor area for the club house. Given 
that the proposed building is ancillary to the existing use of the site there will be no 
significant impact on trip generation.  
 
Given the assessment made above HDC raise no objection to the application. The means 
of access and parking arrangements are acceptable and maintain highway safety 
standards. The proposal accords with policy ST7 of the Placemaking Plan for Bath and 
North East Somerset (2017) and part 9 of the NPPF. 
 
Trees 
 
There are several trees and hedgerow bounding the site; a tree survey and arboriculture 
report have been provided. Given the proximity of the proposed works to this vegetation 
the Bath and North East Somerset Arboriculture Team have been consulted. Within the 
response received it is noted that an arboriculture report has been submitted to support 
the application and demonstrate consideration of policies NE1 and NE6 of the 
Placemaking Plan.  
 
The report identifies that several trees in the vicinity require works irrespective of the 
current proposals. 
 
The report provides suggested tree protection methods where activities are within the root 
protection areas and beneath the canopies of retained trees. The comments received note 
that there are no objections to the proposal subject to conditions. 
 
The proposed development will not have an adverse impact on a tree which has 
significant visual or amenity value. The proposal accords with policy NE6 of the 
Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset (2017) and part 15 of the NPPF. 
 
Drainage and Flooding 
 
As noted, an element of the proposal seeks the installation of a bio-digester waste water 
treatment system and a rain collection system. Due to the nature of these elements the 
Bath and North East Somerset Drainage and Flooding Team have been consulted. Within 
the response received it is noted that the development is located outside of Flood Zone 2 
and 3 and is not shown to be at risk of surface water flooding. The drainage and flooding 
team have no objection on flood risk grounds. 
 

Page 73



Surface water is to be managed in accordance with Building Regulations Approved 
Document Part H. Adherence to the drainage hierarchy is required. Onsite infiltration 
testing will be required to confirm the viability of soakaways and inform their design. This 
testing should be undertaken at an early stage of the development. 
 
Given the comments raised above the proposal is compliant with Policy CP5 of the Bath 
and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
Contaminated Land 
 
The site is identified as having potentially contaminative historical use. As such the Bath 
and North East Somerset Contaminated Land Team have been consulted. Within the 
response received it is noted that the site is located above an old landfill which is 
understood to have been infilled between 1976 and 1986.  
 
The nature and composition of the material used to fill the site is unknown. Due to the 
potential risks of contamination of soils, groundwater and potential gas generation posed 
by the historical use of the site, the contaminated land team advise that contaminated land 
model planning conditions are placed on the application if granted. 
 
Given the assessment above, and subject to conditions the proposed development can 
comply with policy PCS5 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan, and 
part 11 and 15 of the NPPF.  
 
Low Carbon and Sustainable Credentials 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. Several policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully considered in the recommendation made. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the assessment above it is recommended that the application be refused. The 
proposal will not positively respond to the site context, local character, building lines, 
roofscape, materials, building form and features. The proposal due to its design will not 
enhance or respond to natural features, including landscape.  The public benefits of the 
proposal are noted but these are not considered to outweigh the harm caused by the 
incongrous nature/visual appearance of the building and the adverse impact that will have 
on the wider character and appearance of the area. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

REFUSE 
 
REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL 
 
 1 The proposal will not positively respond to the site context, in particular the local 
character, building lines, roofscape, materials, building form and features. The proposal 
due to it's design will not enhance or respond to natural features, including landscape. The 

Page 74



proposal is contrary to policy CP6 of the adopted Core Strategy (2014) and policies D2, 
D5 and NE2A of the Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset (2017) and part 
12 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 This decision relates to the following plans received 29th September 2020:  
 
Drawing Number: 34-P-03 - Site Block Plan as Proposed 
Drawing Number: 34-P-04 - Site Plan as Proposed 
Drawing Number: 34-P-06 - Equipment Store Plans and Elevations 
Drawing Number: 34-P-07 - Pump House Plans and Elevations 
Drawing Number: 34-P-08 - Timber Store Plans and Elevations 
 
Plans received 8th December 2020:  
 
Drawing Number: 34-P-05 Revision A - Proposed Plans and Elevations 
 
 2 In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied 
with the aims of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework. Notwithstanding 
informal advice offered by the Local Planning Authority the submitted application was 
unacceptable for the stated reasons and the applicant was advised that the application 
was to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the applicant chose not to withdraw the 
application and having regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay the Local Planning 
Authority moved forward and issued its decision. In considering whether to prepare a 
further application the applicant's attention is drawn to the original discussion/negotiation. 
 
 3 Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. Whilst the above application 
has been refused by the Local Planning Authority please note that CIL applies to all 
relevant planning permissions granted on or after this date. Thus any successful appeal 
against this decision may become subject to CIL. Full details are available on the 
Council's website www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 75



Item No:   03 

Application No: 20/03391/FUL 

Site Location: Little Pear Tree Cottage Tadwick Lane Tadwick Bath Bath And North 
East Somerset 

 

 

Ward: Bathavon North  Parish: Swainswick  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Kevin Guy Councillor Sarah Warren  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Redevelopment of previously developed garage site for an office, gym 
and annexe to be used in connection with Pear Tree Cottage. 

Constraints: Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Policy CP8 Green Belt, Policy CP9 
Affordable Housing Zones, MOD Safeguarded Areas, Policy NE1 
Green Infrastructure Network, Policy NE2 AONB, Policy NE5 
Ecological Networks, Policy NE5 Strategic Nature Areas, All Public 
Rights of Way Records, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr and Mrs Kho 

Expiry Date:  16th February 2021 

Case Officer: Isabel Daone 

To view the case click on the link here. 

 
REPORT 
Planning permission is sought for the redevelopment of a previously developed site which 
currently houses a garage, for an office, gym and annexe to be used in connection with 
Little Pear Tree Cottage.  
 
The application site is a relatively regular shaped plot located immediately to the south 
west of Little Pear Tree Cottage. The site is located within the Green Belt and Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty. Tadwick House, located to the west of the site on the 
opposite side of the access lane is a Grade II Listed Building. 
 

Page 76

http://webadmin/planning/details.html?refval=20/03391/FUL#details_Section


This planning application is taken before the Planning Committee in the interests of 
transparency. There is a historic pre-application enquiry on this site (2011). There are no 
scanned plans available with that enquiry. The applicant has provided information 
independently to support the position that the officer of the time had supported the case. 
That view is not disputed however in the absence of complete records the scheme is 
assessed afresh. It is of note in any event that an officer pre-application advice is given in 
good faith but is not binding on the local authority and members as the decision maker are 
able to come to their own view. The application does not receive officer support for the 
reasons given. 
 
Relevant Planning History: 
 
99/02314/FUL 
PERMIT - 18 May 1999 
First floor extension to existing single storey kitchen and rear extension to form first floor 
bathroom facility. 
 
99/02916/FUL 
PERMIT - 26 November 1999 
Lean-to single storey extension to South elevation to form dining room facility 
 
09/00814/CLPU 
REFUSED: 30 June 2009 
Conversion of existing garage for use ancillary to the domestic enjoyment of the main 
dwelling 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Consultation Responses :  
 
SWAINSWICK PARISH COUNCIL: 
Objection, summarised as follows -  
- Signifcant impact on the aesthetics of a small hamlet 
- Design is not in keeping 
- Contrast with surorunding old and listed properties is stark 
- Incongruous nature of the building is illustrated by the inclusion of aluminium 
framed windows and profile fibre cement roofing; alien materials in this location 
- In the Green Belt and AONB, inappropriate development 
- The proposed commercial use will generate additional traffic along this and, as 
important, the tiny access route to the site 
- Chemical storage nearby considered a threat to the permanent proximity of 
residents and personnel alike 
 
CLLR. KEVIN GUY: 
I have had a chance as the local ward Councillor to look at the attached application and in 
the new world we live in I fully support the conversion of garage space into a home 
working space. The environmental impact from working from home is a massive 
consideration that should be taken onboard with this application. 
I fully support any sensible officer restrictions to size and height etc. If you are minded to 
refuse then can I formally request this application gets sent to councillors to consider at 
the next appropriate planning committee. 

Page 77



 
ECOLOGY: 
No objection subject to conditions (Wildlife Protection and Mitigation and External 
Lighting) -  
- Bat survey and assessment report acceptable 
 
TRANSPORTATION AND HIGHWAYS: 
No objection subject to conditions (1no. parking space to be provided on-site) 
- The site's location would mean most journeys would be undertaken by private car 
- The creation of a new dwelling outside of a settlement boundary in an 
unsustainable location would be contrary to the development plan 
- However, providing the annexe remains ancillary to the existing dwelling Highways 
are unlikely to be able to sustain an objection 
- No impact to access on to the highway and adequate parking for the house and 
annexe is retained 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION: 
- Further assessments recommended to review the potential adverse amenity impact 
for the future users of the proposed development from the existing nearby farm 
- Recommend than odour and noise assessments are conducted to assess if 
mitigation measures are required and achievable to prevent impact of odour and noise 
- With regard to noise the assessment must demonstrate the following levels can be 
achieved: Maximum internal noise levels of 35dBLAeq,16hr and 30dBLAeq,8hr for living 
rooms and bedrooms during the daytime and night-time respectively. For bedrooms at 
night individual noise events (measured with F time-weighting) shall not (normally) exceed 
45dBLAmax. 
 
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY: 
- No objection subject to conditions 
- Public footpath BA24/16 runs along the access route to the property. It appears that 
there is a legal right for the owner of the application site to use a motorised vehicle on this 
footpath 
- Conditions requested to safeguard the footpath 
 
CONSERVATION OFFICER: 
No objection on heritage grounds 
 
Representations Received :  
 
3 objection comments have been received from local residents and are summarised as 
follows: 
- Site is too overdeveloped for the area 
- The design is inappropriate and out of character in an agricultural location 
- Plans do not enhance the area and will be a blot on the landscape 
- Materials not indigenous to B&NES 
- Object to the location near our barns which store agrochecmical, fertilizer, animal 
compound, hay with claves and young also housed 
- Any structure adjacent ot our buildings is deemed a fire hazard  
- Pitched roof above the farm buildings is unacceptable 
- The buildings are listed and the roof would be incongrous to rural views 

Page 78



- The annexe could be considered a dwelling not an annexe 
- The garage is already too close to the farm buildings and this should be 
investigated 
- Velux windows would overlook my farm yard and buildings from a very close 
proximity 
- Should we wish to develop the farm buildings in the future this could be problematic 
- Housing cattle and do not want noise/smell complaints as a result 
- The development is 10ft from our property across the access road 
- Two-storey, high apex will be visible from every dominant window in our house 
- A new "house" will be an eyesore in amongst the 7 houses which form this part of 
the hamlet and AONB 
- Ruin the aesthetics of the nearby Listed Buildings 
- A commercial and guest development will exacerbate traffic issues 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
Policies/ Legislation: 
 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The 
Development Plan for Bath and North East Somerset comprises: 
 
o Bath & North East Somerset Core Strategy (July 2014) 
o Bath & North East Somerset Placemaking Plan (July 2017) 
o West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011)  
o Bath & North East Somerset saved Local Plan policies (2007) not replaced by the 
Core Strategy or the Placemaking Plan: 
- Policy GDS.1 Site allocations and development requirements (policy framework) 
- Policy GDS.1/K2: South West Keynsham (site) 
- Policy GDS.1/NR2: Radstock Railway Land (site) 
- Policy GDS.1/V3: Paulton Printing Factory (site) 
- Policy GDS.1/V8: Former Radford Retail System's Site, Chew Stoke (site) 
o Made Neighbourhood Plans  
 
Core Strategy: 
 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the 
determination of this application:  
 
CP2: Sustainable Construction 
CP6: Environmental Quality 
CP8: Green Belt  
DW1: District Wide Spatial Strategy  
SD1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
 
Placemaking Plan: 
 

Page 79



The Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the 
Council on 13th July 2017. The following policies of the Placemaking Plan are relevant to 
the determination of this application:  
 
D1: General urban design principles 
D2: Local character and distinctiveness 
D3: Urban fabric 
D5: Building design  
D6: Amenity 
GB1: Visual amenities of the Green Belt 
GB3: Extensions and alterations to buildings in the Green Belt. 
HE1: Historic environment  
NE2: Conserving and Enhancing the landscape and landscape character  
NE2A: Landscape setting of settlements  
NE5: Ecological networks 
ST7: Transport requirements for managing development  
 
National Policy: 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in February 2019 and is a 
material consideration. Due consideration has been given to the provisions of the National 
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG). 
 
Listed Buildings: 
 
In addition, there is a duty placed on the Council under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 'In considering whether to grant planning 
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting' to 'have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.'   
 
LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 

Page 80



The main issues to consider are: 
- Principle of development in the Green Belt 
- Design, character and Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty/Heritage Assests 
- Residential amenity 
- Highway safety and parking 
 
PRINCIPLE DEVELOPMENT IN THE GREEN BELT: 
 
The primary issue to consider is whether the proposal represents inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt.  
 
The proposal is to demolish an existing single storey garage and to erect a two-storey 
replacement building which will form a home office, gym and annexe to be used in 
connection with Little Pear Tree Cottage.  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework states in Paragraph 145 that Local Planning 
Authorities should regard the construction of new buildings in the Green Belt as 
inappropriate. Exceptions to this include; 
 
a) Buildings for agriculture and forestry 
b) The provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of land or 
change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, cemeteries, burial grounds and 
allotments; as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not 
conflict with the purposes of including land within it 
c) The extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building 
d) the replacement of a building provided the new building is in the same use and not 
materially larger than the one it replaces 
e) Limited infilling in villages 
f) Limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out in the 
development plan (including policies for rural exception sites); and 
g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed 
land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), which 
would: 
o not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing 
development; or 
o not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the 
development would re-use previously developed land and contribute to meeting an 
identified affordable housing need within the area of the local planning authority. 
 
The proposal is not for agricultural or forestry purposes, nor is it in connection with the 
provision or appropriate facilities. The proposed annexe would not be considered an 
extension, as stipulated by criterion C as it is located some distance away from the main 
houses and is not read in conjunction with it. The proposal does also not fall under criteria 
e or f. The proposed development could fall under criterion d, which is for replacement 
buildings in the same use. The existing garage and site is considered to be within C3 use 
class and therefore this would apply. The proposed building would likely be considered to 
be materially larger than the existing garage although this assessment has not been made 
here.  
 

Page 81



It is considered that the proposal falls within criterion g; redevelopment of previously 
developed land. The site is considered to be part of the residential garden. The Court of 
Appeal decision of Dartford Borough Council v Secretary of State for Communities and 
Local Government & Anort [2017] EWCA Civ 141 found that the definition of previously 
developed land included residential gardens which are not located in a "built-up area" can 
be considered to be previously developed land. Tadwick is a small hamlet, which does not 
have a Housing Development Boundary. Officers consider that the location is therefore 
not a built-up area and that the application should be assessed under criterion G of 
paragraph 145.  
 
The aim of the Green Belt is to maintain permanently open land. Accordingly, criterion G is 
caveated by a proposal not having a greater impact on openness than the previous 
development.  An assessment of openness is based on both spatial and visual impacts.  
 
It is acknowledged that the proposed building will border an existing farm building and will 
therefore be visually screened from some viewpoints, including from the bottom of the 
access track looking up towards Little Pear Tree Cottage. However, the proposal will be 
visible from the nearby properties and other public viewpoints, most notably from the 
Public Right of Way which runs up the access track adjacent to the property. The 
proposed building will be located closer to the Public Right of way, increase a sense of 
enclosure in this location. The existing building allows for views of the countryside beyond. 
The proposed building, which has an additional storey, will block these views which has a 
harmful impact on openness in this location. Furthermore, when looking back towards the 
cluster of buildings which characterise this part of Tadwick, the proposed building will be 
more visible than the existing building, given the increase in massing and height. Its 
increased massing and height will cause a visual intrusion which will have a greater 
impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing development, contrary to 
criterion G of paragraph 145 of the NPPF. This is also contrary to the main aim of the 
Green Belt which is to retain openness.  
 
Spatially, it is also considered that the proposed building will have a greater impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt than the existing development. This is as a result of its 
increased scale, height and massing.  
 
It is therefore considered that the proposed development would be more visually dominant 
and spatially prominent than the existing single-storey garage structure and would thus 
have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt. The development is therefore, 
by definition, inappropriate development. Very Special Circumstances are not considered 
demonstrated in this case and the development is contrary to both local and national 
Green Belt policy and the proposal should be refused on this basis.  
 
CHARACTER, APPEARANCE, AONB AND HERITAGE: 
 
Policy D1, D2, D3 and D5 of the Placemaking Plan have regard to the character and 
appearance of a development and its impact on the character and appearance of the host 
building and wider area. Development proposals will be supported, if amongst other things 
they contribute positively to and do not harm local character and distinctiveness. 
Development will only be supported where, amongst other things, it responds to the local 
context in terms of appearance, materials, siting, spacing and layout and the appearance 
of extensions respect and complement their host building.  

Page 82



 
Concerns have been raised regarding the design of the proposal in relation to the material 
palette, its contrast to the surrounding buildings and it not being in-keeping with its 
surroundings generally.  
 
The proposed building will be two-storey with a pitched roof. A single storey element will 
project from the left hand side elevation as the building is viewed from the access track. 
This will feature a catslide style lean-to roof. The materials proposed include rubble stone 
walling, timber cladding, aluminium to the eaves and gutters and profiled fibre cement 
roofing.  
 
The surrounding residential dwellings and farm buildings are largely constructed from 
stone and do not feature large amounts of timber cladding. However, the overall design 
concept of the proposed building does reflect the character of the farm buildings on the 
adjacent site. The use of fibre cement roofing reflects the agricultural character of the 
immediate locality. Should permission be granted, which is not the recommendation, a 
condition could secure a sample of the timber cladding. Timber cladding weathers 
naturally in most cases. Officers consider it is an appropriate material within an agricultural 
context. The gabled ends mirror the characteristics of nearby dwellings. The proposed 
building is larger than the existing garage and therefore it does appear more dominant 
within the immediate street scene. However, its design is considered to reflect the 
agricultural perspective and there is no objection from the case officer in this regard.  
 
The proposed dwelling is located near to Tadwick House, a Grade II Listed Buildings and 
Manor Farmhouse, also Grade II Listed. Accordingly, the Council's Listed Buildings Officer 
was consulted on the application. It was not considered that the proposal would cause 
harm to the setting of these Listed Buildings and there is no objection on Heritage 
Grounds. 
 
The application site is within an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. Policy NE2 states 
that development within an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty should conserve or 
enhance the local landscape character, features and distinctiveness. The proposal is 
considered to conserve the existing landscape character, given its location on land which 
has previously been developed. 
 
The proposal is considered to accord with policies D1, D2, D3, D4, D5, HE1 and NE2 of 
the Placemaking Plan (2017).  
 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY: 
 
Policy D6 sets out to ensure developments provide an appropriate level of amenity space 
for new and future occupiers, relative to their use and avoiding harm to private amenity in 
terms of privacy, light and outlook/overlooking.  
 
Concerns have been raised regarding loss of outlook as a result of the building and the 
location of the roof lights enabling views into the adjacent farm. 
 
In regard to the roof lights, officers do not consider that they would cause a significant loss 
of privacy. The angle of roof lights, within the roof plan, make them difficult to look out of, 
unless they are open. The roof lights are positioned so that they do not directly 

Page 83



overlooking the farmyard. Given the location of the building adjacent to a farm building 
which is not used for residential purposed, it is not considered that it will cause additional 
overshadowing, overlooking and overbearing to these occupiers.  
 
Another resident has commented that the proposal will be visible from their main property 
windows. Officers note that the existing garage has a lesser height than the proposed 
building. The proposal will therefore block some view from the properties set on the 
opposite side of the lane. However, there is no right to a view and the proposal is 
considered to be located a sufficient distance away so as to not negatively impact the 
outlook of these residents to an extent which would result in significant harm to residential 
amenity.  
 
Given the design, scale, massing and siting of the proposed development the proposal 
would not cause significant harm to the amenities of any occupiers or adjacent occupiers 
through loss of light, overshadowing, overbearing impact, loss of privacy, noise, smell, 
traffic or other disturbance. The proposal accords with policy D6 of the Placemaking Plan 
for Bath and North East Somerset (2017) and paragraph 17 and part 7 of the NPPF. 
 
HIGHWAYS SAFETY AND PARKING: 
 
Policy ST7 states that development will only be permitted provided, amongst other things, 
the development avoids an increase in on street parking in the vicinity of the site which 
would detract from highway safety and/ or residential amenity. 
 
Concerns have been raised regarding highway safety and parking. Residents have 
concerns that additional traffic will be generated by the development if it is used 
commercially. The proposal is for ancillary use, in connection with Pear Tree Cottage. 
Highways have stated that as long as the proposal remains ancillary to the main house, 
they would have no objection as the development will not impact the existing access and 
sufficient parking for the main house and annexe will be provided. One car parking space 
is proposed and if permission were being granted, which is not the case, then this could 
be secured through condition. 
 
The means of access and parking arrangements are acceptable and maintain highway 
safety standards. The proposal accords with policy ST7 of the Placemaking Plan for Bath 
and North East Somerset (2017) and part 4 of the NPPF. 
 
ANCILLARY USE: 
 
Concerns have been raised regarding whether the use of the proposed building will be 
truly ancillary to the main property, or whether it would operate as a dwelling in its own 
right. The location of the ancillary accommodation is such that it could be accessed and 
use independently of the main dwellinghouse, Little Pear Tree Cottage. Officers are 
therefore not satisfied that the ancillary use could be solely controlled through condition. 
The proposed building will feature a home office and home gym for use by the occupiers 
of Little Pear Tree Cottage, as well as guest accommodation. Officers consider that an 
appropriate method of control in this case would be a legal agreement to tie the proposed 
annexe to the main house to ensure ancillary use. If permission were being 
recommended, which it is not, then officers consider a legal agreement should be sought 
to tie the use as ancillary. 

Page 84



 
ECOLOGY: 
 
A completed bat survey and assessment report has been submitted as part of the 
application is the findings have been deemed acceptable by the Council's Ecologist. 
Conditions should be attached should permission be granted, which is not the officer's 
recommendation, which ensure Wildlife Protection and Mitigate and a condition ensuring 
that any new external lighting shall not be installed without details first being submitted to 
the local authority.  
 
OTHER MATTERS: 
 
A number of concerns have been raised regarding the storage of ammonium nitrate and 
the fire risk that this poses to any future users of the annexe. Environmental Protection 
were consulted on the application and did not raise any concerns regarding this matter. 
Officers consider that it is the responsibility of the landowner to ensure that ammonium 
nitrate and other chemicals are stored appropriately in accordance with The Health and 
Safety at Work Act.  
 
Environmental Protection did raise concerns regarding potential noise and odour from the 
nearby farm building and recommended assessments to determine whether mitigation 
measures were required to protect any future occupiers. The case officer considers that 
these surveys would be onerous in this  case. The proposed building would be ancillary 
accommodation, rather than independent occupation. The level of use is therefore unlikely 
to be similar to the level of use which an independent dwelling would have and as such, 
such as assessment is not considered necessary in this case.   
 
CONCLUSION:  
 
The proposal is considered to be inappropriate development within the Green Belt and it is 
therefore recommended for refusal. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

REFUSE 
 
REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL 
 
 1 The proposal represents inappropriate development which is by definition harmful to the 
Green Belt and would be harmful to the openness of this part of the Green Belt. The 
proposal is therefore contrary to policy CP8 of the adopted Core Strategy (2013) and 
policy GB1 of the Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset (2017) and part 13 
of the NPPF. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 This decision relates to the following plans:  
 
415.P.010. P1. SITE PLAN as Proposed 
415.P.100. P1. GROUND FLOOR PLAN as Proposed 
415.P.101. P1. FIRST FLOOR PLAN as Proposed 

Page 85



415.P.102. P1. ROOF PLAN as Proposed 
415.P.200. P1. SECTION as Proposed 
415.P.300. P1. ELEVATION as Proposed 
415.P.301. P1. ELEVATION as Proposed 
415.P.302. P1. ELEVATION as Proposed 
415.P.303. P1. ELEVATION as Proposed 
 
All received 19th September 2020 
 
 2 In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied 
with the aims of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework. Notwithstanding 
informal advice offered by the Local Planning Authority the submitted application was 
unacceptable for the stated reasons and the applicant was advised that the application 
was to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the applicant chose not to withdraw the 
application and having regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay the Local Planning 
Authority moved forward and issued its decision. In considering whether to prepare a 
further application the applicant's attention is drawn to the original discussion/negotiation. 
 
 3 Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. Whilst the above application 
has been refused by the Local Planning Authority please note that CIL applies to all 
relevant planning permissions granted on or after this date. Thus any successful appeal 
against this decision may become subject to CIL. Full details are available on the 
Council's website www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 86



Item No:   04 

Application No: 20/04365/PIP 

Site Location: 113 Wellsway Keynsham Bristol Bath And North East Somerset BS31 
1HZ 

 

 

Ward: Keynsham East  Parish: Keynsham Town Council  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Hal McFie Councillor Andy Wait  

Application Type: Permission in Principle 

Proposal: Permission in Principle Planning Application for the erection of one 
dwelling. 

Constraints: Bristol Airport Safeguarding, Saltford Airfield 3km buffer, Agric Land 
Class 3b,4,5, Policy CP9 Affordable Housing Zones, Housing 
Development Boundary, MOD Safeguarded Areas, Neighbourhood 
Plan, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones, Policy ST8 Safeguarded Airport & 
Aerodro,  

Applicant:  Mr John Tavener 

Expiry Date:  16th February 2021 

Case Officer: Isabel Daone 

To view the case click on the link here. 

 
REPORT 
This planning application is for permission in principle for 1no. dwelling at 113 Wellsway. 
The existing site is a long plot, which houses a single dwelling and annexe to the rear. The 
property has pedestrian access from Wellsway and its vehicular access is from Manor 
Road to the rear. The site is within the Keynsham Housing Development Boundary.  
 
Reasons for going to committee: 
 
Keynsham Town Council objected to the planning application and the case officer is 
minded to permit the application. Accordingly, the application was referred to the Chair 
and Vice Chair of the Planning Committee.  

Page 87

http://webadmin/planning/details.html?refval=20/04365/PIP#details_Section


 
The Vice Chair stated that "I have looked carefully at this application & note the limited 
areas to be considered which have been clearly assessed & linked to the relevance of 
consultee comments including KTC objections. 
I think the land use in particular would benefit from debate in the public arena, therefore I 
recommend the application be determined by the planning committee." 
  
 
The chair stated in his decision that "I have looked at the application, and the issues 
raised by the PC. I feel that matters should be further discussed at Committee." 
 
 
Relevant Planning History: 
 
99/02919/FUL 
PERMIT - 26 November 1999 
Dormer extension (to Manor Road frontage) 
 
00/02343/FUL 
PERMIT - 17 January 2001 
Single storey rear extension and detached double garage amended by plan received 
4.01.2001 and 21.02.2001 
 
DC - 19/05371/FUL 
PERMIT - 5 February 2020 
Conversion of garage to ancillary living accommodation. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Consultation Responses :  
 
KEYNSHAM TOWN COUNCIL: 
Objection, summarised as follows-  
- Contrary to condition 2 of application 19/05371/FUL (annexe to remain ancillary) 
- The access/egress proposed for the development is positioned at a point on the 
Wellsway that is not safe for vehicles to be merging into the main busy flow of traffic on a 
bend at this part of the Wellsway and is would be close to the junction with Chewton 
Road. Visibility is questioned. 
- Contrary to policies D4 and ST7 
 
DC HIGHWAYS: 
No objection, summarised as follows: 
- The site is in an accessible area with a choice of transport modes 
- No access proposal is presented at this stage 
- However, Highways are of the view that the location could conceivably be served 
by a suitable access for pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles 
- Matters of access, parking, drainage and waste management will be considered at 
TDC stage 
- Based on the location, land-use and amount of development, Highways would raise 
no objection to this proposal 
 

Page 88



 
Representations Received :  
 
5 objections have been received. The main points have been categorised for clarity and 
are summarised as follows: 
 
Character and appearance: 
- Incongruous overdevelopment 
- Out of keeping with the existing pattern of development along the Wellsway 
- The terrace and garden frontages of nos. 109-113 contribute to the open and quite 
rural street scape on this part of Wellsway which can be seen from the Chew Valley 
- Any new dwelling built at no.113 within the front garden would interfere with the 
long-established building line and would impact on the aesthetics of the existing terrace 
and street scape 
- The proposal would erode the open, undeveloped character of the frontage of the 
terrace of nos. 109-113 
- Represents a cramped for of overdevelopment at odds with the surrounding area 
- The uncharacteristically close relationship between the rows of development would 
make the new build appear visually discordant 
- It is also relevant to note that 113 is also quite densely occupied with planning 
permission having been granted for the conversion of the existing garage into ancillary 
living accommodation 
- Hedging and trees may be lost to accommodate the dwelling 
- Contrary to policies CP6, D1 and D2 
- The location is not an acceptable one for the form of development being proposed 
 
Residential amenity: 
- The siting of a dwelling would mean a very large area of the application site being 
taken up with a building, access, parking spaces and turning space resulting in limited 
amenity space for both the occupier of no.113 and any new dwelling 
- Loss of privacy and increased noise 
 
Highway safety and parking: 
- Concerned about access onto a busy and narrow part of Wellsway 
- Junction from Chewton Keynsham will cause further problems 
- Planning statement fails to outline that issues relevant to the "in principle" matters 
should also be considered at this stage; access onto the Wellsway is a fundamental issue 
which in my opinion should be addressed at this stage 
- Without an access a dwelling cannot be constructed on this plot 
- The applicant has not provided any evidence of road speed, despite indicating 
access from Wellsway 
- A visibility splay of 43m by 2.4m is required for a 30mph road. The level of 
achievable visibility is likely to fall significantly short of this meaning safe access cannot be 
achieved, contrary to ST7 
- The NPPF states that development should only be refused on highways grounds if 
there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety. The provision of an access 
onto the Wellsway would be contrary to the requirements of the NPPF as it has not been 
demonstrated that a safe access can be provided.  

Page 89



- Government guidance states that when granting PIP's the Local Authority can set 
out what they would expect at Technical Details Consent Stage. The decision notice 
should fully set out the access requirements to satisfy policy ST7 
- Site is close to blind bend 
- No practicable access from Manor Road 
- 30MPH limit often exceeded and accidents have occurred near the site 
- If there are any fundamental barriers which indicate a development of one dwelling 
on this site would not be acceptable, the application may be reasonably refused - contrary 
to the planning statement, this could include matters of highway safety 
- The issue of highway safety may be relevant in determining a PIP in cases where 
the means of access may not be acceptable as a matter of principle 
- To achieve the require splays, control of third-party land and the removal of 
impediments to the splays would be needed - outside the gift of the applicant 
 
Other: 
- Will set an undesirable precedent for the development of the front or rear gardens 
on Wellsway 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
National Policy: 
 
The Town and Country Planning (Permission in Principle) (Amendment) Order 2017 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in February 2019 and is a 
material consideration. Due consideration has been given to the provisions of the National 
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG). 
 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The 
Development Plan for Bath and North East Somerset comprises: 
 
o Bath & North East Somerset Core Strategy (July 2014) 
o Bath & North East Somerset Placemaking Plan (July 2017) 
o West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011)  
o Bath & North East Somerset saved Local Plan policies (2007) not replaced by the 
Core Strategy or the Placemaking Plan: 
- Policy GDS.1 Site allocations and development requirements (policy framework) 
- Policy GDS.1/K2: South West Keynsham (site) 
- Policy GDS.1/NR2: Radstock Railway Land (site) 
- Policy GDS.1/V3: Paulton Printing Factory (site) 
- Policy GDS.1/V8: Former Radford Retail System's Site, Chew Stoke (site) 
o Made Neighbourhood Plans  
 
Core Strategy: 
 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the 
determination of this application:  
 

Page 90



CP6: Environmental Quality 
DW1: District Wide Spatial Strategy  
SD1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
 
Placemaking Plan: 
 
The Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the 
Council on 13th July 2017. The following policies of the Placemaking Plan are relevant to 
the determination of this application:  
 
D1: General urban design principles 
D2: Local character and distinctiveness 
D3: Urban fabric 
D5: Building design  
D6: Amenity 
ST7: Transport requirements for managing development  
 
 
LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
ASSESSMENT SCOPE: 
The permission in principle consent route is an alternative way of obtaining planning 
permission for housing-led development. It separates the consideration of matters of 
principle for the proposal from the technical detail of the development. There are therefore 
2 stages to this permission route. The first stage is through obtaining permission in 
principle, which established whether a site is suitable for the proposed development in 
principle. The second stage (Technical Details Consent)  is when the detailed 
development proposals are assessed.  
 
The scope of a permission in principle application is limited to location, land use and the 
amount of development. Other matters should be considered at the Technical Details 
Consent stage. 
 
This application is the first stage of the process and seeks to establish whether the site is 
suitable for the erection of 1no. dwelling in principle.  
 
SITE DESCRIPTION: 
 
The application site relates to 113 Wellsway. The site location plan shows the area of land 
which is subject to this application (outlined in red). The applicant owns the entire plot and 
this land is shown in blue. The application site is located forward to no.113 Wellsway, 
fronting onto Wellsway Road.  

Page 91



 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT: 
 
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) sets out what can be considered when 
assessing a permission in principle application. At the first stage of the process, local 
authorities should only consider the location of development, land use and the amount of 
development. 
 
The primary issue to therefore consider is the whether the proposed location is suitable for 
residential development for, in this case, one dwelling. All other matters such as site 
layout, design and appearance, residential amenity, highway safety/access/parking, 
ecology etc. should be considered at the Technical Details Consent stage.  
 
The application site is located within the Keynsham Housing Development Boundary. 
Policy KE1 of the Core Strategy allows for residential development within the established 
Housing Development Boundary. It has been raised by residents that the location would 
result in a cramped form of overdevelopment and the proposal will be at odds with the 
surrounding character. Character can be assessed at this stage of this type of planning 
application if it relates to a principle matter. The applicant is under no obligation to supply 
a site layout plan and in this place no indication has been provided as to where the 
dwelling would be located within the site. The site is in a sustainable location, within an 
established Housing Development Boundary and borders other residential sites. Whilst 
nos.109-113 are set back from the highway with long front gardens, there are dwellings 
located adjacent to the site which are forward of this building line. The grain and character 
of development at this point in the street scene is mixed to some degree. As such, in 
principle, it is considered that the site could house a dwelling in this location. At Technical 
Details stage the relationship with surrounding built form would be assessed, when a site 
layout plan is submitted. The applicant would need to successfully demonstrate that the 
proposed dwelling responded to the local context and character, in order to comply with 
local planning policy. If this could not be successfully demonstrated, technical details 
consent could be refused. 
 
It is therefore acceptable in principle in regard to location. In addition, highways have 
suggested that access to the site could conceivably be made which also supports the 
location in principle.  At the Technical Details Consent stage, the design, site layout and 
response to the local context would be considered in line with the Council's design 
policies.  
 
In terms of land use, the site is already within a C3 residential use in that it forms the 
garden area of an existing residential property. The provision of residential development is 
considered acceptable in principle as this land use is already established.  
 
The proposal seeks to erect 1no. dwelling on this site. Although the plot size is not as 
large as some of those surrounding it, its width is similar to the adjacent plot. Having 
regard to the footprint of surrounding dwellings, distance from neighbouring properties and 
the plot size, the erection of 1no. dwelling is considered to be an appropriate amount of 
development and this is therefore acceptable in principle. At Technical Details Consent 
stage a suitable site layout would need to be put forward.  
 
OTHER MATTERS: 

Page 92



 
A number of residents and Keynsham Town Council have raised a number of concerns 
regarding the access to the development, which is likely to be off of Wellsway. It has been 
raised that this should be considered an "in principle issue". The Highways Team have 
been consulted and have raised no objection to the proposal. The site is in a location 
which could be access by various transport modes. It is considered that the site could 
facilitate an access and so, in principle there is no objection. The applicant's attention is 
drawn to the comments and concerns of residents in relation to highway safety. Sufficient 
detail will need to be submitted at Technical Details Consent stage to demonstrate that a 
safe and suitable access can be achieved for all highway users.  
 
Keynsham Town Council have raised that this application is contrary to Condition 2 of 
application 19/05371/FUL. This application was for the conversion of a garage to ancillary 
living accommodation at 113 Wellsway. The application was permitted with conditions 
which prevented the separation of the ancillary accommodation into its own planning unit. 
The current PIP application does not relate to the ancillary accommodation, which is 
located to the rear of 113 Wellsway and fronts Manor Road. The current application site is 
located to the front of 113 Wellsway. The granting of this PIP would not allow the ancillary 
accommodation to be used separately from the main dwellinghouse.  
 
Officers acknowledge the concerns of residents pertaining to design, character and 
appearance, residential amenity and highways. However, these are details which will be 
assessed at Technical Details Consent stage.  
 
CONCLUSION:  
 
It is therefore considered that the proposal complies with the relevant planning policies as 
outlined above and the proposal is recommended for approval. No conditions are 
recommended because conditions cannot be attached to Permission in Principle 
Decisions as per the guidance set out in the National Framework. An informative will be 
added to any permission reminding the applicant that a Technical Details Consent 
application must be made within 3 years of the date of any permission. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 This decision relates to the following plans: 
 
Site Location Plan. Received 19th November 2020 
 
 2 An application for Technical Details Consent must be made prior to commencement of 
development and no later than the expiration of three years from the date on this decision 
notice, after this period this Planning Permission in Principle shall lapse. 
 

Page 93



Item No:   05 

Application No: 20/03714/LBA 

Site Location: 1 Cambridge Place Widcombe Hill Widcombe Bath Bath And North 
East Somerset 

 

 

Ward: Widcombe And Lyncombe  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: II 

Ward Members: Councillor Alison Born Councillor Winston Duguid  

Application Type: Listed Building Consent (Alts/exts) 

Proposal: External alterations to install secondary glazing to existing windows, 
2no. on front elevation, 2no. to side elevation, and 2no. to rear 
elevation. 

Constraints: Article 4 Bath Demolition Wall, Article 4 Reg 7: Estate Agent, Article 4 
HMO, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Policy B4 WHS - Indicative Extent, 
Policy B4 WHS - Boundary, British Waterways Major and EIA, British 
Waterways Minor and Householders, Conservation Area, Policy CP9 
Affordable Housing Zones, Listed Building, MOD Safeguarded Areas, 
Policy NE1 Green Infrastructure Network, Policy NE5 Ecological 
Networks, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Chris Born 

Expiry Date:  12th January 2021 

Case Officer: Laura Batham 

To view the case click on the link here. 

 
REPORT 
This application is called to Committee as the applicant is a Local Ward Member. 
 
Site Description: 
The proposal property is a Grade II listed building. The site is within the designated 
conservation area and the wider World Heritage Site of Bath. It occupies an elevated 
position located towards the bottom of Widcombe Hill in the area just to the south of the 

Page 94

http://webadmin/planning/details.html?refval=20/03714/LBA#details_Section


city of Bath. It consists of two semi-detached villas dating from the early 19th century 
(circa 1820) which are attributed to John Pinch.  
 
Proposal: 
External alterations to install secondary glazing to existing windows, 2no. on front 
elevation, 2no. to side elevation, and 2no. to rear elevation. 
 
History: 
AP - 12/00101/LBRF - ALLOW - 23 April 2013 - Internal and external alterations for the 
installation of solar panels and roof access hatches on numbers 1 and 2 Cambridge 
Place. 
 
DC - 12/00969/LBA - RF - 5 July 2012 - Internal and external alterations for the installation 
of solar panels and roof access hatches on numbers 1 and 2 Cambridge Place. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Bath Preservation Trust: 
1 Cambridge Place forms one of a pair of Grade II late Georgian semi-detached dwellings 
situated in the Bath conservation area and World Heritage Site. The building as a whole 
features six-over-six single glazed bordered sash windows. Although it is unclear as to 
whether these windows are original to the building, the existing fenestration style matches 
the blind windows running down the centre of the building's street-facing elevation. 
 
In principle, the Trust is supportive of the installation of secondary glazing to improve the 
thermal performance of the building without compromising its historic features. The use of 
magnetic secondary glazing is a less invasive, reversible measure. We feel this measure 
would be a positive, easily reversible addition to improve the energy efficiency and 
residential comfort of a historic building and ensure its long-term, sustainable use with a 
negligible visual impact. 
 
However, we query why certain windows appear to have been excluded from the scheme, 
such as those on the second floor. The Trust emphasises the benefits of a whole house 
approach to energy efficient retrofits, and highlight that any less than substantial visual 
effects of installation would be further mitigated by ensuring the continued, uniform 
appearance of the building's principle elevation across all floors. 
 
No further comments received. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Council has a statutory requirement under Section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 in considering whether to grant listed building 
consent for any works to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building 
or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 
 
With respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area the Council has a 
statutory requirement under Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of that conservation area. 
 

Page 95



The Revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 is national policy in the 
conservation and enhancement of the historic environment which must be taken into 
account by the Council together with the related guidance given in the Planning Practice 
Guidance (PPG).  
  
The Council must have regard to its development plan where material in considering 
whether to grant listed building consent for any works. 
 
The statutory Development Plan for B&NES comprises: 
-       Core Strategy (July 2014) 
-       Placemaking Plan (July 2017) 
-       B&NES Local Plan (2007) - only saved Policy GDS.1 relating to 4 part implemented 
sites 
-       Joint Waste Core Strategy 
-       Made Neighbourhood Plans 
 
Core Strategy: 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the 
determination of this application:  
- CP6 - Environmental quality 
- B4 - The World Heritage Site (where applicable) 
- CP1  Retrofitting Existing Buildings 
- CP2 Sustainable Construction 
 
Placemaking Plan: 
The Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the 
Council on 13th July 2017. The following policies of the Placemaking Plan are relevant to 
the determination of this application:  
- HE1 Historic Environment 
 
Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy Guidance For Listed Buildings and Undesignated 
Historic Buildings 
 
LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
The application seeks consent to install secondary glazing within windows on the ground 
and first floor of the property. The current windows are single glazed and serve main living 
accommodation bedrooms and the stairs. The secondary glazing proposed is a system 
which uses an acrylic glazing product affixed using magnetic tapes. This type of system 
has been used in other properties in Bath and is considered to be a sensitive addition to 
the building. The method of affixing the glass is reversible and will not harm the character 

Page 96



of the listed building. The windows in the property are very large and the alterations will 
improve the thermal efficiency of the building.  
 
Comments from the Bath preservation Trust has raised concerns as to why the secondary 
glazing is not proposed for all of the windows in the building. It is the applicant's choice to 
apply the secondary glazing and it is not considered that omitting some windows will harm 
the appearance of the building.  
 
Low Carbon and sustainable credential: 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. This application involves a listed building and 
has been assessed against the relevant policies and guidance as identified, and these 
have been fully considered in the recommendation made. In this case the alterations will 
improve efficiency of the property and ensure that alterations are in keeping with the listed 
building.    
 
Conclusion: 
There is a duty under Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990, when considering whether to grant listed building consent for any works, 
to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. Here it is 
considered that the proposals are consistent with the aims and requirements of the 
primary legislation and planning policy and guidance. The proposals would be an 
acceptable alteration to the listed building that preserves its significance as a designated 
heritage asset. The proposal accords with policy HE.1 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Placemaking Plan and part 16 of the NPPF. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

CONSENT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Time Limit - Listed Building Consent (Compliance) 
The works hereby approved shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the 
date of this consent. 
 
Reason: To comply with Section 18 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 Integrated sliding sash cosy glazing drawings received on 12th October 2020 

Page 97



Block Plan received on 13th November 2020 
Location plan received on 13th November 2020 
Floor plan received on 17th November 2020 
 
 2 Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit an application to 
Discharge Conditions and pay the relevant fee via the Planning Portal at 
www.planningportal.co.uk or post to Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, 
Bath, BA1 1JG. 
 
 3 Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. Before commencing any 
development on site you should ensure you are familiar with the CIL process. If the 
development approved by this permission is CIL liable there are requirements to assume 
liability and notify the Council before development commences, failure to comply with the 
regulations can result in surcharges and additional payments. Full details about the CIL 
Charge including, amount and process for payment will be sent out in a CIL Liability 
Notice which you will receive shortly. Further details are available here: 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 
 4 Responding to Climate Change (Informative): 
 
The council is committed to responding to climate change. You are advised to consider 
sustainable construction when undertaking the approved development and consider using 
measures aimed at minimising carbon emissions and impacts on climate change. 
 
 5 Permit/Consent Decision Making Statement 

Page 98



 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 99



Item No:   06 

Application No: 20/03255/FUL 

Site Location: Larkhall Sports Club Charlcombe Lane Charlcombe Bath Bath And 
North East Somerset 

 

 

Ward: Bathavon North  Parish: Charlcombe  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Kevin Guy Councillor Sarah Warren  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of a 20m high monopole supporting 3no. antennas and 2no. 
0.3mm dishes above the top of the pole, the installation of 1no. 
equipment cabinet on new base and the installation of ancillary 
equipment. 

Constraints: Article 4 The Swainswick Valley, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Policy B4 
WHS - Indicative Extent, Policy CP8 Green Belt, Policy CP9 
Affordable Housing Zones, Policy LCR5 Safeguarded existg sport & 
R, MOD Safeguarded Areas, Policy NE2 AONB, Policy NE2A 
Landscapes and the green set, Policy NE5 Ecological Networks, 
SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Vodafone Ltd 

Expiry Date:  11th February 2021 

Case Officer: Chris Griggs-Trevarthen 

To view the case click on the link here. 

 
REPORT 
REASON FOR REPORTING TO COMMITTEE 
Cllr. Sarah Warren has requested that the application is determined by committee if 
officers are minded to recommend approval. Swainswick Parish Council and Charlcombe 
Parish Council have also objected to the proposal. In accordance with the scheme of 
delegation the application was referred to the chair and vice chair of the planning 
committee. 
 

Page 100

http://webadmin/planning/details.html?refval=20/03255/FUL#details_Section


The chair of the planning committee made the following comments: 
 
"Having regard to my declaration of interest to the December meeting of the planning 
committee and the level of public interest in this planning application, this decision should 
be made by the Vice-Chair." 
 
The vice chair made the following comments: 
 
"I have studied the application and association information, some of which is very detailed, 
all points raised have been considered as the application has been assessed against 
relevant planning policies. It is clearly controversial, as was a similar one which was 
determined by the planning committee, and the Ward Cllr has requested this one be 
determined by the planning committee if recommended for approval.  To remain 
consistent with similar applications in the area and our decision-making process, I 
recommend the application be determined by the planning committee." 
 
The application is therefore referred to the committee in accordance with the decision of 
the vice-chair of the planning committee. 
 
 
DESCRIPTION 
The application site comprises a small parcel of land (0.1 hectares) in the north west 
corner of Larkhall Sports Club adjacent to Woolley Lane. The site is currently grassland 
which does not form any part of any playing pitches. 
 
There is a broad boundary tree belt to the north of the proposed development and a 
boundary hedge to its west. 
 
The site is situated within the Bristol and Bath Green Belt, the Cotswolds Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and, although not within its boundary, falls within the 
setting of the City of Bath World Heritage Site. There is a site of nature conservation 
interest (SNCI) located to the southwest of the site on the opposite side of Charlcombe 
Lane. There is a grade II listed building (Twinfield Farm) approximately 150m to the north 
of the site. 
 
This application seeks the erection of a 20m high monopole supporting 3no. antennas and 
2no. 0.3mm dishes above the top of the pole, the installation of 1no. equipment cabinet on 
new base and the installation of ancillary equipment. The total height of the proposals with 
the antennas on top of the proposed mast is 23.4m. 
 
The applicants have submitted a supporting statement with the proposal and have also 
provided a Certificate complying with the International Commission on Non-Ionising 
Radiation Protection (ICNIRP) guidelines on the limitation of exposure of the general 
public to electromagnetic fields. 
 
 
PLANNING HISTORY AND OTHER RELEVANT APPLICATIONS 
 
Application reference: 20/01315/TEL 
Applicant: Sinclair Dalby Ltd 

Page 101



Description: The erection of a 20m high monopole supporting 3no. antennas and 2no. 
0.3mm dishes above the top of the pole, the installation of 1no. equipment cabinet on new 
base and the installation of ancillary equipment. 
Status: WITHDRAWN - 29th May 2020 
 
There is an existing telecommunication mast located in the same field approximately 60m 
to the south of the current proposals. The planning history for this mast is listed below: 
 
Application reference: 04/01170/FUL 
Applicant: Hutchison 3G UK Ltd 
Description: Erection of telecommunications base station comprising 15m high monopole 
and equipment cabinet measuring 1.5m x 1.96m x 0.7m 
Status: PERMITTED - 16th June 2004 
 
Application reference: 19/05534/FUL 
Applicant: Waldon Telcoms Ltd 
Description: Erection of 20 metre-high telecommunications monopole accommodating 6no 
antenna apertures, 4no transmission dishes and 8no ground-based equipment cabinets. 
Status: REFUSED - 17th December 2020 
 
 
ENVIRONMENT IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
This application proposal has been screened under the Town and County Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 and it has been determined that 
the application does not represent EIA development and that an Environmental Statement 
is not required. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
A summary of consultation responses to the application have been provided below. 
 
LANDSCAPE: No objection, subject to conditions 
 
CONSERVATION: Scope for revision 
 
Based on the available evidence, the mast will have a very minor, almost negligible, 
harmful impact on the setting of the listed building. 
 
When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's conservation. This 
is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or 
less than substantial harm to its significance. Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 
designated heritage asset should require clear and convincing justification. Under the 
NPPF where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the 
public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable 
use. The courts have held that even a very low level/negligible level still amounts to less 
than substantial harm and must be given appropriate weight in the planning balance.  
 
In this case, it is recognised that the wider public benefits of mobile technology would be 
material to the planning balance. 

Page 102



 
ECOLOGY: No objection, subject to conditions 
 
HIGHWAYS: No objection, subject to condition 
 
SWAINSWICK PARISH COUNCIL: Objection 
 
This Council objects to this application on these grounds: 
1. The proposed masts proximity to residential properties, schooling and leisure 
activity areas. 
2. The structure's intrusion into an AONB. 
3. At 20 metres high the visual impact on local residents and also when entering this 
World Heritage City from the Swainswick/Woolley valley along the lanes or from the A46, 
is unacceptable. 
4. 5g technology is not proven regarding its safety/potential impact on people and this 
location maximises any risk to, in particular, the younger generations that frequent this 
area. 
 
CHARLCOMBE PARISH COUNCIL: Objection 
 
Charlcombe Parish Council remains strongly opposed to this application, as it was with 
the previous and almost identical application 20/01315/TEL, withdrawn 29th May 2020. A 
consent to this application would mean there being two towers at this site in close 
proximity to each other. The council also feels that that the numerous objections to the 
original application, as above, and those for the upgrading of the existing tower, 
19/05534/FUL, should be taken into consideration for this application as well. 
 
The sports ground lies within the Cotswold National Landscape and is an AONB, as well 
as being very close to the Charlcombe Conservation area. The site is a well-used sports 
ground used for many purposes by the local community and by local schools. Also, the 
lane that runs alongside the site is well used by runners, cyclists, walkers and horse 
riders. 
 
The application remains counter to the policies as stated in our objection to 
20/01315/TEL: - 
 
Greenbelt (Policy CP8): The openness of the Greenbelt will be protected from 
inappropriate development 
 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (Policy NE2A): New development will be expected to 
reinforce the local landscape character and make a positive contribution to the views. 
 
Protected Landscape Setting (Policy NE2A): Any developments should seek to conserve 
and enhance the landscape setting of settlements and their landscape character, views 
and features. 
 
In conclusion, as it did with the application 20/01315/TEL, the council feels that the visual 
impact of this, a second tower, and the assorted antennae, dishes and cabinets would be 
harmful to the vista and enjoyment of this important leisure area. It asks that the 
application be refused. 

Page 103



 
 
COUNCILLOR SARAH WARREN: Comment 
 
This location is in the AONB and Green Belt, 100m from the World Heritage Site and 
directly across a narrow lane from a site of Nature Conservation Interest. The 20m pole 
will be the second such pole in the same field. Even one of these huge 20m poles will 
detract from visual amenity in the AONB and Green Belt, and the public benefit of erecting 
a second in the same field in the World Heritage Site Setting should be seriously called 
into question. If 5G poles are considered permissible at this location, then the functionality 
should be combined onto a single installation. There remain questions, however, about 
the impact of the technology on both wildlife and human health - an environmental impact 
assessment on the nearby site of Nature conservation interest should be carried out, and 
the amenity of local residents, some of whom may consider their health impacted by the 
technology, must be considered. 
 
BATH PRESERVATION TRUST: Comment 
 
There appears to be a misnomer within this planning application; whilst the monopole 
itself would be 20m, the total height of the structure including the proposed antennas 
would be 23.4m. It is this latter height that should be consequently referred to throughout 
the application when considering visual impact. 
 
The Trust maintain concerns regarding the apparent, continued absence of a 
demonstrated scheme or operations plan regarding ongoing upgrades within and around 
Bath. The Trust continue to note that we have reached a period in which a widescale 
replacement of existing, outdated masts is imminent, and therefore it is critical at this 
moment to establish a fixed framework for appropriate mast designs and positions in the 
landscape, as well as Bath's townscape (see application 20/02388/TEL). No mention is 
made regarding rollout proposal discussions with the Cotswolds Conservation Board that 
may have informed the location and design of this proposal, despite the Joint Accord 
signed by Vodafone in 2013. The Trust continue to feel that this application could propose 
an intensification of mast usage in this hillside area of the AONB, in conjunction with the 
existing mast at the junction of Charlcombe Lane and Woolley Lane, which has not been 
demonstratively considered in the weighing of harm against public benefit. 
 
Whilst no tree works are being proposed as part of this application, the Trust feel the 
proposal could exacerbate future pressure on trees to the north and east boundaries of 
the playing field site. The lanes are characterised by the strong presence of hedging and 
grouped mature planting, resulting in an enclosed, verdant appearance, particularly along 
Charlcombe Lane. Consequently, the removal or drastic crowning of mature trees in this 
area would be at the direct detriment to the rural character of the Green Belt and AONB, 
and, should the monopole structure be permitted, it would be dependent on the this tree 
cover to mitigate potential visual harm within short-range and long-range views through 
the AONB, Green Belt, and wider landscape setting of the World Heritage Site. Therefore, 
the Trust emphasise the need for careful consideration of the mast's proposed placement 
and height in relation to boundary tree cover to best prevent future, ongoing detriment to 
the appearance and character of the area. 
 

Page 104



However, should this proposal be deemed acceptable, we feel that the current, more 
slender monopole design is preferable to a more visually bulky lattice tower. The Trust are 
supportive of the applicant's cooperation with B&NES officers to negotiate a more 
appropriate paint colour and finish, should the monopole be approved. The Trust feels that 
a darker colour paint finish would better blend the monopole with its surrounding tree 
cover, particularly as viewed from the north (see Photomontage 4) and across the playing 
field (see Photomontage 2). 
 
 
THIRD PARTIES/NEIGHBOURS:  131 letters of OBJECTION have been received the 
main issues raised were: 
 
A large number of the comments were concerned about the visual impact of the proposed 
replacement mast. The proposed mast was considered too tall and too wide and would 
result in harm to the landscape, the skyline and the important views. It was considered 
harmful to the Cotswold AONB, the Bath World Heritage Site, the Conservation Area and 
the openness of the Green Belt. It is also considered to be inappropriate development in 
the Green Belt. This harm was considered to be emphasised by the design of the mast 
and its utilitarian appearance. 
 
Some comments suggest that the description is misleading by saying that the mast will be 
20m high, when the overall height including the antenna is 23.4m.  
 
Several comments also refer to the cumulative impact of this proposal alongside the 
nearby proposals for a replacement telecommunications mast in the same field 
(19/05534/FUL). There was also concern about a lack of coordination for the strategic 
rollout of new masts. 
 
There were concerns that the proposals would result in the removal of trees which would 
lead to landscape harm, destruction of wildlife habitat and increase flooding in the area. 
There was concern that tree-work had taken place to lower the height of trees and that 
some of the visual impact assessments may therefore be out of date. 
 
A significant number of the comments also raised concerns about the safety of 5G 
technologies, citing the following issues - lack of evidence of safety, evidence of harm to 
humans, animals, insects and plants, concern about impact upon children and other 
vulnerable people. The perception and fear of harm arising from the proposed mast was 
also raised as an issue. Some were also concerned about an invasion of privacy and data 
security risks which it was suggested might arise with 5G technology. 
 
A few comments were concerned that the proposals were contrary to the Council's 
declaration of a Climate and Nature Emergency. 
 
Several comments felt that the proposed mast was unnecessary or that there were 
alternative locations it could be sited. 
 
Several suggestions were made that the application was missing details and technical 
information about the replacement mast and that there was a lack of consultation 
undertaken. 
 

Page 105



Several comments considered that the proposals were contrary to many of the policies 
within the development plan and the NPPF. 
 
 
3 letters of SUPPORT have been received. The main issues raised were: 
 
The comments suggest that the currently level of internet services in Bath is poor with 
huge capacity issues. It is suggested that the proposals will improve this situation. They 
consider this particularly important at the moment. 
 
One letter raises concerns about what is described as the level of baseless hysteria over 
the rollout of 5G technology. They indicate that there is no credible peer reviewed 
scientific evidence that 5G is in anyway harmful. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Development Plan for Bath and North East Somerset comprises: 
o Bath & North East Somerset Core Strategy (July 2014) 
o Bath & North East Somerset Placemaking Plan (July 2017) 
o West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011)  
o Bath & North East Somerset saved Local Plan policies (2007) not replaced by the 
Core Strategy or the Placemaking Plan: 
o Policy GDS.1 Site allocations and development requirements (policy framework) 
o Policy GDS.1/K2: South West Keynsham (site) 
o Policy GDS.1/NR2: Radstock Railway Land (site) 
o Policy GDS.1/V3: Paulton Printing Factory (site) 
o Policy GDS.1/V8: Former Radford Retail System's Site, Chew Stoke (site) 
 
RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the 
determination of this application: 
 
SD1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
DW1 District Wide Spatial Strategy 
B4 Bath World Heritage Site 
CP6 Environmental Quality 
CP8 Green Belt 
 
RELEVANT PLACEMAKING PLAN POLICIES 
The Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the 
Council on 13th July 2017. The following policies of the Placemaking Plan are relevant to 
the determination of this application: 
 
D2 Local Character and Distinctiveness 
D5 Building Design 
D6 Amenity 
D8 Lighting 
GB1 Visual Amenities of the Green Belt 
NE1 Development and Green Infrastructure 
NE2 Conserving and Enhancing the Landscape and Landscape Character 

Page 106



NE2A Landscape Setting of Settlements 
NE3 Sites, Species and Habitats 
NE6 Trees and Woodland Conservation 
PCS1 Pollution and Nuisance 
PCS2 Noise and vibration 
ST7 Transport Requirements for Managing Development 
LCR7A Telecommunications Development 
 
National Planning Policy Framework and the National Planning Practice Guidance can be 
afforded significant weight. 
 
LEGISLATION 
 
There is a duty placed on the Council under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 'In considering whether to grant planning permission 
for development which affects a listed building or its setting' to 'have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural 
or historic interest which it possesses.'   
 
There is also a duty placed on the Council under s85 Countryside and Rights of Way Act 
2000: "In exercising or performing any functions in relation to, or so as to affect, land in an 
area of outstanding natural beauty, a relevant authority shall have regard to the purpose of 
conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the area of outstanding natural beauty." 
 
LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
The main issues to consider are: 
 
1. Principle of development 
2. Green Belt 
3. Landscape, visual impact and heritage 
4. Trees and woodland 
5. Ecology 
6. Highways and access 
7. Health 
8. Very special circumstances 
9. Other matters 
10. Conclusion 
 
1. PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 
 

Page 107



Policy LCR7A of the Placemaking Plan supports the principle of telecommunications 
development and states that they will be permitted if they meet the listed criteria.  
 
Criterion 1 requires that the siting and appearance of the apparatus minimises the impact 
upon visual amenity, character or appearance of the surrounding area. Criterion 4 requires 
the development not to have an unacceptable effect on areas of ecology, landscapes or 
heritage assets such as the World Heritage Site. Both criteria are considered further in the 
landscape, visual impact and heritage section below. 
 
Criterion 2 applies only to apparatus proposed on a building and does not apply in this 
instance. 
 
Criterion 3 requires that, in the case of new masts, it is demonstrated that the possibility of 
erecting apparatus on existing masts or structures has been fully explored. There is an 
existing mast located approximately 60m to the south of this site, but it is a relatively small 
15m high monopole which is not capable of accommodating all of the equipment and 
apparatus of the proposed network provider. It is also proposed that the new mast will be 
used by two providers instead of just a single provider. This will reduce the need for 
additional masts to be in the area whilst ensuring sufficient coverage. 
 
Subject to the consideration of criteria 1 and 4, the principle of a replacement mast in this 
location is acceptable and consistent with policy LCR7A of the Placemaking Plan. 
 
 
2. GREEN BELT 
 
In accordance with paragraph 145 of the NPPF, new buildings (or structures) in the green 
belt are to be regarded as inappropriate development unless they meet one of a few 
limited exceptions. Paragraphs 145 and 146 set out a limited number of exceptions of 
development types which are not considered to be inappropriate in the Green Belt. 
However, none of these exceptions cover the erection of a telecommunications mast. The 
proposed telecommunication mast is therefore considered to be inappropriate 
development in the green belt.  
 
The NPPF states that inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green 
Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances. The case for very 
special circumstances is considered in the relevant section below. 
 
 
3. LANDSCAPE, VISUAL IMPACT AND HERITAGE 
 
The site lies within the Green Belt; The Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty; 
the indicative landscape setting of the settlement of Bath; and the indicative setting of the 
Bath World Heritage Site. These multiple designations underscore the quality and 
importance of the surrounding landscape character, features and views and suggest that it 
may be sensitive to development which is visually prominent. 
 
The submitted photomontages show that while views of the upper part of the mast and the 
antennae are likely to be possible from the portion of Woolley Lane which boarders the 

Page 108



site's western boundary they also demonstrate that the surrounding mature boundary 
vegetation is likely to screen most other views of the mast.  
 
Though the three antennae at its top are likely to be visible because they are above this 
tree line, it is considered that the submitted photomontages demonstrate that they would 
not be a visually prominent feature and would tend to blend into the backdrop of wooded 
hillsides and nucleated settlements in middle distant views from Public Rights of Way on 
higher ground to the north west (PROW BA5/3 and BA5/4); and distant views from the 
higher ground to the west and east (Lansdown, Little Solsbury Hill).  
 
In light of this, it is considered that the landscape and visual impact of the proposed mast 
is unlikely to be significant. 
 
Furthermore, the Larkhall Sports Club already contains a number of manmade vertical 
features including a significant number of floodlighting columns and an existing 15m high 
telecommunications mast in the western corner of the field. In longer views, the sports 
club stands out due to the prevalence of these vertical manmade features and the 
presence of dense conifer tree lines along its eastern boundary. Whilst there will be some 
additional visual impact as a result of the cumulation of manmade features, the 
introduction of an additional 20m telecommunications mast in this context will not 
significantly change the character of the Larkhall Sports Club when viewed within the 
wider landscape. 
 
It is also considered that there is scope for mitigation of the visual impact of the proposals 
upon the landscape through the retention of the bordering tree line and through the design 
including an appropriate colour and finish for the mast and its equipment. Such matters 
could be secured through planning conditions and further reduce the likelihood of any 
significant impacts. 
 
The landscape officer has no objection to the proposals. 
 
The proposals are therefore considered to conserve the natural beauty of the Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, the visual amenity of the Green Belt, the landscape setting of 
the settlement of Bath and the setting of the World Heritage Site. 
 
There is some limited intervisibility between Twinfield Farm (Grade II) and the proposed 
mast. The rural setting of Twinfield is buffered by intervening tree cover. Nevertheless 
submitted imagery of a before and after view looking from Twinfield Farm back towards 
the application site does show a portion of the mast projecting above the trees. This 
feature will appear incongruous in the rural landscape. Based on the available evidence, 
the Conservation Officer considers that the mast will have a very minor, almost negligible, 
harmful impact on the setting of the listed building. 
 
When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's conservation. This 
is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or 
less than substantial harm to its significance. Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 
designated heritage asset should require clear and convincing justification. Under 
paragraph 196 of the NPPF, where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 

Page 109



weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing 
its optimum viable use. Even a very low level/negligible level of harm still amounts to less 
than substantial harm and must be given appropriate weight in the planning balance. 
 
This is considered further in the planning balance section below. 
 
 
4. TREES AND WOODLAND 
 
There is a broad boundary tree belt to the north of the proposed development and a 
boundary hedge to its west.  
 
The proposed site plan (GalifordTry, Drawing Number 200 Rev C) shows the concrete 
base on which the monopole would be positioned as coming close to the tree canopy of 
the boundary tree belt and the proposed 2.1m high boundary fence as overlapping it. 
However, it is assumed the tree canopies shown on this drawing are diagrammatic. 
 
The submitted Arboricultural Report (ACS Consulting dated August 2020) states that no 
tree will be 'lost' 'affected' or 'pruned' as a result of the development proposals and the * 
'Arboricultural Layout' drawing ref ARB/4202/100 shows that the concrete base would not 
encroach upon the Root Protection Area (RPA) of any of the trees within the tree belt. The 
protective tree fencing would need to be adjusted to allow for the construction of the site 
security fence the line of which would encroach within the RPA of two of the surrounding 
trees. The Council's Arboriculturalist therefore has no objection to the proposed 
development provided the submitted Arboricultural method statement is followed during 
construction works. This can be secured by condition. 
 
 
5. ECOLOGY 
 
The site itself is not subject to any ecological designations, although it is fairly near to the 
Charlcombe Lane SNCI. The proposals for a new mast do not raise any significant 
ecological issues. In particular, the Council is satisfied that the proposals are not likely to 
have a significant effect upon any European sites, or have any effects for which a 
European protected species licence would be required. 
 
The Council's ecologist has recommended that, if a landscaping scheme is required, this 
should incorporate measures to benefit wildlife. However, in light of the conclusions in 
respect of the visual impacts of the proposals it is considered that there is no need for a 
landscaping scheme to be secured by condition.  
 
Furthermore, the plans do not indicate that any lighting will be installed on the proposed 
mast. Planning conditions controlling the installation of any new lighting can be utilised to 
prevent any future impacts upon bats or light sensitive species. 
 
 
6. HIGHWAYS AND ACCESS 
 
No changes to the site access from the highway or car parking are proposed. 
 

Page 110



The site plan indicates that the site will be reached from the Highway via the sports club's 
existing access on Valley View Road and then on a proposed temporary access track 
from the field access gate. The location plan indicates the sports ground being accessed 
from the south via Charlcombe Lane and turning tightly right into Valley View Road. This 
route would not be suitable for access due to the layout of the road. This can be controlled 
through a Construction Management Plan. 
 
Due the narrow width, layout and nature of Valley View Road and the challenge that 
bringing construction equipment and materials to this site would bring, a Construction 
Management Plan should be produced to manage the impact on highway safety and 
residential amenity. 
 
The Highways Officer has no objection to this application subject to a Construction 
Management Plan being secured by planning condition. 
 
 
7. HEALTH CONCERNS  
  
Numerous comments have raised health concerns about the use of 5G technology. 
However, the NPPF guidance on this issue is clear and set out in paragraph 116: 
 
"Local planning authorities must determine applications on planning grounds only. They 
should not seek to prevent competition between different operators, question the need for 
an electronic communications system, or set health safeguards different from the 
International Commission guidelines for public exposure." 
 
The applicant has submitted a certificate of compliance with the ICNIRP public exposure 
guidelines. This certifies that, when operational, the proposed mast and apparatus used 
will met the ICNIRP guidelines and will not pose a threat to safety. The ICNIRP guidelines 
have been prepared following a wide-ranging review of scientific data on the effects of 
exposure to human health. This has included major reviews from international 
organisations and original scientific papers.  
 
Various findings from other studies have been submitted in response to the consultation 
on this application. None of these provide evidence which is more compelling than that 
presented by the recent ICNIRP guidelines. In light of the compliance with the ICNIRP 
guidelines, it is considered that the proposals will not have any significant impacts upon 
human health and comply with national and local policy in respect of this matter. 
 
 
8. PLANNING BALANCE 
 
 
As discussed in the Landscape, Visual Impact and Heritage section above, the proposals 
are considered to result in less than substantial harm to the setting of Twinfield Farm. In 
accordance with policy HE1 and paragraph 196 of the NPPF this harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal. 
 
Paragraphs 193 and 194 of the NPPF state that great weight should be given to the 
conservation of a heritage asset and that any harm should require a clear and convincing 

Page 111



justification. Furthermore, there is a duty placed on the Council under Section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 'In considering whether to 
grant planning permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting' to 
'have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.'   
 
The Conservation Officer concludes that the proposed mast will have a very minor, almost 
negligible, harmful impact on the setting of the listed building.  
 
The public benefits of the proposal include the provision of 2G, 3G, 4G network capacity 
and the ability to cater for future network demands including 5G. The wider public benefits 
of providing mobile technology and increased connectivity, particularly during the current 
covid-19 pandemic, are clearly material and are afforded significant weight.  
 
These public benefits are considered to represent a clear and convincing justification for 
the proposals which outweigh the great weight given to the harm to the setting of Twinfield 
Park. The proposals are therefore considered to comply with policy HE1 of the 
Placemaking Plan and the NPPF. 
 
 
Green Belt - Very special circumstances 
 
As indicated above, the proposals are inappropriate development in the Green Belt which 
should only be permitted if very special circumstances exist. Paragraph 144 of the NPPF 
indicates that 'very special circumstances' will not exist unless the potential harm to the 
Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the 
proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.  
 
It should also be noted that the NPPF advises that inappropriate development is, by 
definition, harmful to the Green Belt and that any harm to the Green Belt should be given 
substantial weight. 
 
There are several matters which weigh in favour of the application which must be 
considered in this balance. 
 
Firstly, a base station is required in this locality to maintain the existing 2G, 3G and 4G 
network capacity, following the removal of the former telecommunications installation 
which has now been removed from Colliers Lane to the west. This proposed installation 
will also cater for any future network demands of Vodafone including 5G provision.  
 
The rollout of 5G technology will enable higher capacity, increased bandwidth and lower 
latency than compared to 4G. This will enable significant advancements in terms of 
connectivity, technology and business. It is difficult to quantify the benefits arising from 
these advancements, but it is certainly the case that the currently ongoing public health 
crisis (covid-19) has highlighted the importance of digital connectivity within modern 
society. These benefits are therefore afforded significant weight in the planning balance. 
 
There is strong support from national government for the 5G network roll out expressed 
through the policies of the NPPF. Paragraph 112 states that planning policies and 
decisions should support the expansion of electronic communications networks, including 

Page 112



next generation mobile technology (such as 5G). Furthermore, paragraph 116 of the 
NPPF states that Local Planning Authorities must not seek to prevent competition 
between different operators or question the need for an electronic communications 
system. 
 
Secondly, there is a temporary mast currently providing coverage to the area, also located 
to the west on Colliers Lane. This proposal for a permanent mast would enable the 
temporary mast to be removed. Whilst it is not possible to secure the removal of this 
temporary mast through this application, the granting of permission for a permanent mast 
provides an incentive for the removal of the temporary mast and there is no reason to 
believe that this would not be the case. Therefore, this matter can be given some limited 
weight. 
 
Thirdly, the application includes details of alternative sites which were considered and 
gives reasons why each of these options were discounted. Officers have reviewed the 
alternative sites considered, all of which are also within the Green Belt, and agree with the 
reasons given for not progressing these alternative sites. These included consideration of 
sharing the existing mast located approximately 60m to the south of the application site. 
Given the type of mast structure currently on this site it would not be possible to 
accommodate all the equipment of the various network providers on the existing (15m 
monopole) or recently refused mast (20m monopole). For this site to be capable of 
accommodating the amount of equipment required by these multiple providers, a more 
substantial lattice mast would be required which would likely be 5-8m taller than the 
proposed mast. Such a structure would likely have a much greater visual impact than the 
currently proposed mast. 
 
If this application were to be refused, then the applicant would have to seek permission for 
one of these alternative locations to site the required equipment. Given that these 
locations are also in the Green Belt, they are also likely to be considered inappropriate 
development. As discussed in the visual impact section of this report, Larkhall Sports Club 
already stands out in long views due to the prevalence of these vertical manmade features 
(floodlights, existing masts, etc.) and the presence of dense conifer tree lines along its 
eastern and southern boundaries. This is therefore considered the most appropriate 
location within the locality for the siting of a new mast. 
 
In summary, the accepted need to maintain continuity of existing 2G, 3G and 4G network 
capacity, the (albeit not guaranteed) removal of the temporary mast from Colliers Lane, 
the benefits of and government support for the next generation of mobile technology (5G) 
combined with the consideration and discounting of reasonable alternatives are 
considered to clearly outweigh the harm to the green belt and the negligible harm to the 
setting of Twinfield Farm. No other harm has been identified and it is therefore considered 
that very special circumstances exist which justify the proposed development in the green 
belt. 
 
9. OTHER MATTERS 
 
Cumulative impact and application 19/05534/FUL 
 
Planning application 19/05534/FUL for a replacement of an existing mast nearby was 
refused by the planning committee in December 2020 for the reason of being 

Page 113



inappropriate development in the Green Belt and having a harmful impact upon the AONB 
and local landscape character and local distinctiveness.  
 
The current application is materially different to this nearby recently refused application. 
The current application is for a new mast and not a replacement mast but it is also 
materially different in terms of its design. The currently proposed mast is narrower than 
the previously refused mast and contains a much smaller mast head. This gives the 
currently proposed mast a much less bulky appearance than the recently refused mast.  
 
The applicant for 19/05634/FUL has until June 2021 to appeal against the decision. It 
remains therefore technically possible that application 19/05534/FUL could be allowed at 
appeal and therefore also be erected within 60m of the current application site. However, 
the outcome of such an appeal cannot be known and it will be the responsibility of the 
Inspector to consider the cumulative impacts of the proposals should the current 
application have been approved by the time an appeal is heard.  
 
 
[Public Sector Equality Duty 

 

The Public Sector Equality Duty requires public authorities to have regard to section 149 of the 

Equality Act 2010. The proposals do not raise any particularly significant issues in respect of the 

equalities duty, but a couple of points are noted. 

 

Those with disabilities which limit their independence or elderly people who are home bound can 

often be reliant upon digital and wireless technology to stay connected to their family and friends 

and to access public and private services and goods. The proposed improvements to connectivity 

associated with the roll out of the next generation of mobile networks could potentially benefit 

these groups.  

 

 

Privacy and security 

 

Several comments have been received questioning the security of the latest 5G technology and 

expressing concerns that their privacy may be invaded. No evidence has been submitted to 

substantiate these concerns and there is no reason to consider that the next generation of mobile 

technology will be any less secure than the current generation. Furthermore, these matters do not 

concern themselves with the use of the land. 

 

 

Climate Emergency 

 

Several comments received suggest that the proposals are counter to the Council's declaration of a 

climate and ecological emergency. As is discussed in the report above, the proposals are not 

considered to have any adverse impacts upon ecology and biodiversity. Whilst the construction of a 

mast and the associated equipment will entail some carbon emissions (as most construction projects 

do), the operational phase of the development is unlikely to generate a large amount of carbon 

emissions. Furthermore, new technological contributions to meeting the climate crisis are likely to 

benefit from the increased connectivity provided by the next generation of mobile technology. 

 

 

Page 114



Application errors and consultation 

 

Many comments point to supposed errors or inconsistencies in the application documents or that it 

lacked enough detail to be properly considered. The application has been reviewed by the Local 

Planning Authority and was considered to meet all the requirements of a valid application when it 

was registered. Planning applications need only provide a reasonable and proportionate level of 

detail sufficient to understand what is being proposed. Officers are satisfied that there is enough 

information to determine the application. 

 

Other comments have questioned whether adequate consultation has been undertaken on this 

planning application. Officers can confirm that all consultation requirements for this application 

type, as set out in the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 

(England) Order 2015 and the Council's 'My Neighbourhood' planning protocol document, have 

been met. This includes the erection of a site notice displayed on the site for a period of no less than 

21 days.  

 

 

10. CONCLUSION 

 

The proposed telecommunications mast would conserve the natural beauty of the Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty, the visual amenity of the Green Belt and the landscape setting of the 

settlement of Bath. However, it would constitute inappropriate development in the Green Belt by 

definition and result in very minor harm to the setting of Twinfield Farm. 

 

However, the accepted need to maintain continuity of existing 2G, 3G and 4G network capacity,  

the benefits of, and government support for, the next generation of mobile technology (5G) 

combined with the consideration and discounting of reasonable alternatives are considered to 

represent very special circumstances to justify the proposed development. Furthermore, and 

affording great weight to the conservation of designated heritage assets, the public benefits of the 

proposal are considered to outweigh the identified harm to the setting of Twinfield Farm. 

 

The potential removal of the temporary mast from Colliers Lane may be an added benefit but is not 

secured by this permission and is given only limited weight in this assessment. 

 

The proposals comply with nationally prescribed health safeguards and, subject to suitable 

conditions, do not result in any significant harm to trees, ecology and highways.  

 

It is therefore considered that the proposals accord with the above listed relevant policies of the 

Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy and the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking 

Plan and, in accordance with paragraph 17 of the National Planning Policy Framework, should be 

approved without delay. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 115



 

Item No:   07 

Application No: 20/00023/FUL 

Site Location: Plumb Center Locksbrook Road Newbridge Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset 

 

 

Ward: Newbridge  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Michelle O'Doherty Councillor Mark Roper  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: The demolition of the former Plumb Centre and Genesis Lifestyle 
Centre and the erection of a 3 storey (plus mezzanine) mixed use 
building for 1180m2 of B1c Light Industrial, 290m2 of D2 Assembly 
and Leisure, and 72 student ensuite rooms in cluster flat. 
(Resubmission) 

Constraints: Article 4 Bath Demolition Wall, Article 4 Reg 7: Estate Agent, Article 4 
HMO, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Policy B1 Bath Enterprise Zone, 
Policy B3 Twerton and Newbridge Riversid, Policy B4 WHS - 
Indicative Extent, Policy B4 WHS - Boundary, British Waterways 
Major and EIA, Conservation Area, Contaminated Land, Policy CP9 
Affordable Housing Zones, Policy ED2A Strategic & Other Primary In, 
Flood Zone 2, HMO Stage 1 Test Area (Stage 2 Test Req), LLFA - 
Flood Risk Management, MOD Safeguarded Areas, Policy NE1 
Green Infrastructure Network, Policy NE5 Ecological Networks, River 
Avon and Kennet & Avon Canal, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  S Black 

Expiry Date:  26th February 2021 

Case Officer: Chris Griggs-Trevarthen 

To view the case click on the link here. 

 
REPORT 

Page 116

http://webadmin/planning/details.html?refval=20/00023/FUL#details_Section


REASON FOR REPORTING COMMITTEE 
Cllr. Michelle O'Doherty has requested that the application be determined by committee if 
officers are minded to recommend approval. In accordance with the scheme of delegation 
the application was referred to the chair of the planning committee who has made the 
following comments: 
 
"In the interests of continuity of consideration of this site, the clear intentions of the Local 
Plan and Core Strategy, and the over-ruling conclusions of the planning inspector, the 
application should be considered in the public domain" 
 
DESCRIPTION 
 
The application site measures approximately 0.2ha and comprises an industrial building 
containing a trade counter and a gym with associated parking. It is situated near the 
corner of Locksbrook Road and Station road within the Locksbrook Road industrial estate.  
 
To the west of the site is a veterinary surgery and a trader counter business. Immediately 
to the east is a MOT garage. The northern boundary of the site contains a mature tree belt 
which forms part of a wider linear green infrastructure corridor which follows the route of 
the former railway.  On the other side of Locksbrook Road to the south of the site is the 
former Herman Miller building which is now occupied by Bath Spa University School of Art 
and Design. 
 
The application proposes the demolition of the buildings on the site and the erection of a 3 
storey (plus mezzanine level) mixed use building for 1,354m2 of B1c Light Industrial, 
364m2 of D2 Assembly and Leisure, 52 student studios and 28 student en-suite rooms in 
cluster flat. 
 
The application is a resubmission of the previous application 18/05047/FUL which was 
refused by the Council on 14th August 2019, but subsequently allowed at appeal in 
December 2020. The Council refused the previous application for the following 7 reasons: 
 
1. The proposed residential use (student accommodation) above the proposed B1c 
light industrial space will limit the use and types of the occupier of the site, as well as the 
wider strategic industrial estate's potential to expand and deliver on its allocated purpose 
in the future. 
 
2. The proposed off-campus student accommodation within the Enterprise Zone 
would adversely affect the realisation of other aspects of the vision and spatial strategy for 
the city in relation to delivering economic development contrary to policy B5 
 
3. Provision of purpose-built student accommodation on site will contribute to 
increasing the already high concentration of purpose-built student accommodation in the 
locality, thus undermining the objective of creating mixed and balanced communities. 
 
4. It has not been satisfactorily demonstrated that there are no sequentially preferable 
sites which are reasonably available for the proposed development in areas with a lower 
probability of flooding. 
 

Page 117



5. Due to its footprint and proximity to the boundaries of the site the proposed 
development will result in increased pressure for off-site tree pruning and tree removal. 
 
6. The proposed development would fail to mitigate the impacts of the proposed 
development on wildlife and would not achieve the required ecological enhancement. 
Furthermore, it has not been demonstrated that appropriately low levels of lightspill can be 
achieved to avoid harm to bats. 
 
7. The proposed student accommodation would fail to achieve appropriate levels of 
privacy, outlook and natural light for future occupiers 
 
The main differences between the previously allowed appeal and the current application 
are as follows: 
 
1. Reduction in the overall number of student bedrooms from 80 to 72; 
2. All student bedrooms now provided within cluster flats rather than as a mix of 
studios and cluster flats; 
3. Reduction in the area of B1c employment space from 1354sqm to 1180sqm; 
4. Reduction in the area of D2 assembly and leisure space from 364sqm to 290sqm; 
5. Building footprint set back from the northern and southern boundaries of the site 
with enhanced landscaping proposals in these areas; 
6. An increase in parking spaces from 16 to 19 spaces 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
Application: 18/05047/FUL 
Description: The demolition of the former Plumb Centre and Genesis Lifestyle Centre and 
the erection of a 3 storey (plus mezzanine) mixed use building for 1354sqm of B1c Light 
Industrial, 364sqm of D2 Assembly and Leisure, 52 student studios and 28 student en-
suite rooms in cluster flats. 
Status: REFUSED, APPEAL ALLOWED 
 
Application: 97/00407/FUL 
Description: Change of use from office (Use Class B1) to Lifestyle Centre for fitness and 
diet advice and personal training (Use Class D2) 
Status: APPROVED 
 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
ARCHAEOLOGY: No objection 
 
DRAINAGE AND FLOODING: No objection, subject to conditions 
 
CONTAMINATED LAND: No objection, subject to conditions 
 
ARBORICULTURE: No objection, subject to conditions 
 
ECOLOGY: No objection, subject to conditions 
 
HIGHWAYS: No objection, subject to clarifications/conditions 

Page 118



 
LANDSCAPE: Scope for revision 
 
The development does not pay enough regard to enriching the character and quality of the 
local public realm along the Locksbrook Road. 
 
 
CONSERVATION: Scope for revision 
 
In terms of design, scale and footprint the 2020 application is the same as the previous 
application and therefore the same comments apply. The scheme shows a reduction in 
height from the original proposal by 5.5 metres to 11.9 metres, still leaving it taller that 
Herman Miller. Removing the rear portion will achieve a small mitigation, primarily in terms 
of the impact in more distant views. With regard to the street level experience, this will 
largely derive from the forward wings which remain the same, although the overall effect 
will be less overbearing. Given the overall reduction in massing the impact on the setting 
of HM now sits on the cusp of being harmful and it would be difficult to sustain a reason 
for refusal. The design and use of materials are striking but not out of place in the context 
of an industrial estate. 
 
Officer note: The Conservation comments were received prior to the receipt of the latest 
set of revised plans.  
 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT: Objection 
 
In considering the application in economic development terms it is recommended for 
refusal, due to the inclusion of PBSA, which is at odds with policies ED2a, B3 & B5. 
 
PLANNING POLICY: Objection 
 
It is considered that the proposed development is, in principle, contrary to Policies DW1, 
B1, B3, B5, CP5, ED2A and CP10. 
 
AVON AND SOMERSET POLICE: No objection or comments 
 
CANAL AND RIVER TRUST: No comments 
 
BATH PRESERVATION TRUST: Objection 
 
Whilst they appreciate the architecturally innovative approach presented in this scheme, 
the Trust cannot support the proposal in its current form due to the principle of purpose-
built student accommodation and the overbearing height of the building that will have a 
detrimental impact on the Locksbrook portion of the Bath conservation area, and the 
setting of a Grade II listed building. 
 
The proposed height and scale of the building, incorporated with proposed materials and 
colour, would neither preserve nor enhance the appearance and associated character of 
the Bath conservation area and would directly harm the setting and significance of the 
Herman Miller factory. This application is therefore contrary to the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas Act) 1990, Section 16 of the NPPF, and Policies B1, 

Page 119



BD1, CP6, D1, D2, D3, D5, and HE1 of the Core Strategy and Placemaking Plan, and 
should be refused or withdrawn and reconsidered. 
 
BATH HERITAGE WATCHDOG: Objection 
 
Despite the revisions the design, height, scale, mass and materials of this proposal are 
entirely out of keeping and context for this location. We also believe that this location was 
part of the designated Enterprise Zone and should thus be for industrial use. It also 
appears to be in contradiction of Policy CP 10. For the reasons stated above this proposal 
is contrary to Policies B1, B4 and CP6 of the BANES Core Strategy CP6, D2, D5, HE1, B4 
BD1 of the Placemaking Plan and should therefore be refused. 
 
COUNCILLOR MICHELLE O'DOHERTY: Objection 
 
Cllr O'Doherty notes that there was an application here in 2018 (ref 18/05047/FUL), and 
this is a re-submission. Cllr Roper and her both feel that the current application fails to 
address the reasons why the previous application was refused in 2019. She would, in 
particular, like to draw attention to reason for refusal 3 on the decision notice for 
application 18/05047/FUL: 
 
3. Provision of purpose built student accommodation on site will contribute to increasing 
the already high concentration of purpose built student accommodation in the locality, thus 
undermining the objective of creating mixed and balanced communities. The proposal is 
therefore contrary to policy CP10 of the Bath and North East Somerset Council Core 
Strategy and Placemaking Plan (July 2017)  
 
She considers that this still applies to the current application, so would objects on these 
grounds. 
 
She has requested that the application be called to committee regardless of the officer 
recommendation as it is a large development which will have a big impact on the 
neighbourhood. 
 
WOSELEY UK (Current occupier of the site): Objection 
 
An objection was received from Woseley UK, a building merchant business which 
currently occupies the building on the application site. They indicate that they are a 
longstanding tenant of 27 years and are part of the existing local business community. 
The indicate that they currently employ 4 people directly and operate between 07:30 and 
17:00 weekdays and 08:00 and 12:00 noon on Saturdays although deliveries to the site 
can be outside of these hours. They currently deliver to an area of approximately 25miles. 
They state that the business is successful, and that they wish to continue to operate from 
this property.  
 
The letter from Woseley UK describes the current makeup of Locksdbrook Road as 
predominately employment based. They are concerned that the inclusion of student 
accommodation within the estate would result in a fragmentation which would be 
detrimental to the wider industrial estate and create a precedent which would compound 
this effect.  
 

Page 120



The letter states that longstanding employment uses are synonymous with levels of 
general disturbance including direct and indirect noise from activities, often over 
residentially unsocial hours, and often with other adverse impacts arising from smell, 
vibration and light. Also, regard must be taken of the legitimate expectation that 
reasonable future changes to working practices as business adapt to changing demands, 
shift patters etc. should not be prejudiced. The letter therefore considers the proposal to 
include student accommodation, in the centre of such an area that is vital to supporting 
Bath's economy, as ill-conceived both in principle and on general amenity grounds. 
 
The letter also points to conflicts with development plan policies B3 and ED2A and 
conflicts with the NPPF. 
 
 
THIRD PARTIES/NEIGHBOURS:  75 objection comments have been received. The main 
points raised were: 
 
Many comments were critical of the design of the proposals. It was commonly described 
as too big, over scaled and out of keeping with the surrounding area. Some comments 
called it monolithic or likened it to a water tower/silo. It was considered to pay little heed to 
the surrounding context in terms of its size, design and its materials which were described 
as inappropriate. Many of these comments were concerned that the proposals would 
impact upon the Conservation Area, the World Heritage Site and other heritage assets 
(both designated and undesignated) including the Grade II listed Herman Miller building. 
 
Many comments also objected to the principle of student accommodation, with some 
questioning the need for such development. It was suggested that the area was already 
overpopulated with students and that these proposals would upset the 'social balance' of 
the area given the already high number of HMOs. It was also suggested that the 
proposals were too high density and that they would put a strain on the locality and 
existing services. It was suggested that there is a need for affordable family housing as 
opposed to more student accommodation. 
 
A lot of the concerns raised related to the impact of the proposals upon parking in the 
surrounding streets. On-street parking in the area was described as already a problem 
and there was concern that the proposals lack of adequate parking provision, particularly 
for the student accommodation, would worsen this situation. It was considered that 
additional on-street parking would result in block of access for emergency and other large 
vehicles, would make finding a parking space for residents even more difficult and would 
be detrimental to highways safety. Several considered that the suggested restrictions on 
student parking were unenforceable. 
 
Some felt that the site was in a residential area which is not suitable for student 
accommodation (as opposed to family homes). Others felt that the site was part of the 
industrial estate and therefore wasn't suitable for student accommodation. 
 
Several comments considered that the current application had failed to overcome the 
previous reasons for refusal on application 18/05047/FUL. 
 
There was concern that the proposals to introduce student accommodation to the site 
would impact upon the viability of the industrial estate. It was suggested that there would 

Page 121



be conflicts between the student accommodation the noise, smells, vibration and 
deliveries associated with the industrial estate. It was also suggested that the design of 
the proposed B1c industrial units within the scheme are poor quality lacking the large 
openings/doors, proper loading/unloading spaces and ventilation or external auxiliary 
equipment that would usually be associated with such uses. 
 
Several comments were concerned that the student accommodation would have several 
adverse environmental impacts including noise pollution, light pollution, air pollution and 
littering. Noise from the student accommodation was considered likely to disturb existing 
residents. Air pollution arising from student's car use was considered to adversely affect 
air quality near the existing air quality management area (AQMA). Light pollution from the 
building was considered to adversely affect residents and light-sensitive wildlife. Littering 
and rubbish generated by the student accommodation was considered to attract urban 
gulls which will cause a nuisance. 
 
Several comments criticised the lack of green space and the sustainability credentials of 
the development. 
 
One comment considered that the development should be delayed until the Local Plan 
had been progressed and the Council's policy on student accommodation updated. 
 
One comment indicated that the proposed student accommodation was not easily 
convertible to other uses in the future. 
 
Some comments were concerned about the possible disruption, nuisance and safety 
issues associated with the construction of the development. It was noted that the area 
already had a problem with HGV accessing the area. 
 
There was a query about the validity of the submitted Statement of Community 
Involvement. 
 
One comment was concerned about the loss of a dance studio from the site. It was 
claimed there are no other such facilities in Bath. 
 
One comment referred the sites location within Flood Zone 2. 
 
 
15 support comments were received. The main points raised were: 
 
There was wide ranging support for the replacement gym premises. The existing gym is 
considered to be an asset to the community and a successful independent business. It 
was suggested that there is demand for the services it provides and that the proposals will 
provide job security for the gym's employees. 
 
It was considered that the proposals will improve the building's quality and would act to 
rejuvenate and modernise the area. 
 
The comments were split on the issue of student accommodation. Some felt that it was 
sensible to co-locate the student accommodation next to the nearby university premise as 
this would reduce the need for car trips. Others supported the scheme but were 

Page 122



disappointed about the inclusion of yet more student accommodation. They felt that family 
housing or accommodation for essential workers was more important. 
 
The comments indicated that car parking is always likely to be an issue in this area and 
that it could be overcome through the introduction of residents only parking permits. 
 
 
5 general comments were received. The main points raised were: 
 
A couple of the comments raised the issue of parking and suggested that this needs to be 
taken seriously as there is not enough parking for students and residents. There was a 
query as to whether parking permits will now be introduced. 
 
It was suggested this was an area where students and residents could thrive together, but 
only if the basics are got right. 
 
There were concerns about construction vehicles parking on the road and blocking in 
residents during the construction. 
 
One comment queried the evidence behind the claim that the development of purpose-
built student accommodation will get students to move out of HMOs. Anecdotally, they 
suggest that students prefer sharing an HMO with their friends as part of the student 
experience. It was also suggested this development is too dense for the area. 
 
There was concern about air pollution arising from the development. It was also 
suggested that, given the current climate conditions, the development should be zero 
carbon. 
 
One comment suggested that the dance studios should be kept as they are valuable to 
the community local.  
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Development Plan for Bath and North East Somerset comprises: 
o Bath & North East Somerset Core Strategy (July 2014) 
o Bath & North East Somerset Placemaking Plan (July 2017) 
o West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011)  
o Bath & North East Somerset saved Local Plan policies (2007) not replaced by the 
Core Strategy or the Placemaking Plan: 
o Policy GDS.1 Site allocations and development requirements (policy framework) 
o Policy GDS.1/K2: South West Keynsham (site) 
o Policy GDS.1/NR2: Radstock Railway Land (site) 
o Policy GDS.1/V3: Paulton Printing Factory (site) 
o Policy GDS.1/V8: Former Radford Retail System's Site, Chew Stoke (site) 
 
RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the 
determination of this application: 
 
DW1 District Wide Spatial Strategy 

Page 123



SD1 Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development 
B1 Bath Spatial Strategy  
B3 Newbridge Riverside 
B4 Bath World Heritage Site 
B5 Strategic Policy for Bath Universities 
CP2 Sustainable Construction 
CP3 Renewable Energy 
CP4 District Heating 
CP5 Flood Risk Management  
CP6 Environmental Quality 
CP7 Green Infrastructure 
CP13 Infrastructure Provision 
 
RELEVANT PLACEMAKING PLAN POLICIES 
The Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the 
Council on 13th July 2017. The following policies of the Placemaking Plan are relevant to 
the determination of this application: 
 
SCR1  On-site Renewable Energy Requirement 
SCR2  Roof mounted/Building-integrated Scale Solar PV 
SCR5  Water Efficiency 
SU1  Sustainable Drainage 
D1  General Urban Design Principles 
D2  Local Character and Distinctiveness 
D3  Urban Fabric 
D4  Streets and Spaces 
D5  Building Design 
D6  Amenity 
D8  Lighting 
D10  Public Realm 
HE1  Historic Environment 
NE1  Development and Green Infrastructure 
NE2  Conserving and enhancing the landscape and landscape character 
NE2A  Landscape Setting of Settlements 
NE3  Sites, species and habitats 
NE5  Ecological Networks 
NE6  Trees and woodland conservation 
PCS1  Pollution and Nuisance 
PCS2  Noise and Vibration 
PSC3  Air Quality 
PCS5  Contamination 
PCS7A  Foul Sewage Infrastructure 
H7  Housing accessibility 
LCR6  New and Replacement Sports and Recreational Facilities 
ED2A  Strategic and Other Primary Industrial Estates 
ST1  Promoting sustainable travel 
ST2 Sustainable Transport Routes 
ST7  Transport requirements for managing development 
 

Page 124



National Planning Policy Framework and the National Planning Practice Guidance can be 
awarded significant weight. 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS AND ADDITIONAL GUIDANCE 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) of Bath and North East Somerset (2009) 
Bath Building Heights Strategy (2010) 
City of Bath World Heritage Site Setting SPD (2013) 
Green Infrastructure Strategy (2013) 
Planning Obligations SPD (2015) 
West of England Sustainable Drainage Developer Guide (2015) 
Waterspace Design Guidance (2018) 
 
LEGISLATION 
 
There is a duty placed on the Council under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and 
Conservation Areas) Act 'In considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a listed building or its setting' to 'have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural 
or historic interest which it possesses.' 
 
There is also a duty placed on the Council under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act to pay special attention to the preservation or 
enhancement of the character of the surrounding conservation area. 
 
LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
The main issues to consider are: 
 
1. Principle of development 
2. Housing mix 
3. Flood risk 
4. Design, character and appearance 
5. Trees and woodland 
6. Ecology 
7. Highways and parking 
8. Residential amenity  
9. Parks and Green Spaces 
10. Sustainable construction 
11. Contaminated Land 
12. Archaeology 
13. Surface Water Drainage 

Page 125



14. Conclusion 
 
 
1. PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
Policy ED2A is the detailed development management policy applicable to proposals 
within the strategic industrial estate. It states that proposals for B1c, B2 and B8 uses and 
builders' merchants will be acceptable in principle within the industrial estate and that 
there is a presumption in favour of retaining these uses. It also states that there are strong 
economic reasons why other uses would be inappropriate because of the economic 
significance of these areas. It goes on to state that applicants will also need to 
demonstrate that non-industrial uses would not have an adverse impact on the 
sustainability of the provision of services from industrial premises that remained around 
the site, or would not act against the development of undeveloped areas for industrial 
uses. 
 
The recent appeal decision on the previously refused application concludes the following 
on this matter: 
 
"15. The existing gymnasium (285 m2) has been in operation since 1997 without any 
apparent adverse impact on nearby industrial uses. Its replacement within larger premises 
(364 m2) would not be likely to materially alter this situation. The proposed PBSA would 
complement the university use of the converted Herman Miller building on the opposite 
side of Locksbrook Road. To the east, beyond a proposed covered cycle storage area, the 
PBSA would face towards the rear of a transport depot building. Activity and any related 
noise and disturbance would be more likely to arise at the front of this depot building and 
near to its access onto the road. This access would be separated from the PBSA by the 
large depot building. Given this relationship, the proximity of student accommodation 
would not be likely to impair the sustainability of the existing depot use. 
 
16. Similar considerations apply to the specialist manufacturing business operated by 
Horstman from a large industrial building located to the east of the transport depot building 
and on the opposite side of the road. Vehicular access from Locksbrook Road to this 
property is at the western end of the Horstman site, but at a sufficient distance from the 
proposed PBSA so that any noise from activities such as loading/unloading would not be 
likely to result in any significant conflict between the uses. The proposed PBSA would add 
to pedestrian/cycle movements along and across Locksbrook Road, but the Highway 
Authority raises no issues regarding highway safety. The proposal would not materially 
exacerbate any existing conflict between industrial activity and residential development 
due to HGV movements in Newbridge Riverside. The proposed PBSA would not unduly 
constrain the use or redevelopment of the existing uses to the west of the appeal site any 
more so than currently exists due to the proximity of residential dwellings in Station Road." 
 
Furthermore, the Inspector found that the proposals would result in an increase in 
business floorspace of 260sqm and would provide modern flexible premises suitable for 
high tech or advanced manufacturing with the potential to provide for significantly more 
jobs than the existing use. The Inspector therefore found no conflict with policies B3 or 
ED2A. 
 

Page 126



The current application proposes 1180sqm of employment space which is slightly less 
than the 1354sqm of employment space in the appeal scheme. However, it is a relatively 
minor difference and the proposals still represent a net increase in employment floorspace 
of 76sqm. It is therefore considered that, in light of the Inspector's recent conclusions on 
this matter and the material fall-back position established by the recently allowed appeal, 
there is no objection to the principle of development on this site. 
 
 
2. HOUSING MIX 
 
The previous application was partly refused due to the provision of purpose-built student 
accommodation on site contributing to increasing the already high concentration of 
purpose-built student accommodation in the locality and thus undermining the objective of 
creating mixed and balanced communities contrary to policy CP10.  
 
However, the Inspector for the recent appeal decision on the previously refused 
application did not agree with the Council's concerns on this matter. Furthermore, the 
current application contains 8 less student bedrooms than the previous appeal proposals. 
In light of these conclusions and the fall-back position of the allowed appeal scheme, there 
is no longer any objection that can be supported on these grounds. 
 
 
3. FLOOD RISK 
 
Sequential test 
 
The site is within Flood Risk Zone 2 and the proposed student accommodation is 
classified as a 'More Vulnerable' type of development. It is therefore necessary for the 
development to pass the sequential test. 
 
The sequential test was considered as part of the recently allowed appeal and was 
considered to be met by the Inspector. In light of these conclusions and the fall-back 
position of the allowed appeal scheme, it is considered that the sequential test is met. 
 
 
Flood Risk Assessment 
 
A flood risk assessment has been submitted which demonstrates that the development 
will be safe for its lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere. There is no objection 
from the Drainage and flood risk team and the raised no comments or concerns. 
Conditions would be required to secure the implementation of the flood resilience 
measures in the FRA. 
 
 
4. DESIGN, CHARACTER AND APPEARANCE 
 
The proposal site is located within the City of Bath World Heritage Site and the Bath 
Conservation Area, Grade II listed Herman Miller building sits immediately on the opposite 
side of Locksbrook Road.  
 

Page 127



The previous application (18/05047/FUL) was considered acceptable in design, character 
and appearance terms. It was considered to preserve the character and appearance of 
the conservation area and result in only very minor harm to the setting of the Herman 
Miller building. This identified harm was considered to be outweighed by the public 
benefits of the proposal. 
 
The current proposal is very similar to the previously acceptable design, but the building 
has been set away from the northern and southern boundaries by reducing its overall 
depth. Additional landscaping proposals have been incorporated into these spaces along 
both boundaries. 
 
With regard to the street level experience, the proposed building is considerably larger 
than the one it is to replace, and the close-range visual impacts would largely derive from 
the overhangs above the street level. Having said that, it is not considered that the 
massing and scale would be completely out of place given the industrial estate context of 
the proposal. The design and use of materials are striking, but again - not out of place in 
the context of an industrial estate.  
 
Whilst the proposed building will occupy a large part of the site, the set back from the 
northern and southern boundaries will allow for some ground level landscaping and 
courtyard space for use by the potential occupiers. The landscaping proposals along both 
boundaries are considered to be a marked improvement over the allow appeal proposal 
which did not contain any significant landscaping along its southern boundary. 
 
There is a duty placed on the Council under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement 
of the character of the surrounding conservation area. It is considered that the character 
and appearance of the Conservation Area would be overall preserved. 
 
There is a duty placed on the Council under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 'In considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a listed building or its setting' to 'have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural 
or historic interest which it possesses.' 
 
The additional scale of the building compared to the existing means that the proposals will 
slightly impinge upon and detract from the setting of the adjacent listed building (Herman 
Miller building), albeit this is considered to be at the lowest end of the level of harm. 
Regardless, this harm must be given great weight and balanced against the public 
benefits delivered by the proposals. 
 
Para 196 of the NPPF states that where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing 
its optimum viable use. Therefore, a balanced judgement is required having regard to the 
scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset. 
 
In this instance, it is considered that the scale of harm would be quite low. Herman Miller 
building is a purpose-built former factory premises set within an industrial estate context; 
therefore its setting would be less sensitive to this slightly taller building across the road. 

Page 128



The existing Plumb Center building is identified as a poor quality building in the Bath 
Conservation Area and its redevelopment is therefore welcomed. The proposed building 
would also deliver employment premises on the ground floor that would also possess 
much higher sustainability credentials and more attractive appearance than existing. It is 
also relevant that the current application is considered to be an slight improvement on 
than the appeal scheme, which the previous Inspector also found to be acceptable.  
 
It is therefore considered that on balance, the limited harm to the setting of the listed 
building, although given great weight, would be outweighed by public benefits delivered by 
the scheme. 
 
 
5. TREES AND WOODLAND 
 
The is a line of mature trees and vegetation along the northern boundary of the site. 
These trees form part of an important green infrastructure corridor which runs east-west 
along the route of the former railway line. The scheme as originally submitted was too 
close to this line of trees and this formed one of the reasons for refusal on the previous 
application on this site. 
 
However, revised plans have been received which set back the position of the proposed 
building from the northern boundary so that the distance between the building and the 
trees on the northern boundary would be increased and the increased space between the 
building and the northern boundary would allow for addition tree planting. 
 
This additional set back means that the proposals now avoid some of the adverse impacts 
upon the trees on northern boundary of the site that were previously found. The increased 
set back also means that there will less pressure for future work or felling which may 
erode the effectiveness of this tree belt. Furthermore, there is now more space for 
additional tree planting along this boundary.  
 
Subject to Arboricultural method statement and tree protection plan conditions, there is no 
objection to the proposals on Arboricultural grounds. 
 
 
6. ECOLOGY 
 
Concerns were previously raised about the proposals impacts upon ecology arising from 
the proximity to the northern tree line, increased pressure for tree removals, light spill and 
inadequate space to accommodate the necessary ecological mitigation. However, 
following revisions to the plans the proposed building has been set back from the northern 
boundary have addressed these concerns. 
 
Appropriate sensitive lighting design for external lighting will still be necessary to avoid 
light spill onto the tree line. With regard to consideration to the Habitats Regulations, 
provided lighting design and light spill limits do not exceed those detailed in the lighting 
report and proposals for planning application 18/05047/FUL, where the building is closer 
to the treeline and for which a shadow Appropriate Assessment was produced by the 
applicant and its conclusions regarding light spill accepted, then the Council's Ecologist 
considers the same conclusion can be reached for this site in that with regard to the 

Page 129



potential effects of light spill onto the treeline arising from this proposal, the scheme will 
not give rise to a significant adverse effect on the Bath & Bradford on Avon Bats Special 
Area of Conservation (SAC). 
 
Subject to conditions, there is no ecological objection to the proposals. 
 
 
7. HIGHWAYS AND PARKING 
 
The previous planning application (18/05047/FUL) was supported by a Transport 
Statement which considered the potential impact of the industrial and commercial uses as 
compared with the existing site use. The results indicate that there should not be a 
significant impact, and this remains the case with the current proposal.  
 
The relocation of existing access would result in the loss of some on-street parking. 
However, this is likely to be mitigated by the gain in spaces where the Plumb Center 
access is to be removed. Appropriate contribution towards the funding of a Traffic 
Regulation Order to achieve this could be secured via a Section 106 agreement. 
 
The scheme includes car parking for the industrial and leisure uses only, with no parking 
(except for disabled spaces) for the proposed student accommodation. This is consistent 
with the current parking standards which does not require any parking provision of 
purpose-built student accommodation.  
 
Notwithstanding this, there is a need to ensure that there are effective measures in place 
to control inappropriate parking activities in local streets. On-street, car parking in the 
vicinity of the application site is generally uncontrolled, with the exception of existing 
restrictions aimed at allowing the free flow of traffic, therefore local residential streets 
could be vulnerable to overspill parking generated by the proposed student 
accommodation. 
 
Should planning permission be granted, there is a need to ensure that effective measures 
are in place to control such overspill parking activities. It is noted that this was promoted at 
other similar sites, such as The Old Bakery (reference 18/02831/FUL), where the 
restriction of car ownership/parking became a Condition of the permission.  
 
The Highways officer has noted the opportunity to secure funding towards the 
implementation of a Residents Parking Zone (RPZ) should additional restrictions be 
deemed necessary at a later date. However, this obligation was considered as part of the 
decision on the recent appeal scheme and the Inspector concluded that this obligation 
was not necessary to make the planning application acceptable. This obligation has 
therefore not been requested. 
 
Subject to the above, there is no highways objection to the proposals. 
 
 
8. RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 
 

Page 130



The separation distances with the nearest residential properties at Ashley Avenue and 
Station Road are considered to be sufficient enough to avoid any harmful overlooking or 
overbearing effects. 
 
The comments from Environmental Health Officer confirm that whilst the existing 
background noise can be mitigated for, if industrial or commercial use within the 
immediate vicinity intensifies, the effect of the proposed noise mitigation measures may 
well be diminished. Paragraphs 009 and 010 of the NPPG (July 2019) sets out that 
decision makers must take into account not only current activities of existing businesses, 
but also those that are permitted, even if they are not occurring at the time of the 
application being made. In this respect, Policy ED2A for Strategic industrial Estates allows 
in principle proposals for light industrial, heavy industrial, warehousing (classes B1c, B2, 
B8), builders merchants, car showrooms etc 
 
Some concerns were raised about the levels of daylight and outlook that would be 
experienced by the student occupiers in on the north and east sides of the buildings, 
especially at the first floor level. It was considered that the proximity to the trees to the 
north would adversely impact upon the amenity of many of the student bedrooms. 
However, the revised plans have set the building away from the northern tree line allowing 
these rooms to achieve a better outlook and level of light. This issue has therefore been 
overcome. 
 
Furthermore, the Inspector for the recent appeal decision found that the concerns about 
residential amenity can be addressed through appropriate planning conditions. 
 
 
9. PARKS AND GREEN SPACES 
 
The residential development proposed would be occupied by 80 persons. Whilst some 
open green space is proposed on the roof, the proposals would also be reliant on off-site 
provision for the recreational needs of the residents. The Waterspace River Park project is 
located 120m to the south of the proposal site. The green space demands generated from 
the proposal could potentially be met through a S106 payment (£134,842) to this project to 
make the development acceptable in planning terms in accordance with Placemaking Plan 
Policy LCR6. 
 
 
10. SUSTAINABLE CONSTRUCTION 
 
Policy CP2 requires that sustainable design and construction should be integral to new 
development, with 19% CO2 overall emissions reduction. Policy SCR1 requires major 
development to provide sufficient renewable energy generation to reduce carbon 
emissions from anticipated (regulated) energy use in the building by at least 10%. Overall, 
the proposed development is assessed to achieve 11.45% of CO2 reduction from 
Renewables (At least 10% to comply with SCR1) and a 19.8% reduction from all 
measures (At least 19% to comply with CP2). The application therefore demonstrates 
compliance with these policies. 
 
PMP Policy LCR9 (Local Food Growing) - this policy requires all new residential 
developments (including student accommodation) to incorporate opportunities for informal 

Page 131



food growing, wherever possible (e.g. window boxes, balcony gardens, external 
courtyards). Whilst there is only a small area on the roof terrace available which could be 
used for this purpose, the site does offer the opportunity for this. This can be secured via 
condition. 
 
 
11. CONTAMINATED LAND 
 
A phase 1 and 2 desk study and geo-environmental report has been submitted with the 
application. This has been reviewed by the Contaminated Land Officer who has 
recommended a suite of contaminated land conditions are required to make the proposals 
acceptable. 
 
 
12. ARCHAEOLOGY 
 
The Council's Archaeological experts have been consulted on this application. They have 
indicated that there are limited or no archaeological implications to these proposals. 
Therefore, there are no objections on archaeological grounds. 
 
 
13. SURFACE WATER DRAINAGE 
 
A drainage strategy for the proposed development has been provided ad reviewed by the 
Drainage and Flood Risk Team. The submitted strategy is acceptable and, subject to 
conditions, there are no objections on drainage grounds. 
 
 
14. CONCLUSION 
 
The recently allowed appeal decision for the previous application accepted the principle of 
development on this site. Furthermore, it concluded that the sequential test had been met. 
In light of these conclusions and the material fall-back position created by the recent 
appeal, there is no objection to the principle of the proposed development. 
 
This resubmission has also overcome some of the site-specific concerns previously raised 
by the Council relating to application 18/05047/FUL. Primarily it has addressed 
Arboricultural and ecological concerns about the impact upon the northern tree by setting 
the building away from that boundary. This has also helped to alleviate the residential 
amenity impacts upon the student bedrooms. These proposals therefore represent an 
improvement on the previously allowed appeal scheme. 
 
The previous reasons for refusal are therefore considered to have been overcome and the 
proposals are considered acceptable. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

Delegate to PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 

Page 132



 0  
1.) Authorise the Monitoring Officer to enter into a Section 106 Agreement to secure: 
 
a) A greenspace contribution of £134,842 index linked towards the Waterspace River Park 
/ River Line project; 
b) A highways contribution of £3,500 index linked toward for the purposes of implementing 
and enforcing a Traffic Regulation Order in the vicinity of the land; 
c) A Targeted Recruitment and Training Obligation requiring the following 
i. contribution of £5,005 index linked 
ii. 16 Work Placements 
iii. 1 Apprenticeship Start 
iv. 1 Job start advertised though local DWP 
 
2.) Subject to the prior completion of the above agreement, authorise the Head of 
Planning to PERMIT subject to the following conditions (or such conditions as may be 
appropriate): 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission. 
 
 2 Construction Management Plan (Pre-commencement) 
 
No development shall commence until a Construction Management Plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include 
details of the following: 
 
1. Deliveries (including storage arrangements and timings); 
2. Contractor parking; 
3. Traffic management; 
4. Working hours; 
5. Site opening times; 
6. Wheel wash facilities; 
7. Site compound arrangements; 
8. Measures for the control of dust; 
 
The construction of the development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure that safe operation of the highway and in the interests of protecting 
residential amenity in accordance with policies D6 and ST7 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Placemaking Plan. This is a pre-commencement condition because any initial 
construction or demolition works could have a detrimental impact upon highways safety 
and/or residential amenity. 
 
 3 Materials - Submission of Schedule and Samples (Bespoke Trigger) 
 

Page 133



No construction of the external walls of the development shall commence until a schedule 
of materials and finishes, and samples of the materials to be used in the construction of 
the external surfaces, including roofs, have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The schedule shall include: 
 
1. Detailed specification of the proposed materials (Type, size, colour, brand, quarry 
location, etc.); 
2. Photographs of all of the proposed materials; 
3. An annotated drawing showing the parts of the development using each material.  
 
The development shall thereafter be carried out only in accordance with the approved 
details.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with policies D1, D2, D3 and D5 of the Bath and North East Somerset 
Placemaking Plan and policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
 4 Contaminated Land - Investigation and Risk Assessment (Pre-commencement) 
 
No development shall commence, except for ground investigations and demolition, 
required to undertake such investigations, until an investigation and risk assessment of 
the nature and extent of contamination on site and its findings has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  This assessment must be undertaken 
by a competent person, and shall assess any contamination on the site, whether or not it 
originates on the site.  The assessment must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA 
and the Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11' and shall include:       
 
(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;  
 
(ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:  
 
o human health,  
o property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and 
service lines and pipes,  
o adjoining land,  
o groundwaters and surface waters,  
o ecological systems,  
o archaeological sites and ancient monuments;  
 
(iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s). 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure 
that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with policy PCS5 of the Bath 
and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and chapter 15 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. This is a pre-commencement condition because the initial works 
comprising the development have the potential to uncover harmful contamination. 
 
 5 Contaminated Land - Remediation Scheme (Pre-commencement) 

Page 134



 
No development shall commence, except for ground investigations and demolition 
required to undertake such investigations, until a detailed remediation scheme to bring the 
site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human 
health, buildings and other property and the natural and historical environment, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, unless the findings 
of the approved investigation and risk assessment has confirmed that a remediation 
scheme is not required. The scheme shall include: 
 
(i) all works to be undertaken; 
(ii) proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria; 
(iii) timetable of works and site management procedures; and, 
(iv) where required, a monitoring and maintenance scheme to monitor the long-term 
effectiveness of the proposed remediation and a timetable for the submission of reports 
that demonstrate the effectiveness of the monitoring and maintenance carried out. 
 
The remediation scheme shall ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land 
under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of 
the land after remediation.  
 
The approved remediation scheme shall be carried out prior to the commencement of 
development, other than that required to carry out remediation, or in accordance with the 
approved timetable of works. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure 
that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with policy PCS5 of the Bath 
and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and chapter 15 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. This is a pre-commencement condition because the initial works 
comprising the development have the potential to uncover harmful contamination. 
 
 6 Contaminated Land - Verification Report (Pre-occupation) 
 
No occupation shall commence until a verification report that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority, unless the findings of the approved investigation and risk 
assessment has confirmed that a remediation scheme is not required. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure 
that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with policy PCS5 of the Bath 
and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and chapter 15 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.  
 
 7 Contaminated Land - Unexpected Contamination (Compliance) 
 
In the event that contamination which was not previously identified is found at any time 
when carrying out the approved development, it must be reported in writing immediately to 
the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter an investigation and risk assessment shall be 
undertaken, and where remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme shall be 

Page 135



submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Following 
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification 
report (that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out) must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to occupation of 
the development. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure 
that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with policy PCS5 of the Bath 
and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and chapter 15 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 
 8 Flood Management Measures (Pre-commencement) 
 
No development shall commence, except ground investigations, until details of the 
proposed flood management measures (as outlined in the FRA) are submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The approved flood management 
measures shall be implemented before the first occupation of the development hereby 
permitted and shall thereafter be retained. 
 
Reason: To limit the risk of flooding by ensuring the provision of satisfactory means of 
flood management and incident response on the site in accordance with paragraph 17 and 
section 10 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 9 Arboricultural Method Statement (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until a detailed Method Statement and Tree Protection 
Plan following the recommendations contained within BS5837:2012 have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Arboricultural Method 
Statement shall incorporate a provisional programme of works; supervision and monitoring 
details by an Arboricultural Consultant and provision of site visit records and certificates of 
completion to the local planning authority. The statement should include the control of 
potentially harmful operations such as site preparation (including demolition, clearance 
and level changes); the storage, handling and mixing of materials on site, burning, location 
of the site office, service run locations including soakaway locations and movement of 
people and machinery. No development or other operations shall thereafter take place 
except in complete accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: to ensure that trees to be retained are not adversely affected by the development 
proposals in accordance with policy NE6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
This is a condition precedent because the works comprising the development have the 
potential to harm retained trees. Therefore these details need to be agreed before work 
commences. 
 
10 Compliance with Arboricultural Method Statement (Compliance) 
The approved development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan. A signed compliance 
statement from the appointed Arboriculturalist shall be submitted and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority on completion of the works. 
 

Page 136



Reason: To ensure that trees to be retained are not adversely affected by the 
development proposals in accordance with Policy NE6 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan. To ensure that the approved method statement is complied with for 
the duration of the development. 
 
 
11 Detailed Landscape Scheme (Pre-occupation) 
 
No occupation of the development shall commence until a landscaping scheme has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority showing details of 
the following: 
 
1. All trees, hedgerows and other planting to be retained;  
2. A planting specification to include numbers, size, species and positions of all new trees 
and shrubs; 
3. Details of existing and proposed walls, fences, other boundary treatment and surface 
treatments of the open parts of the site; 
4. Details of the green roof; 
5. A programme of implementation for the landscaping scheme. 
 
All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details and programme of implementation. 
 
Any trees or plants indicated on the approved scheme which, within a period of five years 
from the date of the development being completed, die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the next planting season with other trees or 
plants of a species and size to be first approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
All hard landscape works shall be permanently retained in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
Reason: To ensure the provision of an appropriate landscape setting to the development 
in accordance with policies D1, D2, D4 and NE2 of the Bath and North East Somerset 
Placemaking Plan. 
 
12 Sensitive Lighting Design (Bespoke Trigger) 
No new external or internal lighting shall be installed without full details of proposed 
lighting design being first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority; details to include proposed lamp models and manufacturer's specifications, 
proposed lamp positions, numbers and heights with details also to be shown on a plan; 
details of predicted lux levels and light spill, which shall not exceed the maximum light spill 
levels as predicted in the approved Lighting Impact  assessment dated June 2020 by 
Hydrock Ltd (document ref 12055-HYD-XX-XX-RP-Y-5000); and details of all measures to 
limit use of lights when not required and to prevent upward light spill and light spill onto 
trees and boundary vegetation and adjacent land; and to avoid harm to bat activity and 
other wildlife. 
 
The lighting shall be installed maintained and operated thereafter in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 

Page 137



Reason: To avoid harm to bats and wildlife in accordance with policies NE3 and D8 of the 
Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan. 
 
13 Ecology Follow-up Report (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the development hereby approved shall commence until a report 
produced by a suitably experienced ecologist confirming and demonstrating, using 
photographs, completion and implementation of the Wildlife Protection and Enhancement 
Scheme in accordance with approved details, has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To demonstrate the completed implementation of the Wildlife Protection and 
Enhancement Scheme, to prevent ecological harm and to provide biodiversity gain in 
accordance with NPPF and policies NE3 NE5 and D5e of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan. 
 
14 Highway - Bound/Compacted Vehicle Access (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the development shall commence until the vehicular access has been 
constructed with a bound and compacted surfacing material (not loose stone or gravel). 
 
Reason: To prevent loose material spilling onto the highway in the interests of highways 
safety in accordance with Policy ST7 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking 
Plan 
 
15 Student Management Plan (Pre-occupation) 
 
The student accommodation hereby approved shall not be occupied until a student 
management plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The plan shall include the following: 
 
1. The arrangements for student drop off / pick up at the start and end of each University 
semester; 
2. Details of refuse storage, management and collection;  
3. Details of site security and access arrangements; 
4. Contact information for site management including information for third parties wishing 
to make complaints; 
5. Details of student parking restrictions and enforcement measures; 
6. Details of a scheme for monitoring the effectiveness of the parking restrictions and 
enforcement measures under point 5 including any necessary remedial measures; 
7. Details of the management of the first floor outdoor amenity areas (as shown on 
drawing number AP(0)13 L), including hours of use and arrangements to prevent access 
outside of these hours. 
 
The student accommodation use shall thereafter operate only in accordance with the 
approved student management plan. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highways safety and parking, residential amenity, to reduce 
potential noise and disturbance and to ensure the good management of the building in 
accordance with policies D6, ST7 and PCS2 of the Bath and North East Somerset 
Placemaking Plan.  
 

Page 138



16 Travel Plan (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the development shall commence until a Travel Plan has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
thereafter be operated in accordance with the approved Travel Plan. 
 
Reason: In the interest of encouraging sustainable travel methods in accordance with 
Policy ST1 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan. 
 
17 Parking (Compliance) 
The areas allocated for parking and turning on the Proposed Site Plan (drawing number 
AP (0) 10J) shall include the provision of two disabled parking spaces and shall be kept 
clear of obstruction and shall not be used other than for the parking of vehicles in 
connection with the development hereby permitted. 
 
Reason: To ensure sufficient parking and turning areas are retained at all times in the 
interests of amenity and highways safety in accordance with Policy ST7 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Placemaking Plan 
 
18 Closure of Access (Bespoke Trigger) 
The new accesses hereby approved shall not be brought into use until the existing 
vehicular access has been permanently closed and a footway crossing constructed, 
including the raising of dropped kerbs, in accordance with details which have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is served by a safe access in the interests of 
highway safety in accordance with Policy ST7 of the Bath and North East Somerset 
Placemaking Plan. 
 
19 Drainage Strategy (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence, except ground investigations and remediation, until a 
detailed drainage strategy has been submitted to and accepted in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The strategy should include plans, calculations (demonstrating 
performance at the critical 1:1, 1:30 & 1:100+40% events), confirmation that the discharge 
is acceptable to Wessex water (rate and location) together with an operation and 
maintenance document detailing how the system will be maintained for the life of the 
development. The development shall thereafter be completed and operated in accordance 
with the approved drainage strategy. 
 
Reason: To ensure that an appropriate method of surface water drainage is installed and 
in the interests of flood risk management in accordance with Policy CP5 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
20 Sound Insulation 
No development shall commence until a scheme of sound insulation measures (the Sound 
Insulation Plan) between the purpose-built student accommodation (PBSA) and the light 
industrial B1(c) use has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Sound Insulation Plan shall include the following:  
 
1. A desktop design assessment demonstrating, by calculation, the airborne sound 
insulation performance of the "as built" separating floor between the employment use, 

Page 139



hereby permitted, and habitable rooms of the PBSA at 1st floor level, can achieve a sound 
insulation performance of at least 75 dB DnT,w _$3 circa 95 dB Rw, using an appropriate 
calculation methodology, which shall include BS EN ISO 12354-1:2017 Building acoustics 
— Estimation of acoustic performance of buildings from the performance of elements — 
Part 1: Airborne sound insulation between rooms.  
 
2. A technical demonstration that the resultant noise levels within those habitable 
rooms within the PBSA as a result of the adjacent commercial tenant in isolation shall 
conform to a Noise Rating curve of NR15 and NR20 (Based on the associated Leq and 
LMax,Fast spectral characteristics).  
 
3.  The Sound Insulation Plan shall include details of ongoing monitoring and review 
processes to ensure that the agreed internal ambient noise level performance, as 
provided in (2) above is not breached by any future occupation of the employment use 
hereby permitted. In the event of any breach remediation measures shall be immediately 
taken with the guidance of a suitably qualified acoustician to ensure compliance with the 
performance criteria in (2) above.  
 
The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the approved Sound 
Insulation Plan. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the future occupiers of the development are protected from 
excessive noise and in the interest of protecting their amenity in accordance with policies 
D6 and PCS2 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan. 
 
21 Noise Verification (Bespoke Trigger) 
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, a summary review from 
a competent person of the "as built" drawings and specifications to confirm that the 
recommendations produced by Hydrock, within Supplementary Noise Planning Report 
(dated 16 December 2019) have been adhered to, inclusive of design measures in 
Section 10 (BS8233:2014) and Section 12 (BS4142:2014+A1:2019), shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the future occupiers of the development are protected from 
excessive noise and in the interest of protecting their amenity in accordance with policies 
D6 and PCS2 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan. 
 
22 Sustainable Construction (Pre-occupation) 
Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved the following tables (as set 
out in the Council's Sustainable Construction Supplementary Planning Document, 
Adopted November 2018) shall be completed in respect of the completed development 
and submitted for approval to the Local Planning Authority together with the further 
documentation listed below:  
 
1. Table 2.1 Energy Strategy (including detail of renewables) 
2. Table 2.2 Proposals with more than one building type (if relevant) 
3. Table 2.3 (Calculations); 
4. Building Regulations Part L post-completion documents for renewables; 
5. Building Regulations Part L post-completion documents for energy efficiency; 

Page 140



6. Microgeneration Certification Scheme (MCS) Certificate/s (if renewables have been 
used)  
 
Reason: To ensure that the approved development complies with Policy SCR1 of the 
Placemaking Plan (renewable energy) and Policy CP2 of the Core Strategy (sustainable 
construction). 
 
23 Cycle Parking (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the development shall commence until secure, covered cycle storage for 
76 bikes has been provided in accordance with details which have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The cycle storage shall be retained 
permanently thereafter. 
 
Reason: To secure adequate off-street parking provision for bicycles and to promote 
sustainable transport use in accordance with policy ST7 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Placemaking Plan. 
 
24 Opening Hours - Gym (Compliance) 
The gym use hereby approved shall not be carried on and no customer shall be served or 
remain on the premises outside the hours of 0700 - 2100 hours Monday to Fridays; 0800 - 
1600 hours Saturdays and 0900 - 1300 hours Sunday. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of occupiers of the student accommodation and 
nearby residential occupiers. 
 
25 Working Hours - Industrial Use (Compliance) 
No machinery shall be operated, no process shall be carried out and no deliveries shall 
arrive, be received or despatched from the site outside the hours 0700 - 2130 hours 
Monday to Fridays; 0900 - 1700 hours Saturdays and 1000 - 1400 hours Sunday. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of occupiers of the student accommodation and 
nearby residential occupiers. 
 
26 Industrial Use (Compliance) 
Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
2015 (as amended) or the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as 
amended) (or any order revoking and re-enacting those Orders with or without 
modification), the employment spaces shown on the Proposed Ground Floor (1727 
AP(0)11 S) and Proposed Mezzanine Floor (1727 AP(0)12 L) shall be used for light 
industrial use only. 
 
Reason: To maintain the strategic objectives of the industrial estate and to prevent a 
change of use to a use which is more incompatible with it in accordance with policies B1 
and B3 of the Core Strategy and policy ED2A of the Placemaking Plan. Also to protect the 
amenities of the occupiers of the student accommodation in accordance with policy D6 of 
the Placemaking Plan. 
 
27 Gym Use (Compliance) 
Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
2015 (as amended) or the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as 

Page 141



amended) (or any order revoking and re-enacting those Orders with or without 
modification), the gymnasium use hereby approved shall only be used as a gymnasium. 
 
Reason: To maintain the strategic objectives of the industrial estate and to prevent a 
change of use to a use which is more incompatible with it in accordance with policies B1 
and B3 of the Core Strategy and policy ED2A of the Placemaking Plan. Also to protect the 
amenities of the occupiers of the student accommodation in accordance with policy D6 of 
the Placemaking Plan. 
 
28 Wildlife Protection and Mitigation (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall take place until full details of a Wildlife Protection and Enhancement 
Scheme have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
These details shall include: 
 
(i) Method statement for pre-construction and construction phases to provide full details of 
all necessary protection and mitigation measures, including, where applicable, proposed 
pre-commencement checks and update surveys, for the avoidance of harm to bats, 
reptiles, nesting birds and other wildlife, and proposed reporting of findings to the LPA 
prior to commencement of works; 
 
(ii) Detailed proposals for implementation of the wildlife mitigation measures and 
recommendations of the approved ecological report, including wildlife-friendly planting / 
landscape details; provision of bat and bird boxes, with proposed specifications and 
proposed numbers and positions to be shown on plans as applicable; specifications for 
fencing to include provision of gaps in boundary fences to allow continued movement of 
wildlife; 
 
All works within the scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
and completed in accordance with specified timescales and prior to the occupation of the 
development. 
 
Reason: To prevent ecological harm and to provide biodiversity gain in accordance with 
policy NE3 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan. The above condition 
is required to be pre-commencement as it involves approval of measures to ensure 
protection of wildlife that would be otherwise harmed during site preparation and 
construction phases. 
 
29 Existing and Proposed Levels (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until details of the existing and proposed ground levels 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
details shall include: 
 
1. A topographical plan of the site including spot levels; 
2. The approved site plan including spot levels; 
2. Site sections showing existing and proposed ground/finished floor levels. 
 
The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to clarify the finished ground levels of the 
development to accord with policies D1, D2 and NE2 of the Bath and North East Somerset 

Page 142



Placemaking Plan. This is a pre-commencement condition because the ground levels 
have the potential to affect the overall impact of the development and could be altered by 
the initial site work. 
 
30 Solar Panels (Bespoke Trigger) 
Prior to the installation of the solar panels (PV array shown on drawing number AL(0)16 I) 
details of the proposed solar panels shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The solar panels shall be installed in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the occupation of the building. 
 
Reason: To ensure that full details of the solar panels are secured so that they do not 
have any adverse impact upon the character or appearance of the building or surrounding 
area. Furthermore, the condition is required to secure the implementation of the proposed 
solar panels in accordance with policy SCR1 of the Placemaking Plan. 
 
31 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 AGM-LOC-LS2-001 REV C  LANDSCAPE STRATEGY GENERAL ARRANGEMENT 
GROUND FLOOR 
AGM-LOC-LS2-002 REV C  LANDSCAPE STRATEGY GENERAL ARRANGEMENT 
ROOF GARDENS 
AGM-LOC-LS2-003 REV C  LANDSCAPE STRATEGY ROOF GDNS AND 
INDICATIVE PLANTING SPECIES 
AL(0)10 J  PROPOSED SITE PLAN 
AL(0)11 S  PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR USES PLAN  
AL(0)12 L PROPOSED MEZZANINE FLOOR USES PLAN  
AP(0)13 L  PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR USES PLAN  
AL(0)14 J  PROPOSED SECOND FLOOR USES PLAN 
AL(0)16 I  ROOF PLAN 
AL(0)20 J  PROPOSED ELEVATION SOUTH EAST 
AL(0)21 J  PROPOSED ELEVATION NORTH WEST 
AL(0)22 E  PROPOSED ELEVATION TERRACES 
AL(0)23 E  PROPOSED ELEVATION SOUTH INNER 
AL(0)30 E  PROPOSED SECTION AA 
AL(0)51 F  PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN  
AL(0)52 F  PROPOSED MEZZANINE FLOOR PLAN 
AL(0)53 E  PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN  
AL(0)54 E  PROPOSED SECOND FLOOR PLAN 
 
 2 Permit/Consent Decision Making Statement 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Page 143



 3 Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit an application to 
Discharge Conditions and pay the relevant fee via the Planning Portal at 
www.planningportal.co.uk or post to Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, 
Bath, BA1 1JG. 
 
 4 Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. Before commencing any 
development on site you should ensure you are familiar with the CIL process. If the 
development approved by this permission is CIL liable there are requirements to assume 
liability and notify the Council before development commences, failure to comply with the 
regulations can result in surcharges and additional payments. Full details about the CIL 
Charge including, amount and process for payment will be sent out in a CIL Liability 
Notice which you will receive shortly. Further details are available here: 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 
 5 Responding to Climate Change (Informative): 
 
The council is committed to responding to climate change. You are advised to consider 
sustainable construction when undertaking the approved development and consider using 
measures aimed at minimising carbon emissions and impacts on climate change. 
 
 6 This permission is accompanied by an agreement under Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 
 

Page 144



 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING: Planning Committee 

MEETING 
DATE: 

10 February 2021  

TITLE: Quarterly Performance Report - October to December 2020 

WARD: ALL 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

List of attachments to this report: 

Analysis of Chair referral cases 

 
 
1  THE ISSUE 

At the request of Members and as part of our on-going commitment to making service 
improvements, this report provides Members with performance information across a range of 
activities within the Development Management function.  

This report covers the period from 1 October – 31 December 2020.  

 
2 RECOMMENDATION 

Members are asked to note the contents of the performance report. 

 

 

 

3 THE REPORT 

Tables, charts and commentary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 145

Agenda Item 8



1 - Comparison of Applications Determined Within Target Times 
 

 
 
 

% of planning 
applications in time 

2019/20 2020/21 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

% Majors in time (11/11) 

100% 
(11/12) 

92% 
(8/8) 

100% 
(18/20) 

90% 
(3/5) 

60% 
(9/9) 

100% 
(9/11) 

82% 
 

% Minors in time (125/135) 

93% 
(142/150) 

95% 
(115/124) 

93% 
(108/120) 

90% 
(81/94) 

86% 
(80/90) 

89% 
(89/101) 

88% 
 

% Others in time (485/497) 

98% 
(421/449) 

94% 
(373/397) 

94% 
(333/347) 

96% 
(325/344) 

94% 
(336/365) 

92% 
(370/393) 

94% 
 

 
Highlights: 

• All three categories have been above target consistently every quarter for 5 years. 
 

 
Note:   
Major - 10+ dwellings/0.5 hectares and over, 1000+ sqm/1 hectare and over 
Minor - 1-10 dwellings/less than 0.5 hectares, Up to 999 sqm/under 1 hectare 
Other - changes of use, householder development, adverts, listed building consents, lawful 
development certificates, notifications, etc 
 
 
2 - Recent Planning Application Performance 
 

Application nos. 2019/20 2020/21 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Received 689 635 647 604 491 599 695  

Withdrawn 45 50 51 49 58 67 41  

Delegated no. and % 630 
(98%) 

587 
(96%) 

518 
(97%) 

474 
(97%) 

436 
(98%) 

436 
(94%) 

486 
(96%) 

 

Refused no. and % 31 (5%) 37 (6%) 30 (6%) 39 (8%) 39 (9%) 34 (7%) 50 (10%) 
 

Highlights: 

• An 8% fall in planning application numbers compared to the previous 12 months – the last 
published national trend figure was a 9% decrease (Year ending Sept 2020). Page 146



• 7% rise in planning application numbers compared to the same quarter last year. 

• The current delegation rate is marginally above the last published England average of 95% 
(Year ending Sept 2020). 

• Percentage of refusals on planning applications remains low compared to the last published 
England average of 13% (Year ending Sept 2020) and we put this down to the high level of 
use and overall success of our Pre-application advice service which also brings income into 
the service. 
 

 
3 – Dwelling Numbers 
 

Dwelling numbers 2019/20 2020/21 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Major residential (10 or 
more dwellings) 
decisions  

3 4 1 7 3 8 0  

Major residential 
decisions granted 

3 4 1 6 1 5 0  

Number of dwellings 
applied for on Major 
schemes 

158 140 201 50 0 300 100  

Number of dwelling 
units permitted on 
schemes (net) 

264 420 93 265 176 64 280  

 
Highlights: 

• There were no major residential planning decisions last quarter 
 
4 - Planning Appeals 
 

 Jan – Mar 
2020 

Apr – Jun 
2020 

Jul – Sep 
2020 

Oct – Dec 
2020 

Appeals lodged 14 17 11 19 

Appeals decided 12 13 13 17 

Appeals allowed 3 (25%) 4 (30%) 4 (30%) 6 (35%) 

Appeals dismissed 9 (75%) 9 (70%) 9 (70%) 11 (65%) 

 
Highlights: 

• Over the last 12 months performance on Appeals Allowed (30%) is around the national 
average of approx. 30% 

• Planning Appeal costs awarded against council in last quarter: None 

• Planning Appeal costs awarded against the council in this financial year: £3807.00 
 
5 - Enforcement Investigations  
 

 Jan – Mar 
2020 

Apr – Jun 
2020 

Jul – Sep 
2020 

Oct – Dec 
2020 

Investigations launched 138 140 150 105 

Investigations in hand 220 257 258 252 

Investigations closed 106 106 163 122 

- No breach of planning 28 39 48 41 

- Not Expedient 17 7 34 16 

- Compliance negotiated 19 20 28 20 
Page 147



- Retrospective PP 
Granted 

23 18 27 20 

Enforcement Notices issued 3 1 1 4 

Planning Contravention Notices 
served  

11 2 2 2 

Breach of Condition Notices 
served 

0 0 2 0 

Stop Notices 0 0 0 0 

Temporary Stop Notices 0 0 0 0 

Injunctions 0 0 0 0 

Section 16 Notices 2 4 3 0 

Section 215 Notices 1 1 0 0 

 
The above breakdown of cases closed lists those cases where: on investigation it was found there 
was no breach of planning control; it was deemed not expedient to take the matter further (usually 
related to trivial or technical breaches); voluntary compliance was negotiated (i.e. resulting in a 
cessation of use of removal of structure); or on application, retrospective permission was granted 
to regularise the breach. Other cases not listed above were closed due to insufficient information, 
the breach being identified as permitted development, the breach being identified as lawful 
through passage of time or where the complaint was withdrawn. 
 
6 – Other Work (applications handled but not included in national returns) 
 
The service also processes other statutory applications (discharging conditions, prior approvals, 
prior notifications, non-material amendments etc) and discretionary services like pre-application 
advice.  The table below shows the number of these applications received  
   

 
 

Jan – Mar 2020 Apr – Jun 2020 Jul - Sep 2020 Oct – Dec 2020 

 
Other types of work  

 
336 

 
263 

 
336 347 

 
 
7 – Works to Trees 
 
 Jan – Mar 

2020 
Apr – Jun 

2020 
Jul – Sep 

2020 
Oct – Dec 

2020 

Number of applications for works to trees 
subject to a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 26 16 24 42 

Percentage of applications for works to trees 
subject to a TPO determined within 8 weeks 96% 100% 100% 100% 

Number of notifications for works to trees 
within a Conservation Area (CA) 

185 117 217 294 

Percentage of notifications for works to trees 
within a Conservation Area (CA) determined 
within 6 weeks 

99% 100% 100% 99% 

 
Highlights: 

• Performance on works to trees remains excellent. 
 

 
 
 
 Page 148



8 – Corporate Customer Feedback 
 
The latest quarterly report is published here: 
 
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/view-complaint-reports 

 

9 - Ombudsman Complaints 

When a customer remains dissatisfied with the outcome of the Corporate Complaints investigation 
they can take their complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman for an independent view. 

Ombudsman 
Complaints 

Jan – Mar 
20 

Apr – Jun 
20 

Jul – Sep 
20 

Oct – Dec 
20 

 

Complaints upheld 
 

0 0 0 0 

Complaints Not upheld 0 0 0 0 

 
Highlights: 

There have been no upheld complaints over the last year. There was one case closed in 
the last quarter as being escalated prematurely by complainants and referred back to the 
council for consideration. 

 

10 – Latest News – Covid-19   

The Government was very clear from the outset that they expected all Planning authorities to 
continue to deliver services in order to support the economy and, following some minor changes 
as a result of Covid-19 restrictions, we are now operating a near normal service.  The 
Government is also updating legislation to support recovery such as allowing restaurants to 
operate as takeaways, extending permission deadlines, changing construction operating hours 
and pavement licensing. 

For further details see our website https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/planning and the government 
website https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/draft-planning-guidance-to-support-the-business-
and-planning-bill 

 

11 – Section 106 Agreements and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  

Members will be aware of the Planning Obligations SPD first published in 2009. Planning Services 
have spent the last few years compiling a database of Section 106 Agreements. This is still in 
progress, but does enable the S106/CIL Monitoring Officer to actively monitor the delivery of 
agreed obligations.  S106 and CIL financial overview sums below will be refreshed for every 
quarterly report.  CIL annual reports, Infrastructure Funding Statement and Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan 2020 are also published on our website: https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-
library/annual-cil-spending-reports 

(Note: figures are for guidance only and could be subject to change due to further updates with regards to 
monitoring S106 funds) 

 

Page 149

https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/view-complaint-reports
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/planning
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/draft-planning-guidance-to-support-the-business-and-planning-bill
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/draft-planning-guidance-to-support-the-business-and-planning-bill
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-library/annual-cil-spending-reports
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-library/annual-cil-spending-reports


S106 Funds received (2020/21) 
 

£539,401.48 

CIL sums overview - Potential (April 2015 to date) 
 

£10,972,104.46 

CIL sums overview - Collected (April 2015 to date) 
 

£16,864,633.92 

 
 
 
12 – Chair Referrals 

Table 12 below shows the numbers of planning applications where Chair decision has been 
sought to either decide the application under delegated authority or refer to Planning Committee.  
A further analysis of Chair referral cases is attached as an Appendix item to this report. 

 Jan – Mar 
2020 

Apr – Jun 
2020 

Jul – Sep 
2020 

Oct – Dec 
2020 

Chair referral delegated 16 21 17 28 

Chair referral to Planning 
Committee 

12 5 15 12 

 

 

13 – 5 Year Housing Land Supply 
 

 

The monitoring reports are also published on our website: https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-
documents-library/five-year-housing-land-supply-and-housing-and-economic-land 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 150

https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-library/five-year-housing-land-supply-and-housing-and-economic-land
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-library/five-year-housing-land-supply-and-housing-and-economic-land


Contact person  
John Theobald, Project/Technical and Management Support Officer, 
Planning 01225 477519 
 

Background 
papers 

CLG General Development Management statistical returns PS1 and 
PS2 + 
Planning applications statistics on the DCLG website: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-
planning-application-statistics 
 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

 

Page 151

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-planning-application-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-planning-application-statistics


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 152



Application no ADDRESS PROPOSAL Decision Level Decision Date Status Notes

20/03595/FUL
37 Woodland Grove Claverton Down Bath Bath And 
North East Somerset BA2 7AT Erection of a single storey side lean to extension. COMMDC 19-Nov-20 PERMIT

Applicant is a Council employee who has 
direct links with the Planning Service

20/02480/FUL
Knoll Farm White Ox Mead Lane Peasedown St. 
John Bath Bath And North East Somerset BA2 8PL 

Erection of 3no agricultural buildings including Cattle Barn, 
Workshop/Feed Store, Farmyard Manure/Straw and Hay Shed 
along with associated yard areas and access track from Knoll 
Farmhouse, and other associated works. COMMDC 26-Nov-20 PERMIT

Applicant is a Councillor for Bath and 
North East Somerset Council.

19/05471/ERES
Western Riverside Development Area Midland 
Road Westmoreland Bath  

Approval of reserved matters pursuant to outline planning 
permission 06/01733/EOUT for the erection of 176 dwellings; retail 
/ community space (Use Class A1/D1); access; parking; landscaping 
and associated infrastructure works following demolition of exis COMMDC 17-Dec-20 PERMIT

Applicant is Aequus Construction Limited 
and in accordance with the scheme of 
delegation the application must be 
determined by committee.

20/02008/FUL
Unregistered Unit 1-4 Old Sta on Yard Avon Mill 
Lane Keynsham Bath And North East Somerset  

Erection of 2no. acoustic barriers; permission to allow the filling of 
concrete mixing vehicles between 6:30am and 5:30pm (Monday-
Friday) 8:00am-1:00pm Saturday and 7:30am-5:30pm (Bank 
Holidays); permission to allow other specified operations at the site COMMDC 23-Nov-20 PERMIT

Application is being considered at 
Planning Committee following a request 
from the Director - Development and 
Public Protection.

20/02333/FUL
231 Wellsway Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset BA2 4RZ 

Hip-to-gable loft conversion with dormer windows to front and 
back, replace windows and a new roof to the front bay windows.

COMMDC 02-Oct-20 RF Application was called in by local ward 
councillor, Cllr Duguid.

20/02784/FUL
Lake View Ham Lane Bishop Su on Bristol Bath And 
North East Somerset BS39 5TY 

Erection of a replacement porch CHAIR 02-Oct-20 RF
Chair referral delegated decision

20/02861/FUL
17 Handel Road Keynsham Bristol Bath And North 
East Somerset BS31 1BT 

Erection of single storey rear extension and internal alterations. CHAIR 05-Oct-20 PERMIT
Chair referral delegated decision

20/02694/VAR
22 Uplands Road Sal ord Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset BS31 3JJ 

Variation of condition 2 (Plans List) application 19/03008/VAR. 
(Variation of condition 2 attached to application 18/01449/FUL 
(Erection of 1no. 2bed single storey dwelling (resubmission))

CHAIR 06-Oct-20 PERMIT

Chair referral delegated decision

20/02327/FUL
Twinneys Charlcombe Lane Charlcombe Bath Bath 
And North East Somerset BA1 8DL 

Erection of a single storey extension to the west side of the 
property's lower ground floor, providing additional residential 
amenity space.

CHAIR 06-Oct-20 PERMIT
Chair referral delegated decision

19/05433/FUL
Redhouse Farm White Cross Hallatrow Bristol Bath 
And North East Somerset BS39 6EU

Change of use of land for the parking/resting of vehicles related to 
Taylor Plant Limited

CHAIR 08-Oct-20 PERMIT
Chair referral delegated decision

20/01859/FUL
22 Ridge Crescent West Harptree Bristol Bath And 
North East Somerset BS40 6EE 

Erection of 1no. detached 3 bed dwelling to the land adjacent no. 
22 Ridge Crescent.

CHAIR 08-Oct-20 PERMIT
Chair referral delegated decision

20/02846/VAR
42 Gainsborough Road Keynsham Bristol Bath And 
North East Somerset BS31 1LS 

Variation of conditions 2 (approved plans), 3 (materials) and 5 
(cycle storage) of application 18/01669/FUL (Erection of 1no self-
contained house adjacent to existing property)

CHAIR 08-Oct-20 PERMIT
Chair referral delegated decision

20/02081/OUT
Five Stones High Street High Li leton Bristol Bath And 
North East Somerset BS39 6HW 

Erection of two detached bungalows with integral garage following 
demolition of Five Stones.

CHAIR 08-Oct-20 PERMIT
Chair referral delegated decision

20/01962/FUL
Paulton House Old Mills Paulton Bristol Bath And 
North East Somerset BS39 7SX 

Change of Use of part first floor from B1 Office Use to warehouse 
and enlargement of staff car park.

CHAIR 15-Oct-20 PERMIT
Chair referral delegated decision

20/02506/VAR
Former Police Sta on Bath Hill Keynsham Bath And 
North East Somerset  

Variation of condition 24 (Plans List) of application 19/05541/FUL 
(Demolition of buildings on site and erection of 9 dwellings, 
together with associated works.) CHAIR 21-Oct-20 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

20/02924/FUL
1 Wallenge Drive Paulton Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset BS39 7PX 

Erection of attached 1no. 3 bed dwelling  with associated 
alterations and formation of new vehicular access to 1 Wallenge 
Drive. CHAIR 21-Oct-20 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

20/02909/FUL
Corner Co age Frog Lane Ubley Bristol Bath And 
North East Somerset BS40 6PW 

Provision of a first floor terrace and garden access, a flat roof 
replacing a first floor lean-to roof and external wall insulation to the 
east and south walls of the property. CHAIR 23-Oct-20 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

20/02355/FUL

Crewcro  Barn Hinton Hill Hinton 
Charterhouse Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset BA2 8QT 

Conversion and reinstatement of Crewcroft Barn to provide a (straw 
bale) bank barn as a Passivhaus dwelling, associated access to the 
highway and landscaping works CHAIR 02-Nov-20 RF Chair referral delegated decision

P
age 153



20/03179/FUL
24 Stuart Place Twerton Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset BA2 3RQ 

Erection of a two storey and single storey rear extension following 
demolition of existing two storey rear extension. CHAIR 02-Nov-20 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

20/03320/FUL
3 Princes Street Clandown Radstock Bath And North 
East Somerset BA3 3DJ Erection of two storey rear extension. CHAIR 03-Nov-20 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

20/03279/FUL
Highfields White Cross Hallatrow Bristol Bath And 
North East Somerset BS39 6ER Side and rear extension and a garden room CHAIR 03-Nov-20 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

20/03112/FUL

6 Park View Lower Bristol 
Road Westmoreland Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset BA2 3EJ 

Change of use from dwelling (Use Class C3) to House in Multiple 
Occupation (HMO) (Use Class C4) CHAIR 11-Nov-20 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

20/03363/FUL
7 Highmead Gardens Bishop Su on Bristol Bath And 
North East Somerset BS39 5XB 

Erection of two storey side extension, single storey porch, and 
detached bike store/work room. CHAIR 30-Nov-20 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

20/03670/FUL

The Old Parish Hall Bath 
Road Farmborough Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset BA2 0BD Conversion of garage to form ancillary annex. CHAIR 30-Nov-20 RF Chair referral delegated decision

20/03544/FUL
1 The Island Midsomer Norton Radstock Bath And 
North East Somerset BA3 2HQ 

Conversion of roof space to form studio flat with separate entrance 
via external staircase. (Resubmission) CHAIR 01-Dec-20 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

20/03545/FUL
19 Shakespeare Avenue Bear Flat Bath Bath And 
North East Somerset BA2 4RF Erection of single storey rear / side extension. CHAIR 01-Dec-20 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

20/03135/FUL

Ij Mcgill Transport Ltd Unity Road (northern 
Part) Keynsham Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset BS31 1FU 

Change of use of part of existing warehouse B8 use to Sui Generis 
Builders Merchant. Retention of building at front of property and 
installation of new door to retained building. Reduction in size of 
door to Unit 1 previously approved. Existing parking to CHAIR 02-Dec-20 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

20/03591/FUL
64 Ashgrove Peasedown St. John Bath Bath And 
North East Somerset BA2 8EF Extension to existing drop kerb. CHAIR 11-Dec-20 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

20/03767/FUL
Lake View Lansdown Road Charlcombe Bath Bath And 
North East Somerset BA1 9DT Erection of single storey garage. CHAIR 11-Dec-20 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

20/03121/FUL

Stone Barn Co age Moorledge Lane Chew 
Magna Bristol Bath And North East Somerset BS40 
8TL Erection of a rural worker's dwelling. CHAIR 14-Dec-20 RF Chair referral delegated decision

20/03611/FUL
1 Wellsway Keynsham Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset BS31 1HS 

Alterations to existing single storey extension to raise roof, adding a 
glazed roof lantern. First floor extension over kitchen and side and 
rear dormers. CHAIR 14-Dec-20 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

20/03773/FUL
9 St Stephen's Close Lansdown Bath Bath And North 
East Somerset BA1 5PP 

Erection of 2 storey side extension, and single storey rear 
extension, and creation of new vehicular access and parking, to 
follow demolition of existing garage and conservatory. CHAIR 15-Dec-20 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

20/03562/FUL
Victoria Hotel Millmead Road Twerton Bath Bath And 
North East Somerset BA2 3JW 

Change of Use of the ground floor only from a drinking 
establishment (Use Class Sui Generis) to a mixed use community 
facility, Use Class E(d), a dance studio in the evenings and a 
children's nursery, Use Class E9(f), during the day. CHAIR 17-Dec-20 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

20/02738/FUL
91 Fairfield Park Road Fairfield Park Bath Bath And 
North East Somerset BA1 6JR Proposed off street parking COMMDC 23-Oct-20 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee.  I have looked 
at this application and the assessment(s) 
of officers, and the reversal of the 
decisions. Given that the initial 
recommendation was given during the 
difficulties of lockdown, I think it is only 
fair to the applicant that they are given 
the opportunity to test the officer's 
current recommendation before the 
committee.

P
age 154



20/01765/FUL
Wansdyke Business Centre Oldfield Lane Oldfield 
Park Bath Bath And North East Somerset  

Erection of a 68-bed care home (Use Class C2) following demolition 
of the existing buildings and structures, with associated access, 
parking and landscaping. COMMDC 17-Dec-20 RF

Chair referral to committee.  I have looked 
at this application and the complexities it 
raises. The committee may wish to take a 
view on the nature of the employment on 
site, as this application brings more jobs 
than currently, and to further consider the 
economic argument made against this 
application.

20/02854/FUL
43 Elliston Drive Southdown Bath Bath And North 
East Somerset BA2 1LU 

Change of use from a 4 bedroom dwelling (Use Class C3) to a 6 
bedroom House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) (Use Class C4). COMMDC 22-Oct-20 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee.  I have looked 
at this application and the nature of the 
application site. The Committee may wish 
to further consider whether this 
application is compatible with the 
character and amenity of Elliston Drive, 
and the impact on the amenity of 
adjoining residents through loss of 
privacy, visual and noise intrusion. The 
issue of parking and traffic would also 
benefit from discussion in the public 
domain.

20/01794/FUL
Jubilee Centre Lower Bristol Road Twerton Bath Bath 
And North East Somerset BA2 9ES 

Mixed-use redevelopment of site for storage and distribution (Class 
B8) and erection of 121 units of purpose-built student 
accommodation (sui generis) following demolition of existing 
building and associated access and landscaping works. COMMDC 17-Dec-20 RF

Chair referral to committee.  I have looked 
at this application and the numerous 
issues it raises which officers have set out 
in this report. However, it also offers 
some benefits, and the committee may 
with to explore those further in the public 
domain. 

20/01061/FUL
21 Henrie a Gardens Bathwick Bath Bath And North 
East Somerset BA2 6NA

Erection of 4no. dwellings and associated works following 
demolition of existing dwelling.

COMMDC 02-Oct-20 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee.  I have looked 
at this application, and the issues it raises 
in a number of areas. Although the 
officers have answered the points raised I 
think, given its sensitive location, the 
decision should be made in the public 
domain.

20/01408/VAR
Building Between The House And Old Orchard The 
Street Ubley Bristol  

Variation of condition 2 of application 17/00295/FUL (Erection of 
detached dwellinghouse & detached garage). COMMDC 19-Nov-20 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee. I have 
considered this application, and am 
content that it is a variation of the original 
permission. However, the variation is 
large enough to warrant further 
consideration of the issues raised by 
Committee.

20/02593/FUL
Cromwell Farm Combe Hay Lane Combe 
Hay Bath Bath And North East Somerset BA2 8RF 

Extension of time for the existing temporary rural workers dwelling 
and dairy building at Cromwell Farm, Combe Hay Lane, Combe Hay, 
Bath for an additional 3 years. COMMDC 26-Nov-20 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee. I have looked 
at this application and the background to 
this submission. As we are not in a 
position to assess whether there is a 
viable business here, the committee may 
wish to explore the issues more fully. 
Additionally, this will be a unique business 
in the UK, and it may be helpful to discuss 
the issues in the public domain.

20/02727/FUL
24 Broadway Widcombe Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset BA2 4JA 

Change of use from a three bed dwelling house (Use Class C3) to a 
five bed House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) (Use Class C4). COMMDC 23-Oct-20 RF

Chair referral to committee. I have looked 
at this application and the concerns 
raised. This application is close to 
contravening a number of policies, and 
the Committee may wish to consider 
these further.

P
age 155



19/05534/FUL
Telecommunica on Mast 54146 Woolley 
Lane Charlcombe Bath  

Erection of 20 metre-high telecommunications monopole 
accommodating 6no antenna apertures, 4no transmission dishes 
and 8no ground-based equipment cabinets COMMDC 17-Dec-20 RF

Chair referral to committee. I have looked 
at this application, and the 'on balance' 
nature of the recommendation for 
approval. I note the strong support from 
national government, and the minimising 
of harm by reusing an existing site. 
However, given the public interest in this 
technology, and the infrastructure it 
requires, this discussion should be held in 
the public domain.

20/03006/FUL
81 Hillcrest Drive Southdown Bath Bath And North 
East Somerset BA2 1HE Creation of Loft conversion and installation of rear dormer COMMDC 17-Dec-20 RF

Chair referral to committee. I have looked 
at this application, which seems to hinge 
upon the size. The principle of a dormer is 
met, there's no harm to local amenity, 
and the applicant has reduced the size. I 
think the committee can look at this 
further.

20/01636/FUL

Friary Dene Warminster Road Hinton 
Charterhouse Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset BA2 7TE Alterations to roof and installation of dormer windows COMMDC 20-Nov-20 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee. I remain 
concerned that what began as a two 
bedroom gate house for Friary Wood has 
been extended over the years and is now 
a 7 bedroom, large family home, in the 
Green Belt. The committee may wish to 
consider whether this further application 
represents an over development of the 
site. I note the considerable discrepancy 
between the PC and the officers in terms 
of the baseline for calculating volumes, 
and again the committee may wish to 
consider where that baseline should be, 
based on the evidence available. 
Additionally, it is difficult to access the 
data that would allow for the calculation 
of volumes. Finally, there is the 
consideration as to whether or not 
Highways England should be consulted, as 
they are responsible for the A36.

20/02932/FUL
The Coach House College Road Lansdown Bath Bath 
And North East Somerset BA1 5RS Erection of rear and side extension COMMDC 19-Nov-20 RF

Chair referral to committee. Whilst I think 
the applicant has responded to the 
reasons for refusal previously at 
committee, I think the committee may 
wish to consider whether they have gone 
far enough.

20/02787/VAR
Bath Quays North Development Site Avon Street City 
Centre Bath Bath And North East Somerset  

Variation of condition 42 (Approved Drawings, Development 
Specification and Design Codes) of application 18/00058/EREG03 
(Outline planning application for comprehensive mixed use 
redevelopment, comprising B1, C1, C3, A1, A3, A4, D1 and D2 uses, 
with total COMMDC 26-Nov-20 PERMIT

The application site is owned by Bath and 
North East Somerset Council and the 
original application was submitted by the 
Council's Project Delivery team.

20/01893/LBA
Cleveland Bridge Cleveland Bridge Bathwick Bath Bath 
And North East Somerset BA1 5DH 

The refurbishment, repair and strengthening of a Grade II* listed 
structure. COMMDC 27-Oct-20 CON

The Director of Development and Public 
Protection has called the application to 
Committee.

P
age 156



 

 

 
 
APPEALS LODGED 
 
App. Ref:  20/01277/OUT 
Location:  Treetops Nursing Home St Clement's Road Keynsham Bristol Bath 
And North East Somerset 
Proposal:  Redevelopment of the existing care home to provide a 57no. 
bedspace replacement care home, associated parking and hard/soft landscape works 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 21 August 2020 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 10 December 2020 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  20/02174/FUL 
Location:  Jolly Barn Chew Road Chew Magna Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Proposal:  Erection of a detached garage building. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 5 August 2020 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 11 December 2020 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  20/00491/OUT 
Location:  Field On Corner With Ferndale Road Deadmill Lane Lower 
Swainswick Bath  

Bath & North East Somerset Council 

MEETING: Planning Committee  

AGENDA 
ITEM 
NUMBER 

MEETING 
DATE: 

10th February 2021 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

Simon de Beer – Head of Planning 

 

TITLE: NEW PLANNING APPEALS, DECISIONS RECEIVED AND DATES OF 
FORTHCOMING HEARINGS/INQUIRIES    

WARD: ALL 

BACKGROUND PAPERS: None 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 

Page 157

Agenda Item 9



 

 

Proposal:  Erection of 18 dwellings. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 9 April 2020 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 14 December 2020 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  19/03984/OUT 
Location:  Parcel 9176 Langley's Lane Paulton Bristol  
Proposal:  Outline planning application for small scale industrial units with 
associated works and access from existing Old Mills development. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 6 February 2020 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 15 December 2020 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  20/02333/FUL 
Location:  231 Wellsway Bath Bath And North East Somerset BA2 4RZ  
Proposal:  Hip-to-gable loft conversion with dormer windows to front and back, 
replace windows and a new roof to the front bay windows. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 2 October 2020 
Decision Level: Planning Committee 
Appeal Lodged: 16 December 2020 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  19/05507/FUL 
Location:  Old House Northend Batheaston Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Proposal:  Erection of a parking area gate mechanism, boundary pier and 
replacement walling. (Retrospective) 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 7 May 2020 
Decision Level: Planning Committee 
Appeal Lodged: 29 December 2020 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  19/05508/LBA 
Location:  Old House Northend Batheaston Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Proposal:  External alterations for the erection of a parking area gate 

Page 158



 

 

mechanism, boundary pier and replacement walling. (Regularisation) 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 7 May 2020 
Decision Level: Planning Committee 
Appeal Lodged: 29 December 2020 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  20/02842/ADCOU 
Location:  Chew Hill Barn Chew Hill Chew Magna Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Proposal:  Prior approval request for conversion of agricultural building to 
dwelling (Use Class C3). 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 13 October 2020 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 7 January 2021 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  20/03159/FUL 
Location:  17 Grosvenor Bridge Road Lambridge Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset BA1 6BB 
Proposal:  Erection of a first floor extension over a study at ground floor level. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 27 October 2020 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 22 January 2021 

 
 
 
Case Ref:   20/00046/UNDEV 
Location:   5 Beckhampton Road, Oldfield Park, Bath, BA2 3LL 
Breach:  Appeal against dormer not to plans 
Notice Issued Date:  
Appeal Lodged: 02.10.2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 159



 

 

APPEALS DECIDED 
 
App. Ref:  20/00478/ADCOU 
Location:  Barn And Yard Wellow Farm Norton Lane Wellow Bath 
Proposal:  Prior approval request for change of use from Agricultural Building 
to 1 no. Dwelling (C3) and for associated operational development. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 27 March 2020 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 27 May 2020 
Appeal Decision: Appeal Dismissed 
Appeal Decided Date: 8 December 2020 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  19/00772/FUL 
Location:  Land At Entrance To Manor Farm Bath Hill Wellow Bath  
Proposal:  Erection of two storey detached dwelling 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 16 January 2020 
Decision Level: Planning Committee 
Appeal Lodged: 25 June 2020 
Appeal Decision: Appeal Dismissed 
Appeal Decided Date: 15 December 2020 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  20/01656/FUL 
Location:  Innox Lodge High Street Hinton Charterhouse Bath Bath And North 
East Somerset 
Proposal:  Erection of an oak framed car port 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 15 July 2020 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 2 November 2020 
Appeal Decision: Appeal Dismissed 
Appeal Decided Date: 21 December 2020 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  18/05047/FUL 
Location:  Plumb Center Locksbrook Road Newbridge Bath Bath And North 
East Somerset 
Proposal:  The demolition of the former Plumb Centre and Genesis Lifestyle 
Centre and the erection of a 3 storey (plus mezzanine) mixed use building for 1354sqm 
of B1c Light Industrial, 364sqm of D2 Assembly and Leisure, 52 student studios and 28 

Page 160



 

 

student ensuite rooms in cluster flats. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 14 August 2019 
Decision Level: Chair Referral - Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 17 April 2020 
Appeal Decision: Appeal Allowed 
Appeal Decided Date: 30 December 2020 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  19/02767/FUL 
Location:  Lawrence House  Lower Bristol Road Twerton Bath BA2 9ET 
Proposal:  Erection of a four storey apartment building to create 8 x one 
bedroom flats with external works. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 6 March 2020 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 30 September 2020 
Appeal Decision: Appeal Dismissed 
Appeal Decided Date: 6 January 2021 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  20/01097/LBA 
Location:  Basement   28 Grosvenor Place Lambridge Bath Bath And North 
East Somerset 
Proposal:  Internal and external alterations to include installation of damp 
proofing membrane to vaults, and repairs to front courtyard (regularisation). 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 5 June 2020 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 11 November 2020 
Appeal Decision: Appeal Dismissed 
Appeal Decided Date: 19 January 2021 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  20/02174/FUL 
Location:  Jolly Barn Chew Road Chew Magna Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Proposal:  Erection of a detached garage building. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 5 August 2020 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 11 December 2020 
Appeal Decision: Appeal Dismissed 

Page 161



 

 

Appeal Decided Date: 20 January 2021 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  20/02767/AGRN 
Location:  Land To East Of Providence Bungalow Frome Road Radstock   
Proposal:  Erection of steel framed barn. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 20 August 2020 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 25 November 2020 
Appeal Decision: Appeal Dismissed 
Appeal Decided Date: 20 January 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 162


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Update Report - Appendix 1
	Update Report - Homebase - Appendix 2
	List of Speakers - 16 December 2020 - Appendix 3
	Decision List - 16 December 2020 - Appendix 4

	6 Main Plans List - Applications for Planning Permission Etc for Determination by the Committee
	8 Quarterly Performance Report - October to December 2020
	Analysis of Chair Referral Cases - Appendix 1

	9 New Planning Appeals Lodged, Decisions Received and Dates of Forthcoming Hearings/Inquiries

